Public Document Pack

AGENDA
MAYOR AND CABINET
Date:

WEDNESDAY, 10 FEBRUARY 2021 at 6.00 pm

Microsoft Office Teams
Civic Suite
Lewisham Town Hall
London SE6 4RU
Enquiries to:
Telephone:
Email:

Kevin Flaherty 0208 3149327
0208 314 9327 (direct line)
kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk

MEMBERS
Damien Egan
Councillor Chris Best
Councillor Chris Barnham
Councillor Paul Bell
Councillor Kevin Bonavia
Councillor Andre Bourne
Councillor Brenda Dacres
Councillor Sophie McGeevor
Councillor Amanda De Ryk
Councillor Jonathan Slater
Councillor Joani Reid

Mayor
Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for
Health and Adult Social Care
Children's Services and School
Performance
Housing and Planning
Democracy, Refugees & Accountability
Culture, Jobs and Skills (jobshare)
Safer Communities
Environment & Transport
Finance and Resources
Community Sector
Culture, Jobs & Skills (jobshare)

Members are summoned to attend this meeting
Kim Wright
Chief Executive
Lewisham Town Hall
Catford
London SE6 4RU
Date: Thursday, 04 February 2021

The public are welcome to attend our committee meetings, however occasionally committees may have to consider some
business in private. Copies of reports can be made available in additional formats on request.

L
L
L
L
L
L
L
L
L
L
L

ORDER OF BUSINESS – PART 1 AGENDA
Item
No

Page
No.s

1.

Declaration of Interests

1-4

2.

Matters Raised by Scrutiny and other Constitutional Bodies

5 - 17

3.

2021-2022 Budget Update

18 - 57

4.

Modern Slavery Statement 2021

58 - 78

5.

Lewisham Homes for Next Steps Accommodation Programme

79 - 87

6.

Lewisham Determined Admissions Arrangements

88 - 133

7.

Highways and Traffic Works Partnering Contract

134 - 143

The public are welcome to attend our Committee meetings, however, occasionally,
committees may have to consider some business in private. Copies of reports can be
made available in additional formats on request.

RECORDING AND USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA

You are welcome to record any part of any Council meeting that is open to the public.
The Council cannot guarantee that anyone present at a meeting will not be filmed or
recorded by anyone who may then use your image or sound recording.
If you are intending to audio record or film this meeting, you must:


tell the clerk to the meeting before the meeting starts;

 only focus cameras/recordings on councillors, Council officers, and those members
of the public who are participating in the conduct of the meeting and avoid other
areas of the room, particularly where non-participating members of the public may
be sitting; and
 ensure that you never leave your recording equipment unattended in the meeting
room.
If recording causes a disturbance or undermines the proper conduct of the meeting, then
the Chair of the meeting may decide to stop the recording. In such circumstances, the
decision of the Chair shall be final.

Agenda Item 1
MAYOR & CABINET
Report Title

Declarations of Interests

Key Decision

No

Ward

n/a

Contributors

Chief Executive

Class

Part 1

Item No. 1

Date: 10 February 2021

Declaration of interests
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on
the agenda.
1

Personal interests
There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member
Code of Conduct :(1) Disclosable pecuniary interests
(2) Other registerable interests
(3) Non-registerable interests

2

Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:-

(a)

Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or
gain

(b)

Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than
by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the
register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a
member or towards your election expenses (including payment or financial
benefit from a Trade Union).

(c)

Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they
are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the
securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods,
services or works.

(d)

Beneficial interests in land in the borough.
d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\5\4\7\ai00026745\$ajpydefs.doc

Page 1

(e)

Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more.

(f)

Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the
Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of
which they have a beneficial interest.

(g)

Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:(a)

that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land
in the borough; and

(b)

either
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of
the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant
person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued
share capital of that class.

*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.
(3)

Other registerable interests
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register
the following interests:-

(4)

(a)

Membership or position of control or management in a body to which
you were appointed or nominated by the Council

(b)

Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to
charitable purposes , or whose principal purposes include the influence
of public opinion or policy, including any political party

(c)

Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an
estimated value of at least £25

Non registerable interests
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be
likely to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close
associate more than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area
generally, but which is not required to be registered in the Register of
Members’ Interests (for example a matter concerning the closure of a school
at which a Member’s child attends).

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\5\4\7\ai00026745\$ajpydefs.doc

Page 2

(5)

(6)

Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation
(a)

Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are
present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any
event before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded
in the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary
interest the member must take not part in consideration of the matter
and withdraw from the room before it is considered. They must not
seek improperly to influence the decision in any way. Failure to
declare such an interest which has not already been entered in the
Register of Members’ Interests, or participation where such an
interest exists, is liable to prosecution and on conviction carries a
fine of up to £5000

(b)

Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event
before the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room,
participate in consideration of the matter and vote on it unless
paragraph (c) below applies.

(c)

Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a
disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the
member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to
influence the outcome improperly.

(d)

If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a
member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would
affect those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to
the declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a
registerable interest.

(e)

Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s
personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek
the advice of the Monitoring Officer.

Sensitive information
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are
interests the disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk
of violence or intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such
interest need not be registered. Members with such an interest are referred to
the Code and advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance.

(7)

Exempt categories

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\5\4\7\ai00026745\$ajpydefs.doc

Page 3

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing
so. These include:(a)

(b)

(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the
matter relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears
exception)
School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a
parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor
unless the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or
of which you are a governor;
Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt
Allowances, payment or indemnity for members
Ceremonial honours for members
Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception)

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\5\4\7\ai00026745\$ajpydefs.doc

Page 4

Agenda Item 2
MAYOR AND CABINET
Report Title

Report Back on Matters Raised by the Overview and Scrutiny Business
Panel or other Constitutional bodies

Key Decision

No

Item No.

Ward
Contributors

Head of Business & Committee

Class

Open

Date: February 10 2021

Purpose of Report
To report back firstly on any matters raised by the Overview and Scrutiny
Business Panel or on other matters raised by Select Committees or other
Constitutional bodies between February 3 and February 9 2021 and to
consider:
3.1

Response to Children & Young People Select Committee – Children in
Temporary Accommodation

Page
5
541

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\7\4\7\ai00026747\$1euxypy5.doc

Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 x Part 2
Key Decision

x

Date of Meeting

10 February 2021

Title of Report

Children in Temporary Accommodation CYP Select
Referral and 6 month update
Fen Beckman
Ext.8632

Originator of Report

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm that the report
has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

Signed:
Date:

x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Executive Member
2nd February 2021

Signed:
Date:

No

Executive Director
2nd February 2021

Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 6

Date

KEY DECISION

Mayor and Cabinet

Report title: Response to Children and Young People Select Committee
comments on children in temporary accommodation and 6 month
update
Date: 10 February 2021
Key decision: No.
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors:
Pinaki Ghoshal, Executive Director for Children and Young People
Fenella Beckman, Director of Housing Services

Outline and recommendations


Mayor and Cabinet to consider the officer response to the 10 recommendations
made by the CYP Select Committee in relation to their report on Children in
Temporary Accommodation, along with the current progress.

Page 7

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
10 February 2021

Response and update to be presented to Mayor and Cabinet

4 March 2021

Response and update to be presented to CYP Select Committee

1.

Summary

1.1.

This report seeks to provide a response to the Children and Young People Select
Committee recommendations on children in temporary accommodation, along with an
update of progress so far.

1.2.

The Committee made a number of recommendations. Whilst a number of the
recommendations can be implemented with closer joint working across services and
within existing budgets, there are a number which would require considerable
expenditure.

1.3.

This report sets out the responses to the individual recommendations, updates on
progress and identifies where additional expenditure is needed to cover the cost of the
recommendations which cannot be met within existing budgets.

2.

Recommendations

2.1.

Mayor and Cabinet are asked to:

2.1.1. Note the contents of this report and approve the responses to the recommendations

3.

Policy Context

3.1.

The contents of this report are consistent with the Council’s policy framework. It
supports the achievements of the Corporate Strategy objectives:

3.1.1. Tackling the housing crisis – Everyone has a decent home that is secure and
affordable.
3.2.

In response to the changing landscape and increasing demands on our services, the
council will imminently adopt a new five-year Housing strategy, and a two-year
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy. Both strategies respond to the rising
pressures of the housing crisis and additional need created by the COVID-19
pandemic.

3.2.1. The key priorities of the Housing strategy are:


Delivering the homes that Lewisham needs;



Preventing homelessness and meeting housing need;

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 8
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports



Improving the quality, standard and safety of housing;



Supporting our residents to live safe, independent and active lives;



Strengthening communities and embracing diversity.

3.2.2. The key priorities of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy are:


Prevent homelessness at the earliest opportunity with the most appropriate level of
support;



Support people to access a stable and secure home;



Support rough sleepers to enable access to services and sustainable
accommodation;



Adapt and be agile in our service delivery to support residents impacting by
COVID-19;



Strengthen partnership working.

4.

Background

4.1.

There are almost 10,000 households on the housing register. It would take over nine
years to provide social homes to everyone on the housing register if the number of
available homes stays the same, and if no more households are added to the register.
It is likely that many of those on our register will never move into social housing.

4.2.

Over recent years, the number of social housing properties available for letting has
been steadily decreasing. On average around 1000 properties are let per annum. The
number is anticipated to be even lower in this financial year (20/21) due to the impact
of Covid-19.

4.3.

The lack of supply is also exacerbating the level of need in the borough. Increasing
numbers of households are in need of larger family homes for instance, however the
number of larger houses available is very small. In 2019/20 there were 363 families in
need of a five-bedroom property and only one of this size was let. The below table
illustrates this, and the lets vs need for other house sizes:

4.4.

Bedroom

Let in 19/20

Number on the
register in
housing need

1 bedroom

624

1694

2 bedroom

305

3814

3 bedroom

171

2980

4 bedroom

27

986

5 bedroom

1

363

Over the past years, there has been a significant rise in the number of homeless
households who require temporary accommodation. As of January 2021, 2,450
households were in temporary accommodation arranged by the Council. The number
has increased, from 1,944 in March 2018, to 2,148 in March 2019 and 2,383 in March
2020. In 2019/20 temporary accommodation cost the council approximately £3million.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 9
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

5.

Response to the report recommendations

5.1.

Detailed responses to the individual recommendations are provided below.

5.2.

Whilst a number of the recommendations can be implemented with closer joint working
across services and within existing budgets, some would require additional
expenditure. These expenses are indicated within the responses.

5.3.

Recommendation 1: That the Housing Department collects data on types of
placements, numbers of children, ethnic profiles which it updates at reasonable
intervals and makes available on request to relevant Members/ Committees.

5.3.1. The majority of this data is already collected and provided to Members and
Committees on request. The exception is ethnic profiles, as it is not compulsory for
housing register applicants or residents to provide this information to us. It is possible
to provide this information to Members and Committees, however, it should be
acknowledged that the information will not be representative of all housing register
applicants and residents.
5.4.

Recommendation 2: That the council does not place a. families with children under
18, b. 16 & 17 year olds and c. Care leavers, in nightly paid accommodation with
shared amenities. This is because sharing kitchens, bathrooms and/or toilet facilities
with strangers has a profoundly damaging effect on children and young people’s
physical and mental health, which can impact on school attendance, academic
attainment, and cognitive development.

5.4.1. a. Families with children under 18 - Every effort is made to place households in
accommodation that is most suitable to their needs, this includes prioritising families for
self-contained accommodation. Families are often placed in accommodation in
emergency situations and in those circumstances, it is not always possible to identify
available self-contained accommodation at short notice. The council has to make use
of the best available accommodation at the time, which means that families are
sometimes placed in shared nightly paid accommodation in emergency situations. This
is not something we seek to do and we have been making a considerable effort to
minimise our use of shared accommodation over time. For example, there were 19
families with children in shared accommodation in October 2020 (16 families and 3
care leavers) and this number has been reduced significantly to 3 (1 family and 2 care
leavers) by January 2021. The six week rule for nightly paid accommodation is applied
and we try to move families on as quickly as possible within this time.
5.4.2. b. 16 & 17 year olds - There are currently three 16 & 17 year olds with children living in
council owned hostels with shared facilities. These hostels are not specified as nightly
paid accommodation, as they are within the Council’s ownership. In line with
legislation, a minor cannot hold a 'legal' interest in land and can only hold an 'equitable'
interest. This creates difficulties for landlords when granting and ending occupation
rights to minors as, depending on the type of letting, there might not be a direct
contractual relationship between the landlord and the minor. There are limited ways a
landlord can grant a tenancy to a minor to benefit from a tenancy and those do not
apply in these cases. Therefore we are unable to place these three households in
alternative accommodation and any other housing option is limited before their 18th
Birthday.
5.4.3. As part of our offer to those vulnerable customers in Temporary Accommodation,
officer will refer those customers who are vulnerable for floating support where the
customer is willing to engage in case they are not able to live independently. We
continue to monitor the needs of this cohort and will assesses 16 & 17 year olds with
children on a case by case basis as a question of fact in each case.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 10
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Officers in the Housing Department are aware of their Safeguarding duties and will
refer any Young Person or family we are concerned about to Children Social Care for
an assessment of their needs.
5.4.4. Housing and Children’s Social Care are engaged in a project bringing together the two
services to develop joint protocols for working with; homeless 16/17 year olds,
homeless families for whom there are child safeguarding concerns and Care Leavers.
The project has two key components, the first is developing more efficient and
collaborative ways of working to jointly assess the needs of these presenting young
people and families and support for them. The second component is reviewing housing
capacity and options to ensure we have suitable supported and semi-independent
accommodation pathways for our Care Leavers (18-25 years), as well as independent
move on and tenancy support, to fully exercise our Corporate Parenting duties.
5.4.5. Lewisham currently has 427 Care Leavers, it is not practice to place them in nightly
paid accommodation with shared amenities. Depending on their needs, our Care
Leavers are placed in a range of accommodation including semi-independent
accommodation, supported housing, supported lodgings, training flats, mother & baby
units and stand-alone accommodation with floating support. Much of this
accommodation has shared amenities, facilitating the support necessary for Care
Leavers to learn the independence skills required to move on into independent
accommodation. At present Children’s Social Care has one Care Leaver placed in
hotel accommodation due to a number of previous placement breakdowns involving
violence and damage to property. As a result Housing and Commissioning cannot
source an alternative placement at the moment, although looking on a daily basis.
Children’s Social Care is working closely with Housing to look at a priority nomination
for this young person with a high level of floating support.
5.5.

Recommendation 3: That the Homelessness Reduction team seeks to identify early
where children are more likely to be evicted and a Liaison Officer be appointed to work
with the Children and Young People Directorate and Housing to facilitate joint
preventative work where a potential eviction is anticipated to lead to a child being
referred to CSC.

5.5.1. The Housing Service has funded a pilot Housing and Safeguarding Coordinator post to
work with the MASH team representing the Housing Needs service. The purpose of the
role was to enhance partnership working and to provide specialist advice on early
intervention, homeless prevention and domestic abuse. Although the pilot is coming to
an end, the learning is being used to inform work we are now doing jointly with
Children’s Social Care around the development of a joint team to support the families
we work with from the next financial year.
5.6.

Recommendation 4: That an additional post focused on the welfare of children who
are schooled in Lewisham but placed in accommodation outside the borough be
created.

5.6.1. At any one time the number of families with school age children placed outside of
Lewisham is small and this would not justify the cost of an additional post. After
considering the concerns raised the Education Service have identified Lewisham
Attendance Service as being best placed to provide support. Where a family and child
are placed in temporary housing outside Lewisham, but still attending a Lewisham
school, the first indicator to trigger welfare support is often an issue with school
attendance. Lewisham Attendance Service will build on the work they already carry out
to support families in such situations. We will work with in partnership with Council
colleagues and schools and to ensure early notification of when an out of borough
move has taken place.
5.6.2. The Attendance Service can provide welfare support and flexibility to families in this

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 11
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

situation, as they are often travelling far to get to a Lewisham school daily. This might
be a referral to early help or support with applications to charitable funds for travel
costs. The service will work with the school and the family to explore their
circumstances and capacity to sustain daily attendance and to ensure that the
education placement is in the best interests of the child. We would expect liaison with
the local authority where the temporary housing is located, to see if there can be an
offer of a school place locally. We understand that families are often reluctant to take
up this offer as they are scared of losing their Lewisham school place. Following a
return to Lewisham we would support the family with the Lewisham application
process, where possible facilitating a return to the original school if there was a
vacancy, in lie with our admissions procedures.
5.7.

Recommendation 5: That a. prior to placing tenants, properties are inspected in
person by or on behalf of Lewisham Council, with a written condition report and photos;
and b. no family be placed in unsatisfactory accommodation. When deciding whether a
property is satisfactory, due regard should be given to: i. the fabric of the building –
including a range of qualities such as state of repair, natural light, space; ii. The
appropriateness of other residents and building users.

5.7.1. Before working with a prospective accommodation provider the council ensure that
information on their company registration and company accounts is provided. In
addition, they must provide two other local authority contacts to provide references,
regarding the standard of their accommodation and the management service they
provide. Checks are made with the enforcement team to ensure the landlord is not
known to be a rogue landlord. The council and Landlord then enter into a service level
agreement, covering the standard of accommodation and the expected responsive
repair service. The landlords are well briefed by the procurement team with regards to
the council’s suitability standards and that no hazards are permitted. A landlord
information pack is given to landlords and landlords provide a condition report to the
procurement team. Households have the legal right to review the appropriateness of
the placement, both on grounds of suitability and location and households are advised
of those grounds.
5.7.2. Due to the ad hoc booking process of nightly paid accommodation, it is not possible for
council officers to inspect all accommodation before booking. However, inspections are
arranged every quarter and, in addition, feedback from residents helps to inform our
programme of inspections. They are carried out on both an announced and
unannounced basis, in order to achieve a balance between tenancy audits and
ensuring the properties are properly maintained. Unfortunately, due to the Covid-19
pandemic, these inspections have not taken place as frequently in recent months.
5.7.3. Prior to letting, the council requires the provider to inspect the accommodation and
ensure it meets the required property standards. This is enforced through the service
level agreement in place. The provider will also need to undertake occupancy checks
every 6 weeks to ensure the tenant is occupying the accommodation and also to check
that there are no repair issues present. The council has a dedicated Compliance
Officer in place that monitors the health and safety compliance aspect of all temporary
accommodation. The officer also ensures property compliance in all statutory and best
practice areas, such as gas, electric, energy efficiency and fire risk. Where concerns
are raised regarding accommodation the council will undertake a joint inspection with
the provider to ensure that the issues highlighted are adequately addressed.
5.7.4. The council has signed up to a pan London framework, Setting the Standard, to ensure
shared temporary accommodation meets a set minimum property standard. A total of
31 London Boroughs have signed up to this framework which went live in December
2020. Through this framework all shared accommodation used by the council will be
inspected by a central inspection team and providers will be checked to ensure they
are fit and proper. This framework will provide local authorities with assurances that the

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 12
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

shared accommodation they are using is adequate and suitable for placements and
confidence that all shared accommodation has been inspected. Under the current
arrangements, all shared accommodation is inspected twice a year by the council.
5.7.5. If it is made a requirement, dedicated officers will be required to ensure that all selfcontained temporary accommodation stock is inspected prior to being used by the
council. The stock comprises private sector leasing properties, privately managed
accommodation, self-contained nightly paid properties and stock managed by
registered providers. In order to inspect these properties, plus any newly procured
properties, three fixed term posts with HHSRS training would be required. The pay
scale of these post would be S02 and together with on costs and overheads would cost
the council in the region of £200,000 annually.
5.8.

Recommendation 6: That placing a family in temporary accommodation outside the
borough should not contain an assumption in advance as to the location of their
settled/permanent accommodation.

5.8.1. We recognise that relocating to another area can be a very difficult time for families,
especially where existing support and services are located in Lewisham. However, it
must be recognised that there is a significant shortage of available accommodation in
Lewisham and increasing demand for these properties. In addition, the priority is that
households secure stable, permanent accommodation that is right for them at the
earliest possibility. Therefore the private rented sector often represents a better option
compared to waiting in temporary accommodation for long periods of time.
5.8.2. Offers of accommodation are made in line with the council’s Location Priority Policy
(LPP). The LPP requires placements to be as close to Lewisham as possible and the
vast majority of placements made are in-borough. In 19/20, 62 discharges of duty were
made from temporary accommodation, 37 or these were within Lewisham. In addition,
394 social housing properties within Lewisham were allocated to Homeless
households. Overall, for 19/20, 456 permanent placements were made, of which 431
were in-borough. Therefore, 95% of all households offered permanent settled
accommodation were able to remain in Lewisham.
5.8.3. Accepted homeless households remain on the housing register whilst they are living in
temporary accommodation and are able to bid for social housing. They are advised of
the process and that the timeframes involved in securing social housing can be long. It
is possible that households will remain in temporary accommodation for three years or
longer, therefore it is potentially appropriate for households to settle in the area where
their temporary accommodation is located. The Private Rented Sector Offer (PRSO)
policy says that the council will only discharge duty to the private sector if it is
appropriate, and household circumstances at the time will be taken into consideration.
5.9.

Recommendation 7: That clear and accessible information be provided to all
households on their rights, pathways for resolving issues with temporary
accommodation, the location of local amenities such as the GP, dentist, shops, library,
together with regularly updated advice on the anticipated length of stay so families can
make informed decisions around school placements.

5.9.1. The council endeavours to place households in or as close to Lewisham Borough as
possible. Where this is not possible households can be placed in other parts of London
and in some cases outside of London. For placements outside of London, the council
have an agreement in place, where accommodation providers are required to provide
households with a comprehensive move in pack. This pack includes information about
the local area, such as nearby schools, GP’s and shopping facilities available. This
makes it easier for households to settle into a new area. For placements in London, the
council procures accommodation in areas that have easily accessible amenities and
good transport links. Resettlement officers work with households to assist when
moving from shared or self-contained accommodation to the private rented sector and

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 13
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

help with tenancy sustainment.
5.9.2. The council seeks to ensure that all repairs are responded too and addressed in a
timely manner and households are in placed suitable accommodation free from
disrepair. Clear pathways are identified for households to resolve any issues that they
have with their temporary accommodation. Residents are provided information on how
repairs should be reported at the property sign up stage. In most temporary
accommodation cases, repairs are raised directly with the accommodation provider. If
the household feels that the accommodation provider is not being responsive or
adequately addressing the repairs raised, then households are able to escalate repairs
through an online reporting portal that can be found on the Lewisham Council website.
The case is allocated to a council officer who will raise the repair directly with the
accommodation provider on behalf of the household, with the view of getting it
resolved.
5.10.

Recommendation 8: That communication with service users be more open and a
culture that builds trust, transparency and information-sharing be encouraged. This
includes seeking and recording feedback from service users which is then acted upon,
and service users kept informed, where appropriate.

5.10.1. The Housing Needs Service welcomes dialogue with service users and their advocates
and the service works hard to progress case work in an open and transparent way. A
monthly survey is issued for Housing Needs service users. Findings from the surveys
are continually fed back into improvement work. Consultation exercises are held
regularly to develop new processes, initiatives and ways of working. Officers are clear
about the reality of the situation with households and whilst it can be difficult to do so,
officers attempt to manage expectations during their conversations with households,
with regards to timeframes and the availability of accommodation. Regular attendance
at the Homelessness Forum helps to keep advocates and community partners updated
on service updates and developments too so they can be best informed.
5.11.

Recommendation 9: That the Housing Department responds swiftly and thoroughly to
enquiries from Members, officers outside the Department and other stakeholders,
including schools, Citizen’s Advice Bureaux etc.

5.11.1. The service recognises that in the past response times have taken longer than
expected in some instances. There has been a significant effort in recent months to
reduce turnaround times for complaints and to address the backlog. As a result, the
number of overdue complaints has reduced substantially to a handful in January 2021.
The Housing Team work with a large number of clients with often complex casework
and a wide range of different personal circumstances. This means it can sometimes be
challenging to collate information comprehensively and quickly, however, officers will
continue to work hard to adhere to corporate timeframes for responding to
correspondence. Performance is closely monitored to identify any slippage at an early
stage.
5.11.2. The council has procured an integrated housing system which combines much of this
data. The homelessness and supported housing modules recently launched, and the
housing register and choice based lettings modules are soon to follow. Once fully
implemented officers will find it quicker and easier to retrieve information on specific
cases and improve the turnaround time in responding to casework.
5.12.

Recommendation 10: That the information from Shelter in Appendix C on page 101 of
the report should be updated to ensure accuracy and circulated to all schools in the
borough.

5.12.1. The recommendations of the Shelter report ‘Engaging with homeless children’ has
been shared with schools and other educational providers.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 14
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

6.

Financial implications

6.1.

This report asks Mayor and Cabinet to consider the officer response to the 10
recommendations made by the CYP Select Committee in relation to their report on
Children in Temporary Accommodation. As such, the majority of these
recommendations and responses do not have direct financial implications.

6.2.

As outlined in response to recommendation 5, the cost of property inspectors to inspect
all forms self-contained temporary accommodation used by the authority, both existing
and new, is assessed to be in the region of £138k per year, comprising of 3 officers.
This is currently not budgeted for within the service allocations and would require
additional resources to be allocated to the Housing service to cover this additional work
and increased cost, if this recommendation is to be implemented.

6.3.

As has been previously narrated and outlined in this report, the current housing issues
experienced both nationally and in the borough are putting severe pressure on the
council’s housing allocations and budgets. There are significant costs associated with
housing generally including managing the provision of council housing and providing
services to those experiencing homelessness or the threat of homelessness.

6.4.

All of these are affected over time by the demand for housing, with any changes to
allocations, temporary accommodation requirements or additional work requirements
having a direct impact on service costs.

7.

Legal implications
Housing Act 1996

7.1.

Section 188 of the Housing Act 1996 provides that:

7.2.

Interim duty to accommodate in case of apparent priority need.

7.3.

“If the local housing authority have reason to believe that an applicant may be
homeless, eligible for assistance and have a priority need, they must secure that
accommodation is available for the applicant's occupation …”

7.4.

The Homelessness (Priority Need for Accommodation) (England) Order 2002 (SI
2002/2051) provides that a child aged 16 or 17 who is not a ‘relevant child’ or owed a
‘section 20’ duty, and an 18-, 19- or 20-year-old (other than a ‘relevant student’), who
was looked after, accommodated or fostered at any time between the ages of 16 and
18 has a priority need for accommodation under the Housing Act 1996.

7.5.

The Government has also issued guidance on how local authorities should carry out
their duties under the above legislation.

7.6.

The Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities. Please see the link
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities

7.7.

Please see the link to ”Guidance to children’s services authorities and local housing
authorities about their duties under Part 3 of the Children Act 1989 and Part 7 of the
Housing Act 1996 to secure or provide accommodation for homeless 16 and 17 year
old young people”

7.8.

This Guidance was amended / updated in 2018
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme
nt_data/file/712467/Provision_of_accommodation_for_16_and_17_year_olds_who_ma
y_be_homeless.pdf
Children Act 1989

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 15
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

7.9.

Section 17(10) of the Children Act 1989 defines that a child shall be ‘in need’ if:
a) he is unlikely to achieve or maintain, or to have the opportunity of achieving or
maintaining, a reasonable standard of health or development without the provision for
him of services by a local authority;
b) his health or development is likely to be significantly impaired, or further impaired,
without the provision for him of such services; or
c) he is disabled.

7.10.

Section 17 also contains a general duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of
children in their area who are in need by promoting the upbringing of children by their
families and providing a range and level of services appropriate to those children’s
needs. Such services may include the provision of accommodation (section 17(6)).

7.11.

Section 20(1) requires a children’s services authority to provide accommodation to any
‘child in need’ who lacks suitable accommodation or care as a result of:
‘a) there being no person who has parental responsibility for him;
b) his being lost or having been abandoned;
c) the person who has been caring for him being prevented (whether or not
permanently, and for whatever reason) from providing him with suitable
accommodation or care.’

7.12.

Under the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 eligible, relevant and former relevant
children are owed a range of duties by children’s services. Depending on the young
person’s needs and status the duties can include accommodation, life skills, education
and training, employment, specific support needs, and financial support. Some of these
duties can extend until they are 21 years old, or even 24 if the child is undertaking
training or education.

8.

Climate change and environmental implications

8.1.

There are no anticipated climate change and environmental implications.

9.

Crime and disorder implications

9.1.

There are no anticipated crime and disorder implications.

10.

Background papers

10.1.

Mayor and Cabinet report 7 October 2020 https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s75327/Children%20Young%20P
eople%20Select%20Committee%20Review%20on%20Temporary%20Accommodation
.pdf

11.

Glossary

Term

Definition

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 16
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

12.

Report author and contact

12.1.

Fenella Beckman, Director of Housing Services Fenella.Beckman@lewisham.gov.uk

12.2.

Matt Henaughan, Head of Service, Children and Young People
Matt.Henaughan@lewisham.gov.uk

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 17
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Agenda Item 3
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for:
Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1  Part 2  Key Decision

Date of Meeting
Title of Report

10th February 2021
2021-2022 Budget Update Report

Originator of Report

David Austin



Ext. 49114

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm
that the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)




No








Signed:
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources
Date: 4th February 2021
Signed:
Executive Director for Corporate Resources
Date: 4th February 2021
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 18

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\1\5\7\ai00026751\$0qf3ced4.doc

Date

KEY DECISION*

Mayor and Cabinet

Report title: 2021/22 Budget Update Report
Date: 10 February 2021
Key decision: Yes
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Executive Director for Corporate Resources

Outline and recommendations
This report provides the Mayor and Cabinet with updates to the 2021/22 Budget
Report, presented to Mayor and Cabinet on the 3 February 2021.
The purpose of this report is to finalise the 2021/22 budget for consideration by the
Council on 3 March 2021.
The Mayor and Cabinet is asked to consider the recommendations listed in this
report at section 2.

Page 19

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
The first round of 2021/22 Revenue Budget cuts were approved by Mayor and
Cabinet on the 9 December 2020.
The second round of 2021/22 Revenue Budget cuts were presented to Mayor and
Cabinet on the 3 February 2021.
The Council Tax Base was approved by Council on the 20 January 2021.
The Budget Report was presented to Mayor and Cabinet on the 3 February 2021.

REASONS FOR URGENCY AND LATENESS
Lateness:

Urgency:

This report was not available for the original dispatch to ensure that any
decisions taken by the Mayor & Cabinet on 3 February 2021 could be
appropriately considered within this report.
Given the significance of the financial constraints that the Council will face over
the coming years, it is essential that the Mayor and his Cabinet are updated on
any changes affecting the 2021/22 Budget prior to presenting it to full Council.
Where a report is received less than 5 clear days before the date of the meeting
at which the matter is being considered, then under the Local Government Act
1972 Section 100(b) (4) the Chair of the Committee can take the matter as a
matter of urgency if he is satisfied that there are special circumstances
requiring it to be treated as a matter of urgency. These special circumstances
have to be specified in the minutes of the meeting.

1.

Summary

1.1

This report presents the Mayor and Cabinet with updates to the main 2021/22 Budget
Report presented to Mayor and Cabinet on 3 February 2021, and seeks the Mayor and
Cabinet’s approval to finalise the recommended 2021/22 Budget for consideration and
agreement by the Council on 3 March 2021.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

That the Mayor and Cabinet:

2.2

Notes the changes to the 2021/22 to 2023/24 Capital programme and recommends
that Council approves the 2021/22 to 2023/24 Capital Programme of £556.3m, as set
out in section 5 of this report and attached at Appendix A;

2.3

Agrees to recommend to Council a Band D Council Tax for 2021/22 of £1,379.96 for
the Council’s element. This is an increase of 4.99% (including a social care precept of
3%), based on a General Fund Budget Requirement of £243.100m for 2021/22;

2.4

Notes and asks Council to note the Greater London Authority (GLA) precept being
increased by £31.59 to £363.66 (Band D equivalent), a 9.5% increase from its 2020/21
level;

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 20
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

2.5

Notes and asks Council to approve an overall total Band D Council Tax for 2021/22 of
£1,743.62, a 5.91% increase, to include the GLA precept;

2.6

Agrees to recommend to Council on 3 March 2021, the statutory calculation of the
Budget Requirement for Lewisham for 2021/22, attached at Appendix B;

2.7

Agrees to recommend to Council on 3 March 2021, the motion on the budget, attached
at Appendix C, including any modifications made to the proposals published in the
2021/22 Budget Report;

2.8

Notes the provisional and estimated precept and levies from the GLA and other bodies
as detailed in Appendix D and delegates authority to the Executive Director for
Corporate Resources to include any changes to these in the report for Council;

2.9

Notes the final settlement figure for 2021/22 is being debated in parliament on 10
February and delegates authority to the Executive Director for Corporate Resources to
include any change to the provisional settlement of £123,304,020 in the report for
Council with any difference covered from provisions and reserves as necessary;

2.10

Notes that there was no response from Business Rate payers to the consultation on
the draft Budget which took place from 11 January 2021 to 1 February 2021. Further
information is provided in section 5 of this report;

2.11

Notes the revised 2021/22 to 2023/24 prudential borrowing numbers as laid out in
tables six to eight;

2.12

Considers the Section 25 Statement from the Chief Finance Officer. This is attached at
Appendix E;

2.13

Notes the work being undertaken with respect of cut proposal C-22 with a further report
to return to Mayor and Cabinet;

2.14

Agrees the Council’s application to bid for S31 grant funding of up to £3.2m from the
Government’s Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme; and

2.15

Delegates to the Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm the
procurement and delivery of the works in consultation with the Executive Director for
Corporate Resources for the inclusion of this within the capital programme for 2021/22.

3.

Policy Context

3.1

The Council's strategy and priorities drive the Budget with changes in resource
allocation determined in accordance with policies and strategy. The Council launched
its new Corporate Strategy in 2019, with seven corporate priorities as stated below:
Corporate Priorities


Open Lewisham - Lewisham will be a place where diversity and cultural heritage is
recognised as a strength and is celebrated.



Tackling the housing crisis - Everyone has a decent home that is secure and
affordable.



Giving children and young people the best start in life - Every child has access
to an outstanding and inspiring education, and is given the support they need to keep
them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential.



Building and inclusive local economy - Everyone can access high-quality job
opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local economy.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 21
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports



Delivering and defending health, social care and support - Ensuring everyone
receives the health, mental health, social care and support services they need.



Making Lewisham greener - Everyone enjoys our green spaces, and benefits from a
healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our local environment.



Building safer communities - Every resident feels safe and secure living here as we
work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime.

Values
3.2

Values are critical to the Council’s role as an employer, regulator, and securer of
services and steward of public funds. The Council’s values shape interactions and
behaviours across the organisational hierarchy, between officers, and members,
between the council and partners and between the council and citizens. In taking
forward the Council's Budget Strategy, we are guided by the Council's four core values:


We put service to the public first.



We respect all people and all communities.



We invest in employees.



We are open, honest, and fair in all we do.

3.3

As noted in the main 2020/21 budget report to Mayor & Cabinet on the 3 February, the
Council’s strong and resilient framework for prioritising action has served the
organisation well in the face of austerity and on-going cuts to local government
spending. This continues to mean, that even in the face of the most daunting financial
challenges facing the Council and its partners, we continue to work alongside our
communities to achieve more than we could by simply working alone.

3.4

It remains clear that the Council cannot do all that it once did, nor meet all those
expectations that might once have been met, for we are in a very different financial
position than just a decade ago. Severe financial constraints have been imposed on
Council services with cuts to be made year on year on year, and this on-going pressure
is addressed in this report, incorporating further budget cuts for 2021/22 and noting the
continued outlook for austerity to at least 2023/24. This is pending the Fair Funding
Review (FFR) and Business Rates Retention (BRR) consultations now due to conclude
for 2022/23 at the earliest.

3.5

Over the past eleven months, the Council’s business, and the day to day lives of
Lewisham’s residents, has been turned on its head. In March 2020, Council activity
simultaneously ground to a halt and ramped up in equal measure. With “non-critical”
services wound down almost overnight and a new, urgent focus on “critical services”,
the Council’s leadership team, members and vast range of services faced new
demands, challenges, pressures and opportunities.

3.6

The Council’s finances have also been severely affected by the ongoing pandemic.
The cost of coronavirus for Lewisham is estimated to be over £60m this year and
rising. Despite government promises early in the pandemic, up to £20m remains
unfunded in this financial year with further budget pressures for future years. Officers
have taken management action to make in-year savings of £5.4m as well as
introducing additional spending controls. During the latter half of the year we began
the long, difficult process of identifying cuts of over £40m for the next three years (to
April 2024) with £28m identified to be cut in 2021/22, which includes identified action to
address the persistent overspend estimated at £10m.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 22
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

3.7

We now face the challenge of needing to simultaneously respond to the pandemic,
plan for the long-term recovery of the place, set a balanced budget for next year, and
set the financial basis for the internal recovery of the Council in the coming years.

4.

Background

4.1

The 2021/22 Budget Report was presented to Mayor and Cabinet on the 3 February.
Since then, the Council has received information that impacts the decisions officers
have asked the Mayor to consider and recommend to council.

4.2

The purpose of this report is to finalise the 2021/22 budget for consideration by the
Council on 3 March 2021.

5.

Budget amendments

5.1

This report updates the main 2021/22 Budget Report through considering the following
areas:






Capital Programme
Revenue Budget and Funding Issues
The Greater London Authority (GLA) Precept
Final Level of Council Tax
Response to the Business Rate Payers consultation
Treasury Management

Capital programme
5.2

The Council has updated the cost of the general capital and decent homes programme
within the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). Lewisham Homes are responsible for
ensuring council owned stock under their management is brought up to and maintained
to a decent homes level, covering both internal and external works. The increase of
£38.8m in 2021/22 (£31.6m to £70.4m) from the draft budget to M&C on the 3
February is proposed to ensure that the priorities identified from the stock condition
survey undertaken in 2020/21 can be fully delivered.

5.3

To be able to accommodate this additional capital expenditure within the HRA
Business Plan and accompanying 30 year financial model, it has been necessary to
reduce the repairs and maintenance revenue budget by £1m in 2021/22. Lewisham
Homes will need to make this revenue spend reduction from the R&M budget or by
equivalent alternative savings in the year.

5.4

The Capital Programme budget for 2021/22 to 2023/24 is now proposed at £556.3m, of
which £223m is for 2021/22.
Proposed Capital Programme 2020/21 to 2022/23

5.5

The Council’s proposed Capital Programme for 2021/22 to 2023/24 is currently
£556.3m, as set out in Table 1:
Table 1: Proposed Capital Programme for 2021/22 to 2023/24

2020/21 to 2023/24 CAPITAL PROGRAMME - MAJOR PROJECTS

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 23
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Major Projects over £2m

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

Total

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

GENERAL FUND
Schools - School Places Programme

3.4

10.4

2.4

-

16.2

Schools – Minor Works Capital Programme

3.9

0.1

-

-

4.0

Schools - Other Capital Works

1.7

1.6

-

-

3.3

Highways & Bridges - TfL

1.3

-

-

-

1.3

Highways & Bridges - LBL

3.0

2.5

2.5

-

8.0

Highways - Others

1.5

0.8

0.1

-

2.4

Catford town centre

1.0

0.3

0.3

3.4

5.0

Asset Management Programme

1.5

2.8

2.5

-

6.8

Other AMP Schemes

0.7

0.9

-

-

1.6

Broadway Theatre - Works

0.4

4.8

1.7

-

6.9

Catford Phase 1 – Thomas Lane Yard / Catford
Constitution Club’

0.1

0.6

2.6

-

3.3

14.8

3.5

-

4.8

23.1

Beckenham Place Park

0.5

-

-

-

0.5

Beckenham Place Park ( Eastern Part)

0.2

1.7

-

3.0

-

-

3.0

Residential Portfolio Acquisition – Hyde
Housing Ass.

2.9

-

-

-

2.9

Disabled Facilities Grant

0.4

2.1

-

-

2.5

Private Sector Grants and Loans

0.2

2.1

-

-

2.3

Lewisham Gateway ( Phase 2)

Lewisham Homes – Property Acquisition

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 24
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

1.9

Edward St. Development

9.0

8.4

-

-

17.4

Achilles St. Development

0.8

1.0

-

3.6

5.4

Mayow Rd Development

0.6

6.6

1.1

0.1

8.4

Canonbie Rd Development

0.8

1.4

0.3

-

2.5

Ladywell Leisure Centre Development site
(1,000 Homes Prog.)

0.1

2.7

-

-

2.8

Deptford Southern Sites Regeneration

2.6

0.3

-

2.1

5.0

Acquisition of Sydney Arms

0.0

3.8

-

-

3.8

Fleet Replacement Programme

7.0

0.8

0.8

0.8

9.4

Travellers Site Relocation

0.2

3.6

-

-

3.8

Other Schemes

5.0

4.4

2.3

0.1

11.8

63.6

70.2

16.6

14.9

165.3

33.6

48.3

56.4

57.2

195.5

Creekside Acquisition

5.7

13.9

2.0

-

21.6

Ladywell Leisure Centre Development

4.5

15.4

43.4

27.7

91.0

Achilles St. Development

4.3

0.4

1.0

21.6

27.3

Mayow Rd Development

1.1

0.8

-

-

1.9

47.7

70.4

42.3

41.3

201.7

3.5

3.6

4.4

4.5

16.0

100.4

152.8

149.5

152.3

555.0

164.0

223.0

166.1

167.2

720.3

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
Building for Lewisham Programme

General Capital & Decent Homes Programme
Other Schemes (Hostels etc.)

TOTAL PROGRAMME

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 25
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

5.6

The resources available to finance the proposed Capital Programme are as set out in
Table 2 below:
Table 2: Proposed Capital Programme Resources for 2021/22 to 2023/24
20/21

21/22

22/23

23/24

£m

£m

£m

£m

3 Year
Total
£m

General Fund
Prudential Borrowing

17.3

18.7

1.5

6.5

26.7

Grants and Contributions

29.4

24.5

4.1

4.9

33.5

Capital Receipts

7.6

7.4

0.8

2.7

10.9

Reserves / Revenue

9.3

19.6

10.2

0.8

30.6

63.6

70.2

16.6

14.9

101.7

Prudential Borrowing

0.0

78.3

94.1

111.7

284.1

Grants

8.6

14.8

16.2

5.2

36.2

Specific Capital Receipts

0.0

6.3

11.1

8.5

25.9

91.8

53.4

27.9

27.0

108.3

100.4

152.8

149.5

152.3

454.5

164.0

223.0

166.1

167.2

556.3

Housing Revenue Account

Reserves / Revenue

Total Resources
5.7

A table of major projects and a full list of changes to the Programme since last year’s
budget report are shown in Appendix A.
Revenue Budget and Funding Issues
Final Settlement Funding Assessment

5.8

The debate on the final settlement has been confirmed for 10 February 2021, as such
no update to the provisional settlement as set out in the main Budget Report of the 3
February is included within this report.

5.9

Any change to the Council’s Settlement Funding Assessment for 2021/22 will be
reported to Council on the 3 March 2021.
Overall Budget Position for 2021/22

5.10

This remains unchanged from the main Budget Report of 5 February. For 2021/22, the
overall budget position for the Council is a General Fund Budget Requirement of
£243.100m. The overall position is set out in Table 3 below.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 26
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Table 3 - Overall Budget Position for 2021/22
Detail

Expenditure/

Expenditure/

(Income)

(Income)

£m

£m

Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) for 2021/22

(123.304)

Council Tax 2021/22 at 4.99% increase

(122.285)

Deficit on Collection Fund

2.498

NNDR pressure

1.000

Business Rates S31 and Growth

(1.009)

Assumed Budget Requirement for 2021/22

Base Budget for 2020/21

(243.100)

248.714

Plus: Additional Pay inflation

2.657

Plus: Non-pay Inflation

1.251

Plus: Budget pressures to be funded from 20/21 fund

6.500

Plus: Adult Social Care Precept

3.494

Less: Concessionary fares contribution

(1,500)

Plus: Persistent overspend to be removed via cuts

10.000

Less: Cuts proposed for 2021/22
Total

(28.016)
243.100

Levies
5.11

There are three bodies which charge a levy against Lewisham’s Council Tax: the
London Pensions Fund Authority (LPFA); the Environment Agency; and the Lee Valley
Park Authority. No formal notification from these bodies has been received, and
officers have estimated the levies and assumed no change. The details of these levies
are provided in Appendix D. The Council’s ‘relevant basic’ amount of Council Tax has
been calculated and results in a 4.99% increase for 2021/22.
General Fund Update

5.12

Officers within the Climate Resilience and Capital Delivery Team have applied for S31
grant funding of up to £3.2m from the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme
(https://www.salixfinance.co.uk/PSDS). This £1bn funding programme was launched in
autumn last year as part of the Government’s Plan for Jobs.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 27
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

5.13

The Council’s bid is for insulation and zero carbon measures at the following sites:
Broadway Theatre/Town Hall Chambers, Leemore and the Sydenham Community
Centres, Brockley Rise, Granville Park and Grove Park Adult Learning Centres and
Hither Green Cemetery.

5.14

There is no match funding required for this grant. The funding will be paid via S31 grant
before the 31 March 2021 with the requirement that the funding is spent prior to the 30
September 2021.

5.15

In respect of cut proposal C-22 relating to NHS CAMHS, an NHS service that has seen
a substantial increase in budget from £5.2m in 2018 to £7.1m this year. However given
concerns about the uncertainty around possible future demand for NHS services postlockdown, work is being done on a contingency arrangement for this cut proposal
which will be brought forward in a future report to Mayor and Cabinet.
The Greater London Authority Precept

5.16

On the 8 January 2021 the London Mayor announced his proposal to increase the
Band D precept in the 32 boroughs to £363.66 – increased by £31.59 or 9.5%
compared to 2020/21. This comprises an additional £15 for the Metropolitan police and
£1.59 for the London Fire Brigade.

5.17

The final council tax figure will not be approved formally until after the London
Assembly meeting on Thursday 25 February – although it is not expected that these
figures will change.
Final Level of Council Tax

5.18

Table 4 shows Lewisham’s overall proposed Council Tax Calculation for 2021/22 and
calculation of the Council Tax for Band D for 2021/22, based on the recommended
budget requirement of £243.100m.
Table 4 – Calculation of Council Tax Requirement and Band D
Calculation of Council Tax Requirement and Band D based on
spend of £243.100m for 2021/22 £
Assumed Budget Requirement for 2021/22

243,099,915

Less: 2021/22 Revenue Support Grant

28,151,000

Less: 2021/22 Baseline Funding Level

95,153,000

Less: Section 31 Grant and Growth

1,009,000

Add: NNDR pressure

-1,000,000

Add: Deficit in collection fund

-2,498,000

Council Tax requirement
Divide by: Council Tax Base
Council Tax for Lewisham Services (Band D)

122,284,915
88,614.29
1,379.96

GLA Precept (Band D)
Total recommended Council Tax Band D

363.66
1,743.62

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 28
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Table 5 – Council Tax for different Council Tax Bands in 2021/22
Band

Fraction

Lewisham
Council Tax

GLA Precept

Total Council Tax

£

£

£
A

6/9

919.97

242.44

1,162.41

B

7/9

1,073.30

282.85

1,356.15

C

8/9

1,226.63

323.25

1,549.88

D

9/9

1,379.96

363.66

1,743.62

E

11/9

1,686.62

444.47

2,131.09

F

13/9

1,993.27

525.29

2,518.56

G

15/9

2,299.93

606.10

2,906.03

H

18/9

2,759.92

727.32

3,487.24

Business Ratepayers Consultation on the budget
5.19

The Council is required under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to ensure that
Business Ratepayers are consulted on the proposed budget. This is to allow
businesses to review the changes in the budget for 2021/22 and respond with any
comments that they may have.

5.20

The consultation ran from the 11 January to the 1 February 2021. There were no
responses received back.
Treasury Management

5.21

The changes made to the 2021/22 to 2023/24 Capital Programme as detailed above
have require a change to the treasury prudential indicators. This report presents an
updated version of the 2021/22 to 2023/24 prudential indicators.
Prudential Indicators

5.22

Forward projections for borrowing as at 31 March 2021 are summarised below in Table
6, which shows the actual external debt from treasury management operations and
other long-term liabilities against the underlying capital borrowing need (the Capital
Financing Requirement - CFR) which is simply the total historic outstanding capital
expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. It
is essentially a measure of the Council’s indebtedness, and its underlying borrowing
need; any increase to capital expenditure which has not immediately been paid for
through a revenue or capital resource will increase the CFR.

5.23

The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is a
statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in line with
each asset’s life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital assets as they
are used.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 29
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

5.24

The CFR includes any other long-term liabilities (e.g. PFI liabilities). Whilst these
increase the CFR and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, these types of
scheme include a borrowing facility by the PFI or PPP provider and so the Council is
not required to separately borrow for these schemes.

5.25

Changes in external debt incorporate upcoming loan maturities and projected
prudential borrowing requirements in both the General Fund and the Housing Revenue
Account (HRA).

5.26

Table 6 below illustrates over/ (under) borrowing relative to the combined CFR for the
General Fund and HRA.

Table 6: External Debt Projections
2019/20
Actual
£m
External Debt at 1 April

2020/21
Forecast
£m

2021/22
Forecast
£m

2022/23
Forecast
£m

2023/24
Forecast
£m

217.2

217.0

230.3

327.1

421.6

(0.2)

13.3

96.8

94.5

116.5

Other Long-Term Liabilities

228.1

219.1

209.8

218.9

207.3

Gross Debt at 31 March

445.1

449.4

536.9

640.5

745.4

55.5

55.5

133.8

225.9

333.3

CFR – General Fund and
Other Long-Term Liabilities

464.3

468.5

473.4

478.9

468.7

Total Capital Financing
Requirement at 31 March*

519.8

524.0

607.2

704.8

802.0

Borrowing – over / (under)

(74.7)

(74.6)

(70.3)

(64.3)

(56.6

Change in External Debt

CFR - HRA

*The Capital Financing Requirement includes the prudential borrowing figures shown in Table E2 of Section 11 - Capital Programme
in the 2021/22 Budget Report. The previous year’s forecast prudential borrowing for capital did not materialise as expected and
there is a risk that this recurs. This will be monitored during the year and reported back. This is a more acute risk given the scale
and ambition of the capital programme, particularly in the HRA. We will ensure that we only borrow as the need arises.

5.27

Within the prudential indicators, there are a number of key indicators to ensure that the
Council operates its activities within well-defined limits. One of these is that the Council
needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total
of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for the
current and following two financial years. This allows some flexibility for limited early
borrowing for future years, but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue or
speculative purposes.

5.28

The Executive Director for Corporate Resources officer reports that the Council has
complied with this prudential indicator in the current year to date and does not
envisage difficulties for the future. This view takes into account current commitments,
existing plans, and the proposals in this report.
Limits to Borrowing Activity

5.29

There are two measures of limiting external debt; the ‘operational boundary’ and
‘authorised limit for external debt’, which the Council reports on as part of its prudential
indicators. Both are described in further detail in the following paragraphs.
The Operational Boundary for External Debt

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 30
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

5.30

This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally expected to exceed. In most
cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be lower or higher depending
on the levels of actual debt and the ability to fund under-borrowing by other cash
resources. The Council’s operational boundary is set out in Table 7.

Table 7: Operational Boundary
2020/21
£m

2021/22
£m

2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

Maximum External Debt at 31 March

230.3

327.1

421.6

538.1

Other Long-Term Liabilities

219.1

209.8

218.9

207.3

Operational Boundary for Year

449.4

536.9

640.5

745.4

The Authorised Limit for External Debt
5.31

This key indicator represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing, and
provides a limit beyond which external debt is prohibited. It reflects the level of external
debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term but is not sustainable
in the longer term.

5.32

This is a statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) of the Local Government Act
2003, and needs to be set and revised by full Council. The Government retains an
option to control either the total of all Councils’ plans, or those of a specific Council,
although this power has not yet been exercised.

5.33

The authorised limits are as set out in Table 8.

Table 8: Authorised Limits for External Debt
2020/21
£m
Operational Boundary for Year

2021/22
£m

2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

449.4

536.9

640.5

745.4

Provision for Non Receipt of Expected
Income

56.0

56.0

56.0

56.0

Additional 10% Margin

44.9

53.7

64.1

74.5

550.3

646.6

760.6

875.9

Authorised Limit for Year

6.

Financial implications

6.1.

This entire report deals with the Council’s Budget. Therefore, the financial implications
are explained throughout.

7.

Legal implications

7.1.

Many legal implications are referred to in the body of the Budget report. Particular

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 31
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

attention is drawn to the following:
Capital Programme
7.2.

Generally, only expenditure relating to tangible assets (e.g. roads, buildings or other
structures, plant, machinery, apparatus and vehicles) can be regarded as capital
expenditure. (Section 16 Local Government Act 2003 and regulations made under it).

7.3.

The Local Government Act 2003 introduced a prudential system of financial control,
replacing a system of credit approvals with a system whereby local authorities are free
to borrow or invest so long as their capital spending plans are affordable, prudent, and
sustainable. Authorities are required to determine and keep under review how much
they can afford to borrow having regard to CIPFA’s Prudential Code of Capital Finance
in Local Authorities. The Code requires that in making borrowing and investment
decisions, the Council is to take account of affordability, prudence, and sustainability,
value for money, stewardship of assets, service objectives, and practicality.

7.4.

Section 11 Local Government Act 2003 allows for regulations to be made requiring an
amount equal to the whole or any part of a capital receipt to be paid to the Secretary of
State. Since April 2013, there has been no requirement to set aside capital receipts on
housing land (SI2013/476). For right to buy receipts, the Council can retain 25% of the
net receipt (after taking off transaction costs) and is then entitled to enter an agreement
with the Secretary of State to fund replacement homes with the balance. Conditions on
the use of the balance of the receipts are that spending has to happen within three
years and that 70% of the funding needs to come from Council revenue or borrowing. If
the funding is not used within three years, it has to be paid to the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government, with interest. In London, the monies are then
transferred to the GLA. However, the Council has entered into an agreement with the
GLA where the GLA has agreed in principle that all monies received from central
government arising from right to buy disposals in Lewisham will be ring fenced and
made available to the Council as social housing grant.
Housing Revenue Account

7.5.

Section 24 of the Housing Act 1985 provides that a local authority may make such
reasonable charges as they determine for the tenancy or occupation of their houses.
The Council must review rents from time to time and make such charges as
circumstances require.

7.6.

Under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the Council is obliged to maintain
a separate HRA (Section 74) and by Section 76 must prevent a debit balance on that
account. Rents must therefore be set to avoid such a debit.

7.7.

By Schedule 4 of the same Act where benefits or amenities arising out of a housing
authority functions are provided for persons housed by the authority but are shared by
the community, the Authority must make such contribution to the HRA from their other
revenues to properly reflect the community’s share of the benefits/amenities.

7.8.

The process for varying the terms of a secure tenancy is set out in Sections 102 and
103 of the Housing Act 1985. It requires the Council to serve notice of variation at least
four weeks before the effective date; the provision of sufficient information to explain
the variation; and an opportunity for the tenant to serve a Notice to Quit ending their
tenancy.

7.9.

Where the outcome of the rent setting process involves significant changes to housing
management practice or policy, further consultation may be required with the tenants’
affected in accordance with section 105 of the Housing Act 1985.

7.10.

Part 7 of the Localism Act 2011 abolished HRA subsidy and moved to a system of self

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 32
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

financing in which Councils are allowed to keep the rents received locally to support
their housing stock. Section 174 of the same Act provides for agreements between the
Secretary of State and Councils to allow Councils not to have to pay a proportion of
their capital receipts to the Secretary of State if he/she approves the purpose to which
it would be put.
Balanced Budget
7.11.

In accordance with the Local Government Act 1992 the Council must set its Council
Tax for 2021/2022 before 11 March 2021. By law it may not set the Council Tax before
receipt of confirmation of the precept from the precepting authority, the GLA which is
anticipated on 26 February. A report will be prepared for the Council meeting on 3
March 2021 on the basis of indications from the GLA but the report will be despatched
before their final decision. The Executive Director for Corporate Resources will update
the Council accordingly before it makes its decision.

7.12.

Following the introduction of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders)( Amendment)
Regulations 2014 the Council’s Constitution was amended to require that when the
Council votes on key budget and Council Tax decisions, the vote must be
recorded. This requirement will apply when the Council meets to set the Council Tax.

7.13.

Members have a duty to ensure that the Council acts lawfully. It must set and maintain
a balanced budget each year. The Council must take steps to deal with any projected
overspends and identify cuts or other measures to bring the budget under control. If the
Capital Programme is overspending, this may be brought back into line through cuts,
slippage, or contributions from revenue. The proposals in this report are designed to
produce a balanced budget in 2021/22.

7.14.

In this context, Members are reminded of their fiduciary duty to the Council Tax payer,
effectively to act as trustee of the Council’s resources and to ensure proper
custodianship of Council funds.
An annual budget

7.15.

By law, the setting of the Council’s budget is an annual process. However, to enable
meaningful planning, a number of cuts proposals for 2021/22 were anticipated in the
course of the budget process. The first round of cuts were approved by Mayor and
Cabinet on 9 December 2020. The second round were approved by Mayor and
Cabinet on the 3 February. They are listed in Appendix Y1 and Appendix Y2
respectively of the Budget report. This report and the main Budget report are
predicated on taking all of the agreed budget cuts and their being successfully
implemented. If not, any shortfall will have to be met through adjustments to the
annual budget in this report with the use of reserves.

7.16.

The Budget report refers to various consultation exercises (for example with tenants
and businesses) which the Council has carried out in accordance with statutory
requirements relating to this budget process. Mayor and Cabinet must consider the
outcome of the business rate payers consultation with an open mind before reaching a
decision about the final proposals to Council. It is noted that the outcome of
consultation with business rate payers is set out in this report.
Referendum

7.17.

Sections 72 of the Localism Act 2011 and Schedules 5 to 7 amended the provisions
governing the calculation of Council Tax. They provide that if a Council seeks to
impose a Council Tax increase in excess of limits fixed by the Secretary of State, then

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 33
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

a Council Tax referendum must be held, the results of which are binding. The Council
may not implement an increase which exceeds the Secretary of State’s limits without
holding the referendum. Were the Council to seek to exceed the threshold, substitute
calculations which do not exceed the threshold would also have to be drawn up. These
would apply in the event that the result of the referendum is not to approve the
“excessive” rise in Council Tax. Attention is drawn to the statement of the Secretary of
State that the Council may impose a precept of 3% on the Council Tax, ring-fenced for
social care provision, and may impose an additional increase of less than 2% without
the need for a referendum. The maximum proposed Council Tax increase is 4.99% and
therefore below the combined limit.
7.18.

In relation to each year the Council, as billing authority, must calculate the Council Tax
requirement and basic amount of tax as set out in Section 31A and 31B of the Local
Government Finance Act 1992. These statutory calculations appear in Appendix Y6.
Robustness of estimates and adequacy of reserves

7.19.

Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires, when the authority is making its
calculations under s31 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, the Chief Finance
Officer to report to it on:(a) the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the Calculations; and
(b) the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves.

7.20.

The Chief Financial Officer’s section 25 statement is appended to this report at
Appendix E.
Treasury Strategy

7.21.

Authorities are also required to produce and keep under review for the forthcoming
year a range of indicators based on actual figures. These are set out in the report. The
CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice says that movement may be made
between the various indicators during the year by an Authority’s Chief Finance Officer
as long as the indicators for the total Authorised Limit and the total Operational
Boundary for external debt remain unchanged. Any such changes are to be reported to
the next meeting of the Council.

7.22.

Under Section 5 of the 2003 Act, the prudential indicator for the total Authorised Limit
for external debt is deemed to be increased by an amount of any unforeseen payment
which becomes due to the Authority within the period to which the limit relates which
would include for example additional external funding becoming available but not taken
into account by the Authority when determining the Authorised Limit. Where Section 5
of the Act is relied upon to borrow above the Authorised Limit, the Code requires that
this fact is reported to the next meeting of the Council.

7.23.

Authority is delegated to the Executive Director for Corporate Resources to make
amendments to the limits on the Council’s counterparty list and to undertake Treasury
Management in accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice
and the Council's Treasury Policy Statement.
Constitutional provisions

7.24.

Legislation provides that it is the responsibility of the full Council to set the Council’s
budget. Once the budget has been set, save for those decisions which they are
precluded from, it is for the Mayor and Cabient to make decisions in accordance with
the statutory policy framework and that are not wholly inconsistent with the budget. It is

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 34
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

for the Mayor and Cabinet to have overall responsibility for preparing the draft budget
for submission to the Council to consider. If the Council does not accept the Mayor and
Cabinet’s proposals, it may object to them and ask them to reconsider. The Mayor and
Cabinet must then reconsider and submit proposals (amended or unamended) back to
the Council which may only overturn them by a two-thirds majority.
7.25.

For these purposes the term “budget” means the “budget requirement (as provided for
in the Local Government Finance Act 1992) all the components of the budgetary
allocations to different services and projects, proposed taxation levels, contingency
funds (reserves and balances) and any plan or strategy for the control of the local
authority’s borrowing or capital expenditure.” (Chapter 2 statutory guidance).

7.26.

Authorities are advised by the statutory guidance to adopt an inclusive approach to
preparing the draft budget, to ensure that councillors in general have the opportunity to
be involved in the process. However, it is clear that it is for the Mayor and Cabinet to
take the lead in that process and proposals to be considered should come from them.
The preparation of the proposals in this report has involved the Mayor and Cabinet, the
Council’s select committees and the Public Accounts Select Committee in particular,
thereby complying with the statutory guidance.
Statutory duties and powers

7.27.

The Council has a number of statutory duties which it must fulfil by law. It cannot
lawfully decide not to carry out those duties. However, even where there is a statutory
duty, the Council often has discretion about the level of service provision. Where a
service is provided by virtue of a Council power rather than a duty, the Council is not
bound to carry out those activities, though decisions about them must be taken in
accordance with the decision making requirements of administrative law.
Reasonableness and proper process

7.28.

Decisions must be made reasonably taking into account all relevant considerations and
ignoring irrelevancies. If the Mayor and Cabinet decides that the budget for that service
must be reduced, the Council’s reorganisation procedure applies if staffing numbers
would reduce. Staff consultation in accordance with that procedure will be conducted
and in accordance with normal Council practice, the final decision would be made by
the relevant Executive Director under delegated authority.

7.29.

It is also imperative that decisions are taken following proper process. Depending on
the particular service concerned, this may be set down in statute, though not all legal
requirements are set down in legislation.

7.30.

For example, depending on the service, there may need to be a need to consult with
service users and/or others. The requirement to consult may arise by statute or there
may be a legitimate expectation of consultation. A legitimate expectation will arise if a
specific promise has been made to do something (for example as in the Lewisham
Compact with the voluntary sector) or if it has become practice to consult on particular
matters. Where there is a requirement to consult, any proposals in this report must
remain proposals unless and until that consultation is complete and the responses
have been brought back in a further report for consideration with an open mind before
any decision is made.
Staff consultation

7.31.

Where proposals, if accepted, would result in 100 redundancies or more within a 90
day period, an employer is required by Section 188 of the Trade Union and Labour

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 35
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 as amended, to consult with the representatives of
those who may be affected by the proposals. The consultation period is at least 45
days. Where the number is 20 or more, but 99 or less the consultation period is 30
days. This requirement is in addition to the consultation with individuals affected by
redundancy and/or reorganisation under the Council’s own procedure.
Best Value
7.32.

Under section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999, the Council is under a best value
duty to secure continuous improvement in the way its functions are exercised, having
regard to a combination of economy, efficiency, and effectiveness. It must have regard
to this duty in making decisions in relation to this report.
Integration with health

7.33.

Members are reminded that provisions under the Health and Social Care Act 2012
require local authorities in the exercise of their functions to have regard to the need to
integrate their services with health. See “Legal implications” in the guidance for more
information.

8.

Equalities implications

8.1.

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced the public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

8.2.

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:


eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act.



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the Mayor and Cabinet, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations. Assessing the potential impact
on equality of proposed changes to policies, procedures and practices is one of the key
ways in which the Council can demonstrate that they have had ‘due regard’.
8.3.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission issued Technical Guidance on the Public
Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 Services,
Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must have
regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn to
Chapter 11 which deals particularly with services and public functions. The Technical
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes
steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does
not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so
without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the
technical guidance can be found at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 36
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

policy/equality-act/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/
8.4.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:
1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
3. Engagement and the equality duty
4. Equality objectives and the equality duty
5. Equality information and the equality duty

8.5.

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including
the general equality duty, the specific duties, and who they apply to. It covers what
public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required,
as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed
guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources
are available at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/publicsector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/

8.6.

The EHRC has also issued Guidance entitled “Making Fair Financial Decisions”. It
appears at Appendix Y9 and attention is drawn to its contents.

8.7.

Assessing impact on equality is not an end to itself and it should be tailored to, and be
proportionate to, the decision being made. Whether it is proportionate for the Council to
conduct an Equalities Analysis Assessment of the impact on equality of a financial
decision or not depends on its relevance to the Authority’s particular function and its
likely impact on people from protected groups, including staff.

8.8.

Where proposals are anticipated to have an impact on staffing levels, it will be subject
to consultation as stipulated within the Council’s Employment/Change Management
policies, and services will be required to undertake an Equalities Analysis Assessment
(EAA) as part of their restructuring process.

8.9.

It is also important to note that the Council is subject to the Human Rights Act, and
should therefore, also consider the potential impact their particular decisions could
have on human rights. Where particular cuts have such implications, they must be
dealt with and considered in relation to those particular proposals before any final
decision is made.

9.

Climate change and environmental implications

9.1.

Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 states that:
‘every public authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far as is
consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose of conserving
biodiversity’.

9.2.

Overall there are limited changes to the budget structure and service funded either
from agreed reductions or pressures funded. The environment considerations for any
cuts were specifically considered as part of those proposals agreed by M&C.

10.

Crime and disorder implications

10.1.

Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires the Council when it exercises
its functions to have regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and
the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in its area.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 37
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

10.2.

There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

11.

Health and wellbeing implications

11.1.

There are no specific health and well being implications arising from this report.

12.

Background papers
Short Title of Report

Date

Location

7 October
2020 (M&C)

1st Floor
Laurence House

David Austin

9 December
2020 (M&C)
3 February
2020 (M&C)

1st Floor
Laurence House

David Austin

Council Tax Base

20 January
2021 (Council)

1st Floor
Laurence House

David Austin

2021/22 Budget Report

3 February
2021

1st Floor
Laurence House

David Austin

Financial stabilisation - budget update
and medium term plan
Budget Cuts Proposal 2020/21 – round 1
Budget Cuts Proposal 2020/21 – round 2

13.

Contact

Glossary

Term
Collection Fund

Definition
A statement that shows the transactions of the billing authority
in relation to non-domestic rates and the Council Tax, and
illustrates the way in which these have been distributed to
preceptors and the General Fund.

General Fund

This is the main revenue account which summarises the cost
of all services (except those related to Council Housing and
Locally Managed Schools) provided by the Council.

Housing Revenue Account

Reflects a statutory obligation to account separately for local
authority housing provision. It shows the major elements of
housing revenue expenditure and how this is met by rents,
subsidy and other income.

Minimum Revenue Provision

The minimum revenue provision (MRP) is the minimum
amount that must be charged to an authority’s revenue
account each year and set aside as a provision for debt
repayment or other credit liabilities.

Reserves

Amounts set aside for purposes falling outside the definition of
provisions made above are considered as reserves.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 38
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Revenue Support Grant

14.

A general grant paid by Central Government to local
authorities to help them finance the cost of their services,
distributed on the basis of government relative needs
formulas.

Report author and contact
David Austin – Director for Corporate Resources david.austin@lewisham.gov.uk
Katharine Nidd – Strategic Finance and Procurment katharine.nidd@lewisham.gov.uk
Financial implications on behalf of the Executive Director for Corporate Resources
were provided by the report authors.
Legal implications on behalf of the Monitoring Officer were provided by Katherine
Kazantzis.

15.

Appendices
A

2020/21 to 2023/24 Capital Programme – Major Projects

B

Council Tax Statutory Calculations

C

Motion for the Mayor to recommend to Council

D

Relevant Amount of Council Tax and Levies

E

Chief Financial Officer’s Section 25 Statement

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 39
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

APPENDIX A

(APPENDIX W1 in the main Budget Report)
2020/21 TO 2023/24 CAPITAL PROGRAMME - MAJOR PROJECTS

Major Projects over £2m

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

Total

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

GENERAL FUND
Schools - School Places Programme

3.4

10.4

2.4

-

16.2

Schools – Minor Works Capital Programme

3.9

0.1

-

-

4.0

Schools - Other Capital Works

1.7

1.6

-

-

3.3

Highways & Bridges - TfL

1.3

-

-

-

1.3

3

2.5

2.5

-

8.0

Highways - Others

1.5

0.8

0.1

-

2.4

Catford town centre

1.0

0.3

0.3

3.4

5.0

Asset Management Programme

1.5

2.8

2.5

-

6.8

Other AMP Schemes

0.7

0.9

-

-

1.6

Broadway Theatre - Works

0.4

4.8

1.7

-

6.9

Catford Phase 1 – Thomas Lane Yard / Catford
Constitution Club’

0.1

0.6

2.6

-

3.3

14.8

3.5

-

4.8

23.1

Beckenham Place Park

0.5

-

-

-

0.5

Beckenham Place Park ( Eastern Part)

0.2

1.7

Highways & Bridges - LBL

Lewisham Gateway ( Phase 2)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 40
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

1.9

Lewisham Homes – Property Acquisition

-

3.0

-

-

3.0

Residential Portfolio Acquisition – Hyde
Housing Ass.

2.9

-

-

-

2.9

Disabled Facilities Grant

0.4

2.1

-

-

2.5

Private Sector Grants and Loans

0.2

2.1

-

-

2.3

Edward St. Development

9.0

8.4

-

-

17.4

Achilles St. Development

0.8

1.0

-

3.6

5.4

Mayow Rd Development

0.6

6.6

1.1

0.1

8.4

Canonbie Rd Development

0.8

1.4

0.3

-

2.5

Ladywell Leisure Centre Development site
(1,000 Homes Prog.)

0.1

2.7

-

-

2.8

Deptford Southern Sites Regeneration

2.6

0.3

-

2.1

5.0

Acquisition of Sydney Arms

0.0

3.8

-

-

3.8

Fleet Replacement Programme

7.0

0.8

0.8

0.8

9.4

Travellers Site Relocation

0.2

3.6

-

-

3.8

Other Schemes

5.0

4.4

2.3

0.1

11.8

63.6

70.2

16.6

14.9

165.3

33.6

48.3

56.4

57.2

195.5

Creekside Acquisition

5.7

13.9

2.0

0.0

21.6

Ladywell Leisure Centre Development

4.5

15.4

43.4

27.7

91.0

Achilles St. Development

4.3

0.4

1.0

21.6

27.3

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
Building for Lewisham Programme

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 41
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Mayow Rd Development
General Capital & Decent Homes Programme
Other Schemes (Hostels etc.)

TOTAL PROGRAMME

1.1

0.8

0.0

0.0

1.9

47.7

70.4

42.3

41.3

201.7

3.5

3.6

4.4

4.5

16.0

100.4

152.8

149.5

152.3

555.0

164.0

223.0

166.1

167.2

720.3

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 42
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

APPENDIX B – Council Tax Statutory Calculations

1) It be noted that at its meeting on 20 January 2021, the Council calculated the number of
88,614.3 as its Council Tax base for 2021/22 in accordance with the Local Authorities
(Calculation of Tax base) Regulations;

2) The following amounts be now calculated by the Council for the year 2021/22 in
accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992:
a. £1,212,121,675 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for gross
expenditure, calculated in accordance with Section 32(2)A of the Act;
b. £969,021,760 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for income,
calculated in accordance with Section 32(3)A of the Act;
c. £243,099,915 being the amount by which the aggregate of 2(a) above exceeds the
aggregate of 2(b) above, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 32A(4) of the
Act, as its General Fund budget requirement for the year;
d. £123,304,020 being the aggregate of the sums which the Council estimates will be payable
for the year into its General Fund in respect of the Settlement Funding Assessment.
e. £9,000 being the aggregate of the sums which the Council estimates will be transferred into
its general fund from reserves, in relation to part of the 2020/21 London Pilot Pool Growth, S31
NNDR grant, and its share of NNDR deficit.
f. £119,785,915 being the residual amount required to be collected from Council Tax payers.
This includes a deficit on the Council’s Collection Fund of £2,498,000.
g. £1,379.96 being the residual sum at (f) above (adding the deficit on the Collection Fund),
divided by the Council Tax base of 88,614.3 which is Lewisham’s precept on the Collection
Fund for 2021/22 at the level of Band D;

Band

Council Tax (LBL)
£

A

919.97

B

1,073.30

C

1,226.63

D

1,379.96

E

1,686.62

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 43
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

F

1,993.27

G

2,299.93

H

2,759.92

Being the amounts given by multiplying the amount at (g) above by the number which, in
proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings listed in a particular
valuation band divided by the number which in that proportion is applicable to dwellings listed
in valuation Band D, calculated by the Council in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act, as
the amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in
different valuation bands;

3) It be noted that for the year 2021/22, the Greater London Authority is currently consulting on
the following amounts in precepts issued to the Council, in accordance with Section 40 of the
Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended), for each of the categories of dwellings
shown below:-

Band

GLA Precept
£

A

242.44

B

282.85

C

323.25

D

363.66

E

444.47

F

525.29

G

606.10

H

727.32

4) Having calculated the estimated aggregate amount in each case of the amounts at 2) (g)
and 3) above, the Council, in accordance with Section 30(2) of the Local Government Finance
Act 1992, assumed the following amounts as the amounts of Council Tax for the year 2021/22

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 44
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

for each of the categories of dwellings shown below:-

Band

Total
Council Tax
(LBL & GLA)
£

A

1,162.41

B

1,356.15

C

1,549.88

D

1,743.62

E

2,131.09

F

2,518.56

G

2,906.03

H

3,487.24

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 45
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

APPENDIX C - Motion for the Mayor and Cabinet to Recommend to Council
Having considered:
(i) an officer report, the comments of the Public Accounts Select Committee of 2 February
2021, and a presentation from the Cabinet Member for Resources;
(ii) the views of those consulted on the budget as required and subject to proper process and
consultation;
The Mayor and Cabinet, from the options available, is asked to recommend that Council:
General Fund Revenue Budget
1.1

note the projected overall variance of £3.2m (or 1.3%) against the agreed 2020/21
revenue budget of £248.714m as set out in section 6 of this report and that any yearend overspend will be met from corporate reserves and provisions;

1.2

endorse the budget cut proposals of £28.016m as per the Mayor and Cabinet meetings
of the 9 December 2020 and 3 February 2020, as set out in section 6 of the report and
summarised in Appendix Y1 and Y2;

1.3

agree the allocation of £6.500m in 2021/22 be set aside and use of £1.500m reduced
contribution for concessionary fares for corporate risks and pressures;

1.4

agree the allocation of £19.685m of corporate risks and pressures, social care precept,
new homes bonus, social care grant, lower tier grant and legacy s31 monies in
2021/22 to be invested in funding quantified budget pressures and opportunities, both
recurring and once-off as set out in section 6;

1.5

agrees a General Fund Budget Requirement of £243.100m for 2021/22 be approved;

1.6

agree to a 4.99% increase in Lewisham’s Council Tax element. This will result in a
Band D equivalent Council Tax level of £1,379.96 for Lewisham’s services and
£1,743.62 overall. This represents an overall increase in Council Tax for 2021/22 of
5.91% and is subject to the GLA precept for 2021/22 being increased by £31.59 (i.e.
9.5%) from £332.07 to £363.66, in line with the GLA’s draft budget proposals;

1.7

note the Council Tax Ready Reckoner which for illustrative purposes sets out the Band
D equivalent Council Tax at various levels of increase. This is explained in section 6 of
the report and is set out in more detail in Appendix Y4;

1.8

approve the Executive Director for Corporate Resources Section 25 Statement at
Appendix C;

1.9

agree the draft statutory calculations for 2021/22 as set out at Appendix Y6;

1.10

note the prospects for the revenue budget for 2021/22 and future years as set out in
section 6;
Other Grants (within the General Fund)

1.11

note the adjustments to and impact of various specific grants for 2021/22 on the
General Fund as set out in section 7 of this report;
Dedicated Schools Grant and Pupil Premium
Schools Block

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 46
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

1.12

notes that the provisional Dedicated Schools Grant allocation of £222.769m be the
Schools’ Budget (Schools Block) for 2021/22;

1.13

agrees, (as recommended by Schools Forum) the once-off transfer £1.068m of
Dedicated Schools Grant to the High Needs Block and the set aside of £1.24m to
support schools through measures such as the growth fund and the falling rolls fund;
Central Schools Services Block (CSSB)

1.14

note the construct and allocation of £4.261m for the CSSB block allocation for 2021/22;
High Needs Block (HNB)

1.15

note the provisional High Needs Block £62.4m to support the Council’s statutory duty
with regards Special Education Needs. This is a net increase of £5.99m relative to
2020/21;
Early Years Block (EYB)

1.16

notes the provisional Dedicated Schools Grant allocation of £24.17m to the block;
Pupil Premium

1.17

notes that the pupil premium will continue in the 2021/22 financial year. The funding
rates in the year will be same as 2020/21 but the census date has changed to January.
Housing Revenue Account

1.18

notes the consultation report on service charges to tenants’ and leaseholders in the
Brockley area, presented to area panel members on 16 December 2020, as attached
at Appendix X2;

1.19

notes the consultation report on service charges to tenants’ and leaseholders and the
Lewisham Homes budget strategy presented to area panel members on 17 December
2020 as attached at Appendix X3;

1.20

sets an increase in dwelling rents of 1.5% (an average of £1.46 per week) – as per the
formula rent calculations outlined in section 9 of this report;

1.21

sets an increase in the hostels accommodation charge by 1.5% (or £0.53 per week), in
accordance with formula rent calculations;

1.22

approves the following average weekly increases/decreases for dwellings for:

1.22.1 service charges to non-Lewisham Homes managed dwellings (Brockley) to ensure
full cost recovery and 2.1% inflationary uplift for 2021/22;


caretaking

2.10%

(£0.66)



grounds

2.10%

(£0.80)



communal lighting

2.10%

(£0.06)



bulk waste collection

2.10%

(£0.03)



window cleaning

2.10%

(£0.00)



tenants’ levy

0%

(£0.00)

1.22.2 service charges to Lewisham Homes managed dwellings:


caretaking

1.99%

(£0.13)



grounds

1.94%

(£0.04)



window cleaning

26.00%

(£0.02)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 47
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

1.23



communal lighting

2.55%

(£0.03)



block pest control

2.20%

(£0.04)



waste collection

23.20%

(£0.11)



heating & hot water

1.62%

(£0.17)



tenants’ levy

0%

(£0.00)



bulk waste disposal

0.00%

(£0.00)



sheltered housing

0.00%

(£0.00)

approves the following average weekly percentage changes for hostels and shared
temporary units for;


service charges (hostels) – caretaking etc.; no change



energy cost increases for heat, light & power; no change



water charges increase; no change

1.24

approves an increase in garage rents by 1.1% (£0.17 per week) for Brockley and
Lewisham Homes residents;

1.25

notes that the budgeted expenditure for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) for
2021/22 is £226.1m, split £112.1m revenue and £114.0m capital, which includes the
decent homes and new build programmes;

1.26

agrees the HRA budget strategy cut proposals in order to achieve a balanced budget in
2021/21, as attached at Appendix X1;
Treasury Management Strategy

1.27

approves the prudential indicators and treasury indicators, as set out in section 10 of
this report;

1.28

approves the Annual Investment Strategy and Creditworthiness Policy, set out in
further detail at Appendix Z2;

1.29

approves the update to the Investment Strategy as set out in section 10 of this report,
namely to allow investment in UK building societies with a minimum credit rating of
BBB- from Fitch (or equivalent) for up to 3 months, and no more than £10m per
institution;

1.30

note that the Capital Strategy 2021/22 will be brought forward during the year;

1.31

approves the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy as set out in section 10 of this
report;

1.32

agrees to delegate to the Executive Director of Corporate Resources authority during
2021/22 to make amendments to borrowing and investment limits provided they are
consistent with the strategy and there is no change to the Council’s authorised limit for
borrowing;

1.33

approves the overall credit and counterparty risk management criteria, as set out at
Appendix Z2, the proposed countries for investment at Appendix Z3, and that it
formally delegates responsibility for managing transactions with those institutions which
meet the criteria to the Executive Director for Corporate Resources;

1.34

approves a minimum sovereign rating of AA- for non-UK investments;

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 48
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Capital Programme
1.35

notes the 2020/21 Quarter 3 Capital Programme monitoring position and the Capital
Programme potential future schemes and resources as set out in section 11 of this
report;

1.36

notes the significant proposed rise in prudential borrowing of more than £308m by
2023/24, primarily to fund the Building for Lewisham programme capital plans;

1.37

approves the 2021/22 to 2023/24 Capital Programme of £556.3m, as set out in section
11 of this report and attached at Appendices W1 and W2.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 49
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

APPENDIX D – Relevant Amounts of Council Tax and Levies

To date, Lewisham has so far received no formal notification from the three levy bodies for
2021/22. A zero percent increase has been assumed for these. An updated position will be
provided in the Council report.

Council Tax and Levies

‘Relevant Basic’ Amount of Council Tax

2020/21

2020/21

Council Tax Base

90,099.3

88,614.3

118,423,817

122,284.176

1,314.37

1,379.96

3.99%

4.99%

Council Tax Requirement with Levy (£)
Basic Amount of Council Tax (£)
Increase in basic amount of Council Tax
(%)

Levy bodies for Lewisham

LPFA

2020/21

2021/22

Change

£

£

£

1,288,738

1,288,738

0

Lee Valley Regional Park

210,883

210,883

0

Environment Agency

201,262

201,262

0

1,700,883

0

Total Levies

1,700,883

The term “relevant basic amount of council tax” is defined in section 52ZX of the 1992 Act
(inserted as above and amended by section 41(1) and (9) to (13) of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014).

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 50
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

APPENDIX E - Chief Financial Officer’s Section 25 Statement

1.

This statement makes reference to the 2021/22 Budget Report to Mayor & Cabinet
circulated to all Members.

2.

Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Chief Financial Officer
(CFO) to report to an authority when it is making the statutory calculations required
to determine its Council Tax. The Authority is required to take the report into account
when making the calculations. The report must deal with the robustness of the
estimates, included in the budget and the adequacy of the reserves, for which the
budget provides. This Statement also reflects the requirements of CIPFA’s current
Local Authority Accounting Panel (LAAP) Bulletin 99 on ‘Local Authority Reserves
and Balances’.

3.

Section 114 of the Local Government Act 1988, requires the CFO to issue a report to
all the Local Authority members to be made by that officer, in consultation with the
monitoring officer and head of paid service, if there is or is likely to be unlawful
expenditure or an unbalanced budget.

Structure of the report
4.

This Statement seeks to outline:









The impact of COVID-19 and the ongoing financial risks it poses to the Council
The Medium Term Financial Strategy and future uncertainty of Local Government
Finances
The budget assumptions in the Council’s MTFS
Delivery risks of the cuts
Budget management, financial controls and systems
Capital programme and & Housing Revenue Account
Adequacy of reserves and provisions
Conclusion and opinion

Impact of COVID-19 and ongoing risks
5.

The impact of COVID has been devastating on individuals, on communities,
businesses and the economy. The financial impact has been significant and has put
the financial resilience of councils under stress. To date, the cost of COVID for
Lewisham is c£60m and rising. Government support has been provided on the costs
incurred through the emergency response and the Sales, Fees and Charges scheme
funds 75% of 95% eligible lost income against our budget position.

6.

Despite the financial support received from central government the effects felt by our
community and businesses will impact on the level of income we can both raise and
collect through Council Tax and Business rates next year.

7.

In response, officers have reduced our Council Tax base from a collectible amount of
97% to 95% on Council Tax and work will continue into next year to manage the
number of appeals from businesses and our collection rates. The number of working
age residents claiming Council Tax Support has increased from our expected levels
of 15,536 to 16,689.

8.

During 2020/21, the government has granted S31 relief payments to almost 50% of
our businesses amounting to £32m against our net collectible amount of £65m.
Concerns remain on the financial viability of those businesses receiving rate relief
and business closure grants as there is no confirmation at this stage the financial

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 51
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

support will continue. Through the creation of a newly established Economic
Development team the Council aims to provide agile support to support business
survival, building sustainable resilience through to sector led growth.
9.

Increased demand for the Council’s services to support hospital discharges and to
provide the homeless with accommodation is likely to continue into next financial
year.

10.

To mitigate the risks above, officers have considered the potential risks in our
Medium Term Financial Strategy and have made a series of assumptions based on
the best available information available.

11.

The full financial impact of COVID is still very much unknown. To date, central
government has announced a one-off £10m COVID grant to fund costs for next year,
and has extended the Sales, Fees and Charges support scheme into the first quarter
of 21/22. Officers have set this money aside in full to respond to the potential
continuation of the pandemic into 21/22. Through close monitoring and accurate
forecasting of this funding, we will continue to inform MHCLG of the ongoing financial
pressures faced by the Council so our COVID related direct costs are recognised
and Lewisham is sufficiently compensated. The indirect costs of COVID, the impact
on the economy, the potential job losses when the furlough schemes ends remain a
concern but the council will be providing support through our Council Tax Support
scheme where required.

Medium Term financial strategy and future uncertainty of Local Government
Finances
12.

Since 2010, the Council has made savings in excess of £190m. The Financial
Stabilisation budget reported to Mayor & Cabinet in September 2020 set out the
Medium Term Financial (MTFS) for 2021/22 to 23/24 with a budget gap over £40m
plus a £10m to recognise the recurring overspends in a number of service areas. Of
the £50m plus cuts target, £34m fell in year one of the MTFS period.

13.

The provisional Local Government Settlement announced on the 17th December
2020, reduced the funding gap for next year from £34m to £28m. However, over 86%
of the Council’s Core Spending Power increase is through increasing local taxation,
a regressive tax that disproportionately affects our lower paid residents. This has
been recognised in the Council’s Equalities Impact Assessment and will be mitigated
through providing Council Tax Support, Welfare Support, Discretionary Housing
Payments including other forms of support where applicable.

14.

To address the scale of the financial challenge, the Council’s Executive Management
Team (EMT) has adopted a themed approach to identify cuts, savings, income
generation proposals through the lens of collaborative, moving away from the
traditional siloed approach to the cuts process. Each EMT member led a specific
theme with cross-cutting council wide initiatives being identified.

15.

Following a series of scrutiny committees throughout Autumn 2020 to January 2021
to consider the proposed cuts in two rounds, officers have put forward proposals of
£41.663m in total, broken down into £28.016m for 2021/22, £10.410m for 2022/23
and £3.237m for 23/24. The cuts will fully enable the Council to set a balanced
budget for 21/22 with a gap of circa £9m in the remaining 2 years of the MTFS.

16.

As with 20/21, the Treasury and MHCLG have announced a one year settlement and
have delayed the Fair Funding Review, the business rates reset, longer term
changes to social care to 22/23 at the earliest. Our MTFS assumes some changes to
the Settlement Funding Assessment in years 2 & 3 but are based on our best
estimates as opposed to any certainty on our funding position.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 52
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

17.

Following 10 years of austerity, over 70% of the Council’s expenditure is now spent
on Public Health and Adult’s and Children’s social care. This makes future cuts
processes increasingly difficult as universal services, organisational capacity on HR,
ICT & Digital, Finance, procurement and effective contract management will bear a
disproportionate impact of future cuts. The budget process for 21/22 has begun to
address this as the Council made demand management reductions for both Adult
and Children’s social care.

Budget assumptions
18.

For financial planning purposes in the budget, the Council anticipates an average
inflation of 1.5% per annum for non-pay costs and 2% for pay costs, which equates
to approximately £4m for both pay and non-pay costs.

19.

COVID has brought about many changes in our working practices and has in many
ways improved the productivity of our workforce. As such the pay inflation of £7m for
year 1 & 2 of the MTFS has been put forward as a cut with officers managing a
vacancy factor in their budgets of c5%. This is not dissimilar an approach to many
other councils and is achievable through managing the recruitment process, holding
vacancies, addressing staff sickness and tackling performance issues.

20.

Contract inflation will be carefully managed through creating a better contract
management approach across the Council, creating a Community of Practice
approach of sharing good practice, encouraging officers to adopt a commercial mind
set when negotiating with our suppliers.

Budget risks, delivery of cuts
21.

It will be essential that the Council is able to deliver the cuts proposed over the
MTFS, with the focus on ensuring the undelivered cuts in 2020/21 of £7m (out of
£16.6m) is delivered alongside the proposed cuts of £28m for 2021/22.

22.

The proposed cuts will address both the £18m base budget reduction required and
the £10m in persistent overspend in order to ensure a balanced budget is set for
2021/22. In addition to this the MTFS for 2021/22 sets aside a further £6.5m for
budget pressures and risks. To this it is recommended the saving of £1.5m is added
from reduced contributions required to the London concessionary fares scheme as a
result of reduced demand through 2020/21. In addition, it is recommended that the
£2.339m of additional social care grant (on top of the £8.434m received in 2020/21
and continuing for 2021/22) be used to address current pressures. These actions
will provide £10.339m to be allocated to selected budget pressure and growth areas
that will present as challenges in future budgets if not corrected.

23.

In terms of accounting for these, it is proposed that these investments and pressures
are allocated in line with the decisions of this budget from the corporate risk and
pressures monies and £3.5m from the Social Care precept to the relevant
Directorates when determining their cash limits for 2020/21.

24.

To fund the costs outlined above officers have added the NHB of £2.652m, lower tier
baseline grant of £0.700m, and corporate items to support one-off pressures
identified as needing funding in 2021/22.

25.

Using cash budgets (in particular grants such as the Social Care Grant) presents a
risk for future years although the medium planning assumptions are that this level of
funding for 2021/22 from government is in recognition of the pressures faced by local
authorities and will effectively form the baseline pending fair funding review.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 53
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

26.

The budget pressures anticipated in 2021/22 have been reviewed and it is
recommended that the following identified pressures are funded now, set against the
Corporate Strategy priorities. These exclude pressures associated with services
experiencing persistent overspends as these have been addressed via the cuts
process.

27.

The Chief Executive and the Executive Director of Corporate Resources are working
on creating and instilling a culture of accountability and ownership of the cuts
process and work is already underway to RAG rate the proposals and directors are
being asked to provide “delivery action plans” to outline “how” and “when” the cuts
will be implemented and key milestones for success.

28.

Investment will be made in creating a Project Management Office (PMO) that will
create capacity to support the delivery of proposals that are complex and/or crosscutting.

29.

Officer capacity on the delivery of budget cuts will continue to be stretched as often
the same officers will be vital in support of the Council’s emergency response during
the Pandemic. At present, it is unclear how quickly and how effective the vaccines
will begin to contain the outbreak allowing for the Council to slowly return to the “new
normal”.

30.

The longer term financial impact of COVID cannot be quantified in full at this stage.
However, it is more than likely to create additional pressures on the cost of the
services we provide and increase the complexity of support required of our
vulnerable residents. There has been a marked increase in children with Special
Educational Needs and Disabilities and those requiring an Education, Health and
Care Plan (EHCP) by 35% comparing 2020/21 to 2017/18 (2,947 in 2020/21 versus
2,179 in 2017/18). The wider economic impact of COVID, the effect it’ll have on our
residents and our businesses will no doubt put a large proportion of the income we
collect at risk. Knowing what these risks are, we will ensure a responsible approach
to debt management and intervening early to enforce debts fairly, agreeing payment
plans were necessary.

Budget management, financial control & systems
31.

To increase budget manager accountability, directors and heads of service will be
asked to sign off their budgets for next year with the aim to instilling the culture of
budget ownership across the Council. All budget managers will be asked to contain
their expenditure within the available funding envelope.

32.

The delivery risks to the savings will be managed closely by Finance and where
there are delays to the implementation, this will be communicated clearly to the
responsible directors so that mitigating actions are put forward or alternative
proposals are progressed with. Financial management information will be reported in
a timely manner so budget managers are able to redress an adverse forecast at the
earliest opportunity.

33.

During 2020/21, in order to contain the significant overspend forecast in the Council,
Spending Controls were introduced in October 2020 with only directors being
authorise spend up to £5,000 and executive directors authorising spend over £5,000.
Recruitment approvals were also introduced with all requests requiring authorisation
by executive directors. The Council’s financial systems and the spend authorisation
limits were adjusted to reflect these financial controls on Oracle. This position is
being reviewed carefully and is likely to continue until the Council’s forecast
overspend is significantly reduced.

34.

A review of the system is required to improve the quality of the financial management
information so it is accessible and easy to understand. This should further encourage

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 54
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

a budget manager self-service approach to financial management and support
ownership and accountability.
35.

The 2021/22 Budget identified an extra £10m to address a number of historic service
related overspends that will applied to the relevant service budgets but the Council
must fully deliver the £28m of cuts for 2021/22 as well as implement the 20/21 cuts
of £7m that remain undelivered to date. This equates to over £35m of cuts to be
implemented during 21/22. In addition, services must contain emerging demand led
pressures within their financial envelope. Adopting a programme management office
approach will create delivery capacity for the directors to mitigate some of this risk.

Capital Programme & Housing Revenue Account
36.

The Council’s three year capital programme for 2021/22 – 2023/24 is budgeted at
£556.3m. The programme is fully funded through a combination of reserves, capital
receipts, grant and borrowing.

37.

There are no changes to the General Fund capital programme, the HRA capital
programme will be increasing by more than £50m which will be more than double the
annual budget for works next year. This now includes an amendment to increase the
general capital and decent homes programme line by £38.8m in 2021/22 (£31.6m to
£70.4m) to reflect the priorities arising from the conclusion of the stock condition
survey. Delivery risk aside, the cost of borrowing an additional £78m is estimated to
be £45m-£50m over the life of the loan and savings will be identified in the HRA to
offset this cost, specifically there is a commitment to reduce the annual R&M budget
in 2021/22 by £1m. Further investment will be required for essential resident and fire
safety works.

38.

The Council maintains its ambitious Building for Lewisham Programme focused on
providing the much needed increase supply of new social and affordable homes.
These plans, their scale, and the complexity of delivering such a programme add
significant new risk to the Council’s finances.

39.

In respect of the capital works these are managed scheme by scheme. Officers
review required funding (be it from capital receipts, grant support, or borrowing)
quarterly and updated projections are reported regularly to Mayor & Cabinet.

Adequacy of Reserves & Provisions
40.

In setting this budget, the Council will maintain a level of corporate balances and
reserves which should be adequate to deal with any risk associated with the delivery
of this budget. The Chief Financial Officer recommends that the un-earmarked
reserves are held at the current level of £20.0m. Should the need arise to call upon
these reserves during the year, consideration should be given to replenish them as
soon as possible.

41.

In addition, the Council held Specific Earmarked Reserves which totalled £66m at
the end of March 2020 (£57m at March 2019) plus £24m for schools. These funds
are earmarked for various future planned spending and to undertake one-off projects
or work that does not happen every year. Examples include, the transformation fund,
redundancy provisions, elections, replacement of obsolete equipment and
contractual claims that may become due (e.g. dilapidations that may become
payable on properties we lease from the private sector to provide housing).

42.

Officers have maintained an extremely prudent approach to financial management
and have worked hard to ensure that reserves are maintained at an adequate level.
This helps to ensure the Council can remain resilient in the event of an unexpected
financial shock.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 55
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

43.

The graph below illustrates Lewisham’s position on reserves, relative to its London
borough counterparts:

Summary and conclusion
44.

Although there is much financial uncertainty ahead, the MTFS seeks to address
many of the risks known to the Council over a three year period.

45.

Furthermore, the financial plans and strategies have contributed to the achievement
of the Council’s corporate objectives to date and will continue to do so. Focus must
now be turned to the continual alignment of the MTFS to the 5 key principles that
underpin our Recovery programme.


Tackling widening social, economic and health inequalities;



Protecting and empowering our most vulnerable residents;



Ensuring the Council’s continued resilience, stability and sustainability;



Enabling residents to make the most of Lewisham the place; and



Collaborating and working together with our communities and partnership
across the borough.

46.

Work continues to improve the culture of budget ownership and accountability and
through better financial management and a programme management approach,
giving directors the support required to deliver the proposed cuts.

47.

Whilst the Council does currently have adequate reserves and an established
financial management regime, the ongoing delivery risks of the cuts and emerging
demand led pressures could unbalance this position. In the event that the Council
becomes heavily reliant on reserves to support either the setting of the budget or the
delivery of the budget, this will be addressed through robust medium term financial
planning as a matter of priority and spending controls will be re-introduced to contain
this position.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 56
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

48.

This budget is being set following more than 10 years of continued austerity for Local
Government. There are a number of risks to our financial position for not just next
year but in the medium term. However, through careful financial planning officers
have identified cuts of £28m that enables the Council to deliver a balanced budget
without the use of reserves in spite of the challenge.

Kathy Freeman – Executive director of Corporate Resources
Chief Financial officer – Section 151
February 2021

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 57
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Agenda Item 4
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for:
Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 X Part 2
Key Decision

X

C

Date of Meeting
Title of Report

10 February 2021

Originator of Report

Katharine Nidd, Strategic Procurement and Corporate
Resources Manager

Lewisham Modern Day Slavery Statement 2021-2022
Ext. 46651

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm that the
report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

No

X
X
X
X
X
X

Signed: Councillor Brenda Dacres
Cabinet Member for Safer Communities
Date: 2nd February, 2021

Signed:
Executive Director for Corporate Resources
Date: 2nd February 2021
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 58

c:\users\lreeves\appdata\local\microsoft\windows\inetcache\content.outlook\adk070zk\modern slavery 2021 sign off sheet 10feb21.doc

Date

Mayor and Cabinet
Report title: Lewisham Modern Day Slavery Statement 2021-2022
Date: 10th February 2021
Key decision: No.
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Katharine Nidd, Strategic Procurement and Corporate Resources Manager;
Daniel Stamp, Procurement and Contracts Manager; Teresa Hitchins, Procurement and
Commercial Services Manager; Carol Yorrick, HR Ops Manager; Councillor Brenda
Dacres, CM for Safer Communities

Outline and recommendations
The Modern Day Slavery Statement 2021-22 sets out the London Borough of Lewisham’s
commitment to the opposition of Modern Day Slavery and human trafficking and sets out
the role it plays as a public sector organisation, together with its partners, to drive the
identification, recognition, raising of awareness and disruption of this abhorrent crime. This
report sets out the impact and implications of Mayor and Cabinet approving the Modern
Day Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for 2021-22 and sets out changes the
Council will implement in an attempt to reduce and eradicate modern day slavery and
human trafficking in the Borough.

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
The previous iteration of the Borough’s Human Trafficking and Modern Day Slavery
Statement (2019-2020) was approved by Mayor and Cabinet on the 13 February 2019 and
then by Council at its meeting on 27 February 2019. It was planned that a new Modern Day
Slavery Statement for 2020-2021 would be written and implemented in early 2020. This was
unfortunately postponed due to the COVID-19 Pandemic and - as a result - the
recommendations for the financial year 2019-2020 have therefore carried over into the
duration of the calendar year 2020. This makes clear the need for a new Statement for
2021-22 to be reviewed and approved. That is the purpose of this report.

Page 59

1.

Summary

1.1.

This report sets out the London Borough of Lewisham’s second Modern Day Slavery
and Human Trafficking Statement which covers the period 2021-2022.

1.2.

Appended to this report is Lewisham’s Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking
Statement for 2021-2022 and the Lewisham Modern Slavery Protocol (which was
previously developed jointly with partners, is still in use and has helped to inform the
Modern Day Slavery Statement 2021-2022).

1.3.

Please refer to section 14 – Glossary – should any of the terms and/or acronyms
contained within this report become difficult to decipher or understand.

2.

Recommendations

2.1.

It is recommended that Mayor and Cabinet:

2.2.

Note the potential impact of the adoption of Lewisham’s Modern Day Slavery and
Human Trafficking Statement for 2021-2022 on current and future arrangements,
including with partners as set out in this Report and appendices;

2.3.

Approve the Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for 2021-2022
(see Section 12).

3.

Policy Context

3.1.

This report responds to Lewisham’s Corporate Strategy 2018-2022 by contributing
towards the delivery of the following five Corporate Priorities as outlined in the
Corporate Strategy:

3.2.

a)
1. Open Lewisham – Lewisham is a welcoming place of safety for all
where we celebrate the diversity that strengthens us.
b)
3. Giving children and young people the best start in life – Every child
has access to an outstanding and inspiring education and is given the support
they need to keep them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential.
c)
4. Building an inclusive local economy – Everyone can access high
quality job opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive
local economy.
d)
5. Delivery and defending – Health, Social Care and Support – Ensuring
everyone receives the health, mental health, social care and support services
then need.
e)
7. Building safer communities – Every resident feels safe and secure
living here as we work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime.

4.

Background

4.1.

Although slavery was abolished in the UK in 1833, there are more slaves today than
ever before in human history. Figures from the International Labour Organisation
suggest that there are more than 40 million people in modern day slavery across the
world, with nearly 25 million held in forced labour.

4.2.

In the year ending March 2019 there were 5,144 modern day slavery offences
recorded by the police in England and Wales, an increase of 51% from the previous
year. There were over 10,000 people referred to authorities in relation to modern day
slavery in 2019 and this number has been increasing year on year.

4.3.

Modern Day Slavery is happening nationwide. Traffickers and slave masters use
whatever means they have at their disposal to coerce, deceive and force individuals

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 60
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

into a life of abuse, servitude and inhumane treatment. This can include sexual and
criminal exploitation.
4.4.

The Council is committed to opposing modern day slavery and human trafficking. The
Council has demonstrated its duty towards this commitment by, in previous years,
writing and publishing a Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking Protocol and
signing up to the Co-operative Party Charter against Modern Slavery.

4.5.

The Co-operative Party Charter against Modern Slavery required the Council to pledge
to enact ten key commitments as part of its adoption. The Charter made necessary a
number of actions from the Council and many of these actions were considered and
addressed within the Modern Slavery Statement for 2018/19. A motion was passed at
full Council requesting that Mayor and Cabinet agree to signing the Co-operative Party
Charter on the 3 October 2018, this was agreed by Mayor and Cabinet on the 13
February 2019 as part of its approval of Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking
Statement for 2019-2020 and it was signed shortly after this time.

4.6.

The Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking Protocol outlined and defined Human
Trafficking and Modern Day Slavery - and provided information about Lewisham’s
approach, including the role of the Council in relation to:
a) Identification and referral of survivors of MDS and supporting them
b) Community Safety services and disruption activities;
c) Ensuring that the supply chains the Council procures from are free from MDS
d) The use of the National Referral Mechanism
e) Specific implications on regulatory services.

4.7.

This Protocol was subsequently expanded to support wider partnerships across the
Borough and supported through the Safer Lewisham Partnership, Safeguarding Adults
Board and Safeguarding Children’s Board. This Protocol also outlines Lewisham’s
status as a MDS first responder and that this enables us to approach anyone that we
believe to be affected by modern day slavery and/or trafficking and obtain their consent
to refer them, through the National Referral Mechanism, to the Police. In certain
circumstances an incident of Modern Day Slavery could lead to termination of a
contract, because the Procurement Code of Practice requires compliance with Modern
Day Slavery requirements and is incorporated into our contracts. Consideration is also
given to the potential for whistleblowing activities and matters concerning suppliers’
supply chains to assist in the uncovering of Modern Day Slavery. One way in which the
Council seeks to prevent MDS in its supply chains is by asking relevant commercial
organisations tendering for Council contracts whether they are compliant with the
annual reporting requirements contained within Section 54 the Modern Slavery Act
2015. The issue of adherence to the Council’s principles and practices with regards to
the identification and eradication of human trafficking and modern slavery (as set out in
each annual Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement) should then be
raised at subsequent contract management meetings as part of the Council’s contract
monitoring arrangements.

4.8.

In addition to the above, the Council has sought to publish regular Modern Day Slavery
Statements, last doing so in February 2019. This process was disrupted by the COVID19 Pandemic in 2020, nonetheless, in publishing this statement for 2021-22 the
Council clearly sets out the role it plays as a public sector organisation, together with
its partners, to drive the identification, recognition, raising of awareness and disruption
of this abhorrent crime.

4.9.

Lewisham Council is clear about its zero tolerance approach to modern day slavery
and human trafficking in all its forms. The Council will use all avenues open to it using
proportionate and appropriate measures through its statutory powers, its role as a

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 61
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

procurer of supplies and services, its role as an employer, and its role as critical
partner and influencer of other public sector bodies such as the Police, health, fire
service and voluntary sector bodies.
4.10.

These avenues include the use of policy, practice and statutory intervention, all of
which have differing impacts on both the ability to disrupt and reduce this activity, but
changes to policy and practice can have wider financial and legal implications. One
example of this in action is the commitment in Lewisham’s Corporate Strategy 2018-22
that: “We will work to eliminate modern slavery from our supply chain, by requiring all
companies who get public funding or contracts from the Council to comply with our
modern slavery statement” and the way that this commitment has increased Lewisham
Council’s focus on the issues of Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking.

5.

Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement

5.1.

As set out in the Statement, the Council is itself not legally obliged to publish a
statement on modern slavery and human trafficking under the Modern Slavery Act
2015. As a public sector body, however, the Council has powers which allow it to act in
the way set out in this report. For example, it is legally required to operate in ways that
are compatible with the Human Rights Act 1998; it can use its role in setting policy and
practice; its role as a procurer of supplies and services; its role as an employer; and its
role as critical partner and influencer of other public sector bodies such as the Police,
health, fire service and voluntary sector bodies. Those tools will be used in a
proportionate and appropriate manner. Accordingly this report sets out the proposed
approach and the wider implications including financial and legal issues.

5.2.

The rights under this Act include the right for people to be free from slavery and forced
labour. The Council will of course take steps which will help deliver that outcome,
including using the tools available to it to ensure contractors comply with legislative
requirements such as the Modern Slavery Act 2015 where those apply to the
contractor, and complying with its duty to notify the Home Office of any individual
encountered in England and Wales who it is believed is a suspected victim of slavery
or human trafficking.

5.3.

Publishing this statement – and taking the actions contained within it helps the Council
deliver those outcomes. The London Borough of Lewisham’s Modern Day Slavery and
Human Trafficking Statement 2021-2022 therefore outlines the principles, policies,
recruitment practice, procurement practice and actions to be taken to ensure that there
is no modern day slavery or human trafficking within the organisation. While
acknowledging that the Council itself is not bound by the Act, the Statement is aligned
with the approach set out in the Act.

5.4.

The Act suggests that a slavery and human trafficking statement for a financial year is
a statement of the steps the organisation has taken during the financial year to ensure
that slavery and human trafficking is not taking place:

5.5.

a)

In any of its supply chains, and

b)

In any part of its own business

It further states that an organisation’s slavery and human trafficking statement may
include information about:
a)

The organisation’s structure, its business and its supply chains;

b)

Its policies in relation to slavery and human trafficking;

c)

Its due diligence processes in relation to slavery and human trafficking
in its business and supply chains;

d)

The parts of its business and supply chains where there is a risk of

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 62
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

slavery and human trafficking taking place, and the steps it has taken to
assess and manage that risk;

5.6.

e)

Its effectiveness in ensuring that slavery and human trafficking is not
taking place in its business or supply chains, measured against such
performance indicators as it considers appropriate;

f)

The training about modern day slavery and human trafficking that is
available to its staff members.

Lewisham Council is clear about its zero tolerance approach to modern day slavery in
all its forms and is committed to ensuring that there is no modern slavery or human
trafficking in any part of the organisation. Furthermore, the Council will use all avenues
open to it to seek to eradicate this crime from the Borough. These include:
a)

The use of proportionate and appropriate measures through our
statutory powers

b)

Setting supplier standards via Procurement in our role as a procurer of
supplies, services and works.

c)

Taking, where necessary, direct action in our role as an employer

d)

Influencing others, in our role as critical partner to a number of public
sector bodies such as health, fire and police services - as well as
voluntary sector bodies.

5.7.

We will deliver our commitments by taking steps to manage and mitigate risk at all
levels within both the procurement process and throughout the life of the contracts we
award. In this new modern day slavery and human trafficking statement for the year
2021/22 the Council clearly sets out the steps it has taken towards this aim as well as
its ambitions for the year ahead and how these will further hinder the ability for
traffickers and the beneficiaries of modern day slavery to operate within our Borough.

5.8.

Our developing priorities and action areas for next year, as committed to in Lewisham’s
Modern Day Slavery Statement 2021/22, are:

5.9.

1)

Improving protection and support for Modern Day Slavery survivors

2)

Encouraging suppliers to consider their Modern Day Slavery obligations

3)

Increasing the uptake of additional Modern Day Slavery training

4)

Growing our work with the Human Trafficking Foundation

5)

Embedding Modern Day Slavery visibility in our quotes and tenders

6)

Undertaking supplier SMETA Audits on procurements with a higher
supply chain risk for Modern Day Slavery

Our focus on these action areas will feed into the project to help us deliver the following
10 specific commitments to combat Modern Day Slavery in Lewisham:
1a)
Reviewing and updating Lewisham's Modern Day Slavery Protocol as
well as including a complimentary 'best practice' one pager for how the Council
and partners can support survivors.
1b)
Developing and promoting a short, accessible information sheet for
residents and practitioners outlining how they should proceed and who to contact
when they have concerns about a person. Encouraging suppliers to consider
their Modern Day Slavery obligations
2a)
Ensuring that Modern Day Slavery is covered in pre-contract meetings
and that all bespoke contracts include relevant MDS clauses. MDS and supply

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 63
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

chain risk will then form the basis of discussion for contract management/
monitoring meetings on an annual basis.
2b)
Challenging abnormally low tenders and advising suppliers that their
MDS statements should include the right to freedom of association and collective
bargaining as advised by UNISON.
3a)
Delivering extra capacity for additional training on Modern Day Slavery
to be made available to officers and partners who might encounter victims of
modern day slavery. This is in order for the London Borough of Lewisham to
improve identification, increase general awareness of Modern Day Slavery risk
factors and highlight pathways for support more widely across the Council.
4a)
Broadening the remit of our engagement with the Human Trafficking
Foundation (HTF) by exploring how the two Officers being trained as MDS
trainers by HTF can further deepen our ties. We are currently compiling a list of
service area champions on Modern Slavery and are therefore committed to
discussions with HTF to find out how else they can increase our output in this
area and provide supply chain transparency to attempt to combat MDS wherever
it may appear.
5a)
Looking to expand upon the MDS questions we already ask in above
threshold tenders by similarly embedding these questions in the process for
procuring low value contracts.
5b)
Including a further, mandatory ITT question within above threshold
tenders asking suppliers what specific actions they have taken - or will take - to
combat Modern Day Slavery in their work.
6a)
Guaranteeing that our Sustainable Procurement Strategy for 2021-2025
(which is currently being written) will contain a section focusing on the eradication
of MDS from our supply chains.
6b)
Committing to undertaking Sedex SMETA, which are audits of suppliers
and their supply chains, on procurements in areas with a greater risk of Human
Trafficking and Modern Day Slavery.
5.10.

These are our ambitions for next year and linked to them are a number of targeted
commitments against which our progress can be monitored and measured. We expect
to be able to implement the vast majority, if not all of these, due to the current
appropriate level of resourcing within the procurement team. The pace of delivery may
be impacted by the ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and this could similarly
have an effect on the ability of some of our partners to engage with the programme.
This sole concern aside, however, we fully expect that the final version of these targets
will reflect a programme that has been fully - or almost fully - delivered and
implemented come the end of 2021/22.

6.

Financial implications

6.1.

There are no specific financial implications at this stage. The work set out in the report
will be carried out within existing budgets.

7.

Legal implications

7.1.

This report seeks Mayor and Cabinet approval for the Modern Day Slavery and Human
Trafficking Statement for 2021-2022. Various legal issues need to be taken into
account.

7.2.

The overall point is that the proposals in the Statement have been designed so that
they reflect both the legal obligation on certain contractors to comply with the
obligations and principles of the Modern Slavery Act 2015; and the Council’s strategic

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 64
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

direction that those principles should be applied by contractors, and by others to whom
the obligations of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 do not apply. Such an approach,
taking into account specific issues relevant to the contract / contractor involved is less
likely to be potentially unlawful or subject to challenge. Further legal issues to be taken
into account in this decision are set out below.
7.3.

Modern Slavery Act 2015:
As set out in the Statement, the Council is itself not legally obliged to publish a
statement on modern slavery and human trafficking under the Modern Slavery Act
2015. However, as a public sector body the Council is legally required to operate in
ways that are compatible with the Human Rights Act 1998. The rights under this Act
include the right for people to be free from slavery and forced labour. It is, of course,
lawful to require contractors to comply with legislative requirements such as the
Modern Slavery Act 2015 where those apply to the contractor. The Council also has a
duty to notify the Home Office of any individual encountered in England and Wales who
it is believed is a suspected victim of slavery or human trafficking. Publishing this
statement – and taking the actions contained within it helps the Council to fulfil these
duties. Where the Act does not apply to the contractor, wider issues such as those set
out below may also need to be considered.

7.4.

General powers and decision making:
The Council has a general power of competence contained in the Localism Act 2011.
General decision making principles require consideration of all relevant matters,
including financial impacts and the Council’s fiduciary duty to council tax payers.

7.5.

Best value:
The Council has a duty to obtain best value in the procurement of works, services and
supplies and to secure continuous improvement in the way functions are carried out,
having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness (Local
Government Act 1999). This means that when procuring contracts the Council must,
on a case by case basis, weigh up the costs of the contract against the benefits of the
particular relevant issue.

7.6.

‘Non-commercial’ matters:
Some matters are irrelevant considerations and may not be considered in a
procurement or contract process. That applies to ‘political’ matters which are defined
as ‘non-commercial’. Authorities are prohibited from having regard to these in the
contractual process, which would include new procurements and changes to existing
contracts (Local Government Act 1988).

7.7.

‘Special’ considerations (which can include ‘economic, innovation-related,
environmental, social or employment-related’ matters) can be taken into account when
deciding on awarding a contract but only where they are ‘linked to the subject-matter of
the contract’ (Public Contracts Regulations 2015 Regulation 70, as amended).
Employment / workforce matters are not ‘non-commercial’ to the extent that they are
relevant to the achievement of best value (Local Government Act 1999 s. 19), and
requiring compliance by contractors with their legal obligations will also not be ‘noncommercial’ (such as requiring compliance with the Modern Slavery Act 2015, where it
is applicable).

7.8.

In taking this decision, the Council’s public sector equality duty must be taken into
account. It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability, gender
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion
or belief, sex and sexual orientation. In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of
its functions, have due regard to the need to: eliminate unlawful discrimination,

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 65
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Act; advance
equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those
who do not; and foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.
7.9.

It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment,
victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or foster
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed above.
The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision
and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for Mayor and Cabinet,
bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. Mayor and Cabinet must
understand the impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected
characteristics who are potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will
necessarily vary from case to case and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in
all the circumstances.

7.10.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has issued Technical Guidance
on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance. The Council must have
regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that
are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found on the EHRC website.

8.

Equalities implications

8.1.

The Council’s Comprehensive Equality Scheme provides an overarching framework
and focus for the Council’s work on equalities and helps to ensure compliance with the
Equality Act 2010. The adoption of this statement, and all activity taken subsequent to
this, will be compatible with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 and our duties
within this Act to promote equality as a public body.

9.

Climate change and environmental implications

9.1.

Lewisham’s Modern Day Slavery Statement for 2021-2022 has no direct climate
change and environmental implications in terms of how this Statement will interact with
the Borough.

9.2.

It’s worth noting here, however, that as the current climate emergency continues to
worsen, the number of people being trafficked is unlikely to decrease. The Institute for
Economics and Peace recently said that that around 1.2 billion people face becoming
Climate Refugees within the next 30 years as the climate crisis and rapid population
growth drive an increase in migration. It is unfortunately inevitable, therefore, that some
of this population of vulnerable people in migrating populations will find themselves at
an increased risk of becoming a victim of human trafficking.

10.

Crime and disorder implications

10.1.

The Council must consider how its activity can prevent crime and disorder in the
borough. The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a duty on local authorities to identify
community safety implications in all our activities. One of the key areas of focus in this
statement is the aim to increase information sharing between the Council and agencies
such as anti-trafficking charities and organisations such as Unseen.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 66
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

10.2.

Increased communication and information sharing could potentially lead to an increase
in sites of concern with regard to Modern Day Slavery being communicated to the
Police – and this may have implications in terms of increased policing of this abhorrent
crime – and as a result, reduced incidences of this crime, as well as a reduction of fear
of this crime within the community.

11.

Health and wellbeing implications

11.1.

Lewisham’s Modern Day Slavery Statement 2021-2022 will have a direct impact on the
health, mental health and wellbeing of anyone affected by the scourge of Modern Day
Slavery as it seeks to eradicate modern day slavery and human trafficking in the
Borough.

11.2.

The Council’s Modern Day Slavery Statement for 2021-2022 seeks to increase
information sharing with agencies, such as anti-trafficking organisations like Unseen
and the Human Trafficking Foundation and empower anti-trafficking survivors. It could
be the case that this will lead to an increase in demand for access to health and social
care services from survivors.

12.

Background papers

12.1.

Lewisham’s Modern Day Slavery Protocol has informed the writing of this report as well
as Lewisham’s Modern Day Slavery Statement for 2021-2022. Both documents are
attached below:

2021-22 Lewisham
Lewisham Modern
Day
Slaveryv1.3.docx
Protocol February 2019.pdf
Modern Day Slavery Statement

13.

Glossary

13.1.

A table of definitions from this report is included below:

Term

Definition

Human Trafficking

Human trafficking is the movement of people by means such
as force, fraud, coercion or deception, with the aim of
exploiting them. It is a form of modern slavery.

Modern Day Slavery Act 2015

The Modern Slavery Act 2015 is an Act of the Parliament of
the United Kingdom. It is designed to combat modern slavery
in the UK and consolidates previous offences relating to
trafficking and slavery.

Sedex SMETA

A Sedex (Supplier Ethical Data Exchange) SMETA - which
stands for Sedex Members' Ethical Trade Audit - is an audit of
a supplier site based on their organisation’s standards of
labour, health and safety, environment and business ethics.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 67
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Term

Definition

Lewisham Council’s
Comprehensive Equality
Scheme

Climate Refugees

This is the Council’s statement of strategic equality objectives
and a framework through which elected officials, officers and
the public can assess and evaluate the equality impact of
strategic planning and service delivery. It is a vehicle through
which the Council can demonstrate its compliance with the
Equality Act 2010.
Climate refugees are a subset of environmental migrants
forced to flee their country of residence due to sudden or
gradual alterations in the natural environment related to at
least one of the three impacts of climate change: sea-level
rise, extreme weather events, and drought and water scarcity.

14.

Report author and contact

14.1.

Katharine Nidd, 020 8314 6651, Katharine.Nidd@lewisham.gov.uk

15.

Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for
Corporate Resources

15.1.

Kathy Freeman, Kathy.Freeman@lewisham.gov.uk

16.

Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law,
Governance and HR

16.1.

Please see the Legal Implications above.

16.2.

Stephanie Fleck, 0208 314 9968, Stephanie.Fleck@lewisham.gov.uk

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 68
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Page 69

Page 70

Page 71

Page 72

Page 73

Page 74

Page 75

Page 76

Page 77

Page 78

Agenda Item 5
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 x Part 2
Key Decision
Date of Meeting
Title of Report

10/02/21

Originator of Report

Fenella Beckman, Director of Housing

x

x

Lease arrangement with Lewisham Homes for Next
Steps Accommodation
Ext.

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm
that the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

No

x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Signed:
Cllr Paul Bell Cabinet Member for Housing
Date: 2nd February 2021
Signed :
Kevin Sheehan Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm
Date: 2nd February 2021
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 79

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\3\5\7\ai00026753\$xslmacvk.doc

Date

KEY DECISION

Mayor and Cabinet

Report title: Lease arrangement with Lewisham Homes for Next
Steps Accommodation
Date: 10th February 2021
Key decision: Yes
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: Lewisham Central
Contributors: Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm, Director of
Corporate Resources, Director of Law, Governance & HR

Outline and recommendations
This report seeks to gain authority to lease the recently purchased building ‘The
Sydney Arms’ to Lewisham Homes should this be required for the purpose of providing
housing management services at the property to support rough sleepers to move into
long term, sustainable accommodation.
It is recommended that the Mayor and Cabinet:


Agree to delegate authority to the Executive Director of Housing,
Regeneration and Public Realm, in consultation with the Director of Law,
Governance & HR, to grant a lease of the Sydney Arms to Lewisham Homes
Limited should this be required and to agree the final terms of the lease and
all associated documentation.

Page 80

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
11 November 2020

M&C approval for Lewisham Council to acquire the Sydney Arms

1.

Summary

1.1.

The Sydney Arms, a building in the Central Lewisham Ward which comprises 16 units
of accommodation, was purchased using GLA grant funding acquired following a
successful bid application to the ‘Rough Sleeper Accommodation Programme’.

1.2.

The accommodation will be used to support rough sleepers to move into long term,
sustainable accommodation. The building is owned by the Council and will benefit from
the income received as well as from the saving on expensive nightly paid temporary
accommodation.

1.3.

On 11 November 2020 authorisation was given by Mayor and Cabinet to proceed with
the purchase of the property. The building was successfully purchased on the 27th
January 2021. Necessary building works are commencing in early February 2021.

1.4.

The Council and the GLA are currently in the final stages of entering into contract.

1.5.

The GLA grant conditions require the property to be occupied by 1st April 2021. The
purchase of the building has successfully completed sooner than anticipated, and the
works required are less extensive than initially anticipated. Therefore the building can
come into use sooner than the 1st April, subject to the finalisation of the management
arrangements and completion of necessary works.

1.6.

As the Council’s lead partner for affordable housing, Lewisham Homes are best placed
to manage the letting and tenancy management of these properties, alongside carrying
out repairs for residents.

1.7.

The report seeks delegated authority to agree the final terms and enter into a lease with
Lewisham Homes for the Sydney Arms should this be required. It is necessary to request
this authority from Mayor and Cabinet now in advance of knowing whether a lease will
be required if the Council is to meet the deadline of 1st April to bring the building into use.

2.

Recommendations

2.1.

It is recommended that the Mayor and Cabinet:

2.2.

Agree to delegate authority to the Executive Director of Housing, Regeneration and
Public Realm, in consultation with the Director of Law, Governance & HR, to grant a
lease of the Sydney Arms to Lewisham Homes Limited should this be required and to
agree the final terms of the lease and all associated documentation.

Page 81

3.

Policy Context

3.1.

The Council’s Corporate Strategy (2018-2022)[1] outlines the Councils vision to deliver
for residents over the next four years. Building on Lewisham’s historic values of fairness,
equality and putting our community at the heart of everything we do, the Council will
create deliverable policies underpinned by a desire to promote vibrant communities,
champion local diversity and promote social, economic and environmental sustainability.
Delivering this strategy includes the following priority outcomes that relate to the
provision of new affordable homes:


3.2.

Building an Inclusive Economy – Ensuring every resident can access high-quality job
opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local economy.



3.3.

Building Safer Communities – Ensuring every resident feels safe and secure living
here as we work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime.

Lewisham’s Housing Strategy 2020-26, which is being considered by Mayor and
Cabinet, also contains the following priorities that are met by this report.




4.

Tackling the Housing Crisis – Providing a decent and secure home for everyone.

Delivering the homes that Lewisham needs.
Preventing homelessness and meeting housing need.
Supporting our residents to live safe, independent and active lives.

Background
Housing Context

4.1.

The demand for housing assistance in Lewisham has increased in recent years and
remains substantial. This is being driven by:






A lack of genuinely affordable homes and a decline in the available social homes for
let;
A severe shortage of available properties at LHA where the landlord is willing to let
to homeless, largely benefit dependent, claimants;
The increasing cost of the private rented sector (PRS) and an increasing reliance on
the PRS;
Welfare reform, including the freezing of local housing allowance (LHA) until 2018.

4.2.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has also brought about a change in demand,
with an increased need for accommodation to assist rough sleepers.

4.3.

As a result of these pressures, the council has rapidly expanded the amount of temporary
accommodation it has sourced to meet the needs of homeless households. As at the
end of September 2020, almost 2,500 households were in TA arranged by Lewisham, of

[1]

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s61022/Draft%20Corporate%20Strategy
%202018-2022.pdf

Page 82

which 760 households were in nightly paid accommodation. This is the most expensive
and insecure form of temporary accommodation.
4.4.

The council has spent £109m on temporary accommodation between 2016/17 and
2019/20, of which £9.7m was net expenditure. These unrecoverable costs are largely
driven by the use of nightly paid accommodation.

4.5.

To tackle the increase in demand, improve quality and drive down costs the council has
embarked on a number of work programmes. These include:
 An expanded homelessness prevention service delivering an increased rate of
successful preventions;
 The acquisition of homes for use as temporary accommodation by the council and
by our partners;
 The development of new social homes and temporary accommodation through our
Building for Lewisham programme;
 The continued procurement of properties for use as temporary accommodation or to
permanently resettle households.

4.6.

However, the structural drivers of homelessness remain in place and as such demand
remains substantial. This opportunity allows the authority to expand the provision of
much needed, high quality, in-borough temporary accommodation for some of our most
vulnerable residents.
Background to the GLA grant: Rough Sleeper Accommodation Programme

4.7.

In 2020 the GLA was successful in securing £57.8m capital and £8.9m revenue funding
from central government to deliver new accommodation for rough sleepers under the
‘Rough Sleeper Accommodation Programme – RSAP’.

4.8.

London authorities were invited to bid for capital funding from this fund to assist in the
acquisition and development of buildings into longer term move-on accommodation for
rough sleepers and revenue funding to support those accommodated. The programme
is targeted at those rough sleepers who were supported during the Covid-19 pandemic.

4.9.

Lewisham Council was successful in a bid to acquire and refurbish the Sydney Arms, a
16 bed property in Lewisham Central ward. The grant funding was awarded in full and
the Council and the GLA are currently in the final stages of entering into contract.

4.10.

There are a number of conditions to the grant, including: ensuring that the units are
occupied by April 1st 2021; increasing the bathroom to shared room ration to 1:2 within
the building; maintaining rents at London Affordable Rents (LAR); and the nature of the
tenancies that can be offered.

4.11.

The accommodation will be for rough sleepers with a Lewisham connection who were
supported during the Covid-19 lockdown. An additional revenue grant was also
awarded to provide an outreach support worker, who will work with residents to support
them into longer term accommodation.

5.

Acquisition, Refurbishment and Management
Acquisition and refurbishment

5.1.

Further to the agreement by Mayor and Cabinet to purchase The Sydney Arms, the

Page 83

building was successfully purchased on the 27th January 2021. The property has been
purchased vacant and ready for occupation. The property comprises 8 x 1 bed selfcontained units and 2 x 4 HMO units.
5.2.

Minor works are required to bring all the units to a lettable standard. In addition, works
are being undertaken in February 2021 to add two additional bathrooms to the shared
accommodations area. This will bring the bathroom to room ratio to 1:2. This
requirement forms part of the GLA grant conditions.

5.3.

The GLA grant conditions are still being finalised. The units will be used for individuals
with a Lewisham connection who have been rough sleeping, and who will be supported
into long term sustainable affordable accommodation. The rents for the units will be
London Affordable Rents in line with the conditions of the grant.
Management and lease arrangements

5.4.

As the Council’s ALMO and lead partner for affordable housing, Lewisham Homes are
best placed to manage the letting and tenancy management of these properties,
alongside carrying out repairs for residents.

5.5.

As outlined in 5.3, the GLA grant conditions are still being finalised. It may be
necessary to grant a lease of the property to Lewisham Homes should assured
shorthold tenancies be required under the GLA grant funding conditions or,
alternatively if in discussion with Lewisham Homes it is decided that this is the most
effective way of enabling them to manage the property on the Council’s behalf. As a
local authority, the Council is legally unable to issue this form of tenancy agreement.
However, there is nothing to prevent Lewisham Homes being able to issue them.

5.6.

This report therefore recommends that a lease is granted to Lewisham Homes for the
16 units contained within the property. If it is required, the terms of the lease will be
agreed with Lewisham Homes under the authority delegated by this report. Lewisham
Homes will then let the units to the households identified by the Council. If it is not
required, the lease will not be granted and the Council will let the units directly,
although Lewisham Homes will carry out the operational management.

5.7.

It is intended that any lease to Lewisham Homes will be cost neutral for Lewisham
Homes with Lewisham Homes being entitled to deduct its management costs and the
cost of repairs for which it is responsible from the rental income. Any shortfall and the
costs of any repairs for which Lewisham Homes is not responsible will be met by the
Council.

6.

Financial implications

6.1.

The report seeks Mayor and Cabinet approval to the leasing of Sydney Arms, 122
Lewisham Road, SE13 7NL to Lewisham Homes Limited and delegate authority to the
Executive Director of Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm, in consultation with the
Director of Law, to agree the final terms and all associated documentation.

6.2.

These units are held as Temporary accommodation, and falls to be accounted for with
the councils General Fund. As agreed by Mayor and Cabinet, prudential borrowing will
be undertaken to supplement the grant receipt to finance the purchase and
refurbishment of the accommodation. The financial model used to assess the
development produced a positive position based on the GLA grant award and a rent
level at London Affordable Rent (LAR).

6.3.

The borrowing costs would need to be paid back over the term of the loan (with
interest) from the lease rent received.

Page 84

6.4.

It is proposed that the operational management of the residential units is carried out by
Lewisham Homes. As noted in this report, Lewisham Homes, as the Council’s lead
partner for affordable housing, are best placed to manage the letting and tenancy
management of Sydney Arms, alongside carrying out repairs for residents

6.5.

Whilst the lease agreement has to be formally decided, it should be noted that a failure
to either agree the leasing arrangement or any agreement which does not result in the
authority receiving enough lease rental income to service the debt taken on for the
project, would have significant impact on the schemes overall financial viability.

6.6.

As stated within this report, Lewisham Homes are the Council’s wholly owned
subsidiary and as such the negation of a lease agreement should be relatively
straightforward. It is envisaged this this will be agreed within the coming weeks. Once
agreed, an updated position on the overall scheme performance can be established.

7.

Legal implications

7.1.

In accordance with Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council may
enter into a lease for less than seven years for whatever consideration the Council
considers appropriate. The Council will not be receiving market value for the lease (as
the rent for the units is required to be London Affordable Rent) and accordingly
approval of Mayor and Cabinet is required under the Mayoral Scheme of Delegation.

7.2.

. As a local authority, the Council is prohibited from being the landlord under an
assured shorthold tenancy (para 12 of Schedule 1 to the Housing Act 1988).
Accordingly it may be necessary to grant a lease of the property to Lewisham Homes
should assured shorthold tenancies be required under the GLA grant funding
conditions or, alternatively if in discussion with Lewisham Homes it is decided that this
is the most effective way of enabling them to manage the property on the Council’s
behalf.. As a company Lewisham Homes is able to enter into assured shorthold
tenancies.

7.3.

Should it be required, the terms of the lease will be finalised and agreed under the
authority delegated by this report.

7.4

In taking this decision, the Council’s public sector equality duty must be taken into
account. It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability, gender
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or
belief, sex and sexual orientation.

7.5

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:




7.6

eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act.
advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.
foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those
who do not.

It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment,
victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or foster
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who do
not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed above. The
weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision and the
circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for Mayor and Cabinet, bearing in
mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. Mayor and Cabinet must understand
the impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected characteristics who
are potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will necessarily vary from
case to case and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in all the circumstances.

Page 85

7.7

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has issued Technical Guidance
on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance. The Council must have regard
to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty. The Technical Guidance also
covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory
force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without compelling
reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical guidance can
be found on the EHRC website.

7.8

The EHRC has issued five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the
equality duty. The ‘Essential’ guide provides an overview of the equality duty
requirements including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply
to. It covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide
more detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good practice.

8.

Equalities implications

8.1.

The Sydney Arms will provide high quality accommodation, and support, for individuals
who have been rough sleeping. This form of accommodation is in scare supply in
Lewisham and so this new acquisition will positively impact on a cohort of rough sleepers
for whom access to high quality affordable accommodation is challenging.

9.

Climate change and environmental implications

9.1.

It is considered that refurbishment and reuse of the existing building will outweigh the
negative climate change impacts resulting from unnecessary carbon outlays of new build
construction.

10.

Crime and disorder implications

10.1.

By bringing this property into active use, we will create passive surveillance resulting in
an improved environment for the immediate locality. Lewisham Homes are an
experienced and professional housing management organisation. They have a specialist
Anti-Social Behaviour team that works well across all of the housing stock that Lewisham
Homes manages on the Council’s behalf.

11.

Health and wellbeing implications

11.1.

The accommodation at the Sydney Arms will provide housing for individuals who had
previously been rough sleeping. The provision of both housing, and support, may have
positive impacts on the health and wellbeing of the individuals who are housed in this
accommodation.

12.

Report author and contact

12.1.

Fenella Beckman – Director of Housing Services (Fenella.Beckman@lewisham.gov.uk)

12.2.

Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for Corporate Resources
Tony Riordan
Principle Accountant
0208 314 6854
Tony.riordan@Lewisham.gov.uk

12.3.

Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law, Governance & HR

Page 86

Katherine Kazantzis
Principal Lawyer
0208 314 7937
Katherine.kazantzis@lewisham.gov.uk

Page 87

Agenda Item 6
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 x Part 2
Key Decision

x

Date of Meeting

10 February 2021

Title of Report

Lewisham Determined Admissions Arrangements
2022/23
Linda Fuller/Matt Henaughan
Ext.3381

Originator of Report

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm that the report
has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

Signed:
Date:

x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Executive Member
29th January 2021

Signed:
Date:

No

Executive Director
29th Janaury 2021

Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 88

Date

KEY DECISION

Mayor and Cabinet

Report title: Lewisham Determined Admissions Arrangements 2022/23 Nursery, Primary, Secondary and Sixth Form Admissions arrangements
for 2022/23.
Date: 10 February 2021
Key decision: Yes.
Class: Part 1 .
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Executive Director for Children and Young People
Head of Law, Governance and HR

Outline and recommendations
This report seeks the Mayor and Cabinet’s approval for the local authority’s admissions
arrangements for the academic year 2022/23. The arrangements include:
 The admissions policy for mainstream community schools;
 the pan London admissions schemes for the planned reception and secondary transfer
rounds;
 the locally coordinated in year admissions scheme; and
 the Published Admissions Number (PAN) for all community mainstream schools.
The Mayor is asked to determine:
1. The admissions arrangements for mainstream community nursery, primary, secondary
schools and sixth forms as set out in Appendix A to G.
2. The Published Admissions Number (PAN) for each community mainstream school in
the borough as detailed in Appendix H including the reductions to the PAN for Lucas
Vale, Sir Francis Drake primary schools and Forest Hill Secondary School.
3. The pan London Admissions Schemes for reception and secondary transfer and a local
scheme for in year admissions as detailed in Appendix I.

Page 89

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
In accordance with the mandatory provisions of the School Admissions Code 2014,
admission authorities must, if they wish to make any changes to the existing admissions
arrangements, consult for a minimum of six weeks. Consultation must take place between 1
October and 31 January in the school year before those arrangements are to apply.
Therefore, for the admissions year 2022/23, consultation must be held within a six week
period starting from 1 October 2020 and must end no later than 31 January 2021.
Lewisham’s consultation commenced on 16 November 2020 and, taking into account the
Christmas holiday, ended on 5 January 2021.
To comply with the mandatory requirements of the School Admissions Code 2014
consultation notifications were sent to:


All Lewisham schools via Schools Mailing.



All London wide admissions managers.



The Southwark Schools Commission and Southwark Diocesan Board for Education.



A public notice placed on Lewisham Council’s website for parents of children
between the ages of two and 18 and any other interested parties.

Following consultation, and to comply with the mandatory provisions of the School
Admissions Code 2014, the arrangements for 2022/23 must be determined no later than 28
February 2021.
During the formal consultation period no responses or objections were received regarding
the proposed amendments to the admission arrangements for 2022/23.
.
Summary
1.1.

This report sets out details of the:
-

Local authority’s admissions policy for community schools for the academic year
2022/23.

-

PAN London admissions schemes for the planned reception and secondary
transfer rounds, the locally coordinated in year admissions scheme.

-

Published Admissions Number (PAN) for all community mainstream schools for the
academic year 2022/23. This includes proposals for the reduction of the PAN for:
o

Lucas Vale Primary School from 60 to 30 places.

o

Sir Francis Drake Primary School from 60 to 30 places and

o

Forest Hill School from 240 to 180.

Recommendations
The Mayor & Cabinet is asked to determine:
1.2.

The admissions arrangements for mainstream community nursery, primary, secondary
schools and sixth forms as set out in Appendix A to G.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 90
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

1.3.

The Published Admissions Number (PAN) for each community mainstream school in
the borough as detailed in Appendix H including the reductions to the PAN for Lucas
Vale, Sir Francis Drake Primary schools and Forest Hill School.

1.4.

The pan London Admissions Schemes for reception and secondary transfer and a local
scheme for in year admissions as detailed in Appendix I.

Policy Context
3.1

The School Admissions Code, revised and published in December 2014, amended the
formal consultation and annual determination timetable. In accordance with this time
table, admissions authorities are required to determine their arrangements no later than
28 February 2021 for the policy which applies to school admissions for the 2022/23
academic year.
Once determined, the admissions arrangements must be published no later than 15
March 2021. Any objections to the determined arrangements must be made to the
Office of the School Adjudicator by 15 May the same year.

3.2

Lewisham local authority is the admissions authority for community schools in the area.
It also acts as the coordinating authority for its residents applying during the planned
admissions rounds for mainstream schools both within the area and outside the area.
In relation to in-year applications Lewisham acts as the coordinating authority for
applications to most mainstream schools in the area too.

3.3

Lewisham’s relevant area has been determined as the administrative area for the
London Borough of Lewisham.

3.4

The operation of a fair and equitable system for the admission of children to school
supports Lewisham’s corporate priority to raise educational attainment, skills levels and
employability. The admissions arrangements for the planned and in year rounds ensure
that children, particularly vulnerable groups and especially Children in Public Care,
have a fair, transparent and timely admission into school.

3.5

This report is in line with, and supports the, Lewisham Corporate Strategy 20182022. Specifically relating to ‘Giving children and young people the best start in life Every child has access to an outstanding and inspiring education, and is given the
support they need to keep them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential’

3.6

This report contributes to the delivery of the Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP)
2019-2022 and our vision of improving the lives and life chances of the children and
young people in Lewisham. Data obtained from the planned admissions processes for
reception and secondary transfer will demonstrate the popularity of Lewisham schools
particularly secondary schools (Priority 3.10).

3.7

This report contributes to the Council’s principles of reducing inequality, deprivation
and poverty. Lewisham is ambitious for all its children and our schools will continue to
strive to break down barriers for those who traditionally face the greatest challenges;
black and ethnic minority children, white working class children, Children in local
authority care and those living in poverty. We will do this by:
 creating and maintaining schools in Lewisham that are ambitious and achieving,
where children are inspired and supported to fulfil their potential,
 encouraging children and their parents to be empowered, responsible and actively
involved in their local school and wider community and

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 91
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports



enabling children to go onto further education, take up employment or training at
the end of their statutory education.

Background
Education Act 2002
1.5.

The Education Act 2002 required all local authorities to introduce coordinated schemes
for primary admissions with effect from 2006 and secondary admissions with effect
from 2005. These schemes enable parents to express a maximum of six mainstream
preferences of a maintained school which, although ranked by parents, are treated
equally by the schools involved. This widens the choice for parents and pupils and
tackled the problem of multiple offers which previously clogged the transfer system.
Lewisham participates in the Pan London Admissions scheme which facilitates crossborder applications and sharing of information amongst all 33 London boroughs and
five local authorities bordering the capital; Surrey, Kent, Hertfordshire, Essex and
Thurrock. Since September 2010 London boroughs have operated a Pan London
scheme for both primary (reception) and secondary transfer and, since 2016
admissions, infant to junior applications too. This impacts on resources both in terms
of staffing and demand on the pan London Register (the computer system used to
electronically exchange applicant details and admissions decisions).

1.6.

A revised School Admissions Code (Code) came into force in December 2014. The
Code no longer requires a mandatory centrally coordinated in-year admissions
scheme. However, Lewisham has maintained the view that this function should
continue to be centralised for mainstream schools including own admission authority
schools as it ensures:

1.7.

a safeguard for all children, especially those who are vulnerable, ensuring that they are
placed in school without unreasonable delay; and

1.8.

a strategic overview on the demand for school places so that any pressure can be
addressed without delay to children’s education.

1.9.

There are no proposals to amend the existing admissions policies for community
schools. Lewisham’s arrangements for 2017/18 were scrutinised by the Office of the
Schools Adjudicator (OSA). The OSA did not find any fault with the arrangements and
officers are confident that Lewisham’s admissions arrangements remain fully compliant
with the mandatory provisions of the School Admissions Code 2014.

1.10.

There are proposed reductions to the Published Admissions Number (PAN) for; Lucas
Vale, Sir Francis Drake Primary schools and Forest Hill School so a complete
consultation exercise was undertaken during the autumn 2020 term. This complies
with the required minimum six week mandatory consultation period as set out in the
School Admissions Code 2014.

Published Admissions Number (PAN)
1.11.

Each mainstream school is required to set a Published Admissions Number (PAN)
specifying the number of places available at the normal point of entry that is for
reception places in primary, infant or junior schools and Year 7 places at secondary
school.

1.12.

To address the continued oversupply of school places in both primary and secondary
schools Lewisham proposes to reduce the number of places at Lucas Vale, Sir Francis
Drake Primary schools both from 60 places to 30 places and Forest Hill School from
240 places to 180 places.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 92
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

1.13.

These reductions follow on from the continued review and revision of pupil forecasts,
which for the past four years have been revised downwards, resulting in both a current
and projected oversupply of places in both primary and secondary schools. As such,
the council has been working with schools on a number of ways in which we can help
support those that are particularly effected, to certainty of pupils on roll and allow
efficient use of resources. It should be noted that in all cases, schools have agreed that
should the need arise for further places in the future that they will play their part in
ensuring sufficient places are available.

1.14.

It should be noted that forecasting is currently being reviewed and there is a strong
likelihood that further PAN reductions may be necessary to reduce the supply of places
down to a suitable buffer and reduce the churn of pupils that some schools experience.

Financial implications
1.15.

There are no financial implications to this report.

Legal implications
7.1

In accordance with the provisions of section 88C of the School Standards and
Framework Act 1998 (as amended) (SSFA) and the School Admissions (Admission
Arrangements and Co-ordination of Admission Arrangements) (England) Regulations
2012 (as amended) admission authorities for maintained schools in England must
before the beginning of each school year determine the admission arrangements that
are to apply for that year.

7.2

Before determining the admission arrangements the admission authority is required to
carry out consultation in accordance with the “Admission Regulations 2012” (as
amended). The amended regulations determine the necessary arrangements under
which pupils are to be admitted to schools in England for the academic year 2022/23.
Admission authorities are also required to act in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the School Admissions Code (The Code) issued in December 2014.

7.3

Admission authorities must take all steps necessary to ensure that they have
completed their consultation by 31 January in the determination year. Admission
authorities must determine their admission arrangements for entry in September 2022
by 28 February 2021. The determination of these arrangements complies with the
regulatory requirements.

7.4

The Code requires that oversubscription criteria must be reasonable, clear, objective,
procedurally fair, and comply with all relevant legislation, including equalities
legislation. Admission authorities must ensure that their arrangements will not
disadvantage unfairly, either directly or indirectly, a child from a particular social or
racial group, or a child with a disability or special educational needs.

7.5

Once admission arrangements have been determined the local authority is required to
notify appropriate bodies and publish a copy of their determined arrangements on their
web site as soon as possible before 15 March and displaying them for the whole offer
year.

7.6

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) brings together all previous equality legislation in
England, Scotland and Wales. The Act includes a new public sector equality duty (the
equality duty or the duty), replacing the separate duties relating to race, disability and
gender equality. The duty came into force on 6 April 2011. The new duty covers the
following nine protected characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 93
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual
orientation.
7.7

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:




eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act,
advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not,
foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.

7.8

As was the case for the original separate duties, the duty continues to be a “have
regard” duty, and the weight to be attached to it is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in
mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or foster good
relations.

7.9

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) issued guidance in January 2011
providing an overview of the new public sector equality duty, including the general
equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. The guidance covers what
public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required,
as well as recommended actions. The guidance can be found at:
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/adviceand-guidance/new-equality-actguidance/equality-act-guidancedownloads/

7.10

The EHRC guidance does not have legal standing, unlike the statutory School
Admissions Code on the public sector equality duty which was due to be produced by
the EHRC under the Act. However, the Government has now stated that no further
statutory codes under the Act will be approved. The EHRC has indicated that it will
issue the draft code on the PSED as a non statutory code following further review and
consultation but, like the guidance, the non statutory code will not have legal standing.

7.11

In deciding whether to agree the recommendations in this report, the Mayor must be
satisfied that to do so is a reasonable exercise of his discretion on a consideration of all
relevant matters and disregarding irrelevancies and having regard to the School
Admissions Code which the local authority is statutorily required to comply with in the
discharge of its function as an admissions authority.

8. Equalities implications
8.1

The purpose of the School Admissions Code is to ensure that places in maintained
schools and Academies are allocated and offered in an open and fair way. Admission
Authorities must ensure that criteria are fair, clear and objective. This includes
ensuring that parents are easily able to understand how places for a particular school
will be allocated.

8.2

Admission authorities must act in accordance with the Code, the School Admissions
Appeal Code, other laws relating to admissions and relevant human rights and
equalities legislation. Authorities must also ensure that their arrangements will not
disadvantage, either directly or indirectly, a child from a particular social or racial group,
or a child with a disability or special educational need’ (Code, paragraph 1.8)

8.3

Lewisham’s arrangements comply with these requirements and vigilance is embedded

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 94
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

in our processes. Any instances of poor practice may be challenged and referred to
the School Adjudicator if necessary.
9.
9.1

Climate change and environmental implications
There are no direct climate change or environmental implications arising from this
report.

10. Crime and disorder implications
10.1

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

11. Health and wellbeing implications
11.1

There are no direct health and wellbeing implications arising from this report.

12. Environmental implications
12.1

There are no direct environmental implications arising from this report.

13. Report author and contact
13.1

Linda Fuller/Matt Henaughan, matt.henaughan@lewisham.gov.uk 0208 314 3321

14. Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law, Governance and HR
14.1

Stephanie Fleck, stephanie.fleck@lewisham.gov.uk 0208 314 9968

15. Appendices
15.1

Appendix A-H – Determined Admissions Policy 2022/23

15.2

Appendix I – The Coordinated Scheme 2022/23

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 95
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Appendix I

PAN-LONDON CO-ORDINATED ADMISSION SYSTEM
Template Pan London Schemes for Co-ordination of Admissions to Year
7 and Reception/Junior in Maintained Schools and Academies in 2022/23
and the LA Scheme for In Year Admissions 2022/23
Contents

Page 2

Definitions used in this document

Page 4

Template scheme for co-ordination of admissions to Year 7 in
September 2022

Page 9

Template scheme for co-ordination of admissions to Reception/Junior
in September 2022

Page 14

Content of Common Application Form -Year 7 and Reception Schemes
(Schedule 1)

Page 15

Template outcome letter -Year 7 and Reception Schemes (Schedule 2)

Page 16

Timetable for Year 7 Scheme (Schedule 3A)

Page 17

Timetable for Reception Scheme (Schedule 3B)

Page 18

Lewisham’s In Year Co-ordinated Scheme

Page 96

Template LA Schemes for Co-ordination of Admissions to Year 7 and Reception
in 2022/23
Definitions used in the template schemes
Application Year

the academic year in which the parent makes an
application (i.e. in relation to the academic year of
entry, the academic year preceding it).

The Board

the Pan-London Admissions Executive Board,
which is responsible for the Scheme

Business User Guide (BUG)

the document issued annually to participating LAs
setting out the operational procedures of the
Scheme

Common Application Form

this is the form that each authority must have under
the Regulations for parents to use to express their
preferences, set out in rank order

Equal Preference System

the model whereby all preferences listed by
parents on the Common Application Form are
considered under the over-subscription criteria for
each school without reference to parental rankings.
Where a pupil is eligible to be offered a place at
more than one school within an LA, or across more
than one participating LA, the rankings are used to
determine the single offer by selecting the school
ranked highest of those which can offer a place

Highly Recommended
Elements

the elements of the Template Scheme
that are not mandatory but to which subscription is
strongly recommended in order to maximise coordination and thereby simplify the application
process as far as possible

Home LA

the LA in which the applicant/parent/carer is
resident

LIAAG Address Verification
Register

the document containing the address verification
policy of each participating LA

Local Admission System (LAS) the IT module for administering admissions in
each LA and for determining the highest offer both
within and between participating LAs
London E-Admissions Portal

the common online application system used by the
33 London LAs and Surrey, Kent, Herts, Essex and
Thurrock.

Maintaining LA

the LA which maintains a school, or those within
whose area an academy is situated, for which a
preference has been expressed.

Page 97

Mandatory Elements

those elements of the Template Scheme to which
authorities must subscribe in order to be
considered as ‘Participating Authorities’ and to
benefit from use of the Pan-London Register

Notification Letter

the agreed form of letter sent to applicants on the
Prescribed Day which communicates any
determination granting or refusing admission to a
primary or secondary school, which is attached as
Schedule 2

Prescribed Day

the day on which outcome letters are posted to
parents/carers.
1 March (secondary) and 16 April (primary) in the
year following the relevant determination year
except that, in any year in which that day is not a
working day, the prescribed day shall be the next
working day.

Pan-London Register (PLR)

the database which will sort and transmit
application and outcome data between the LAS of
each participating LA

Pan-London Timetable

the framework for processing of application and
outcome data, which is attached as Schedule 3

Participating LA

any LA that has indicated in the Memorandum of
Agreement that they are willing to incorporate, at a
minimum, the mandatory elements of the Template
LA Scheme presented here.

Qualifying Scheme

the scheme which each LA is required to formulate
in accordance with The School Admissions
(Admissions Arrangements and Co-ordination of
Admission Arrangements) Regulations 2012, for
co-ordinating arrangements for the admission of
children to maintained primary and secondary
schools and academies.

Page 98

Template Scheme for Co-ordination of Admissions to Year 7 in 2022/23
Applications
1.

Lewisham LA will advise home LAs of their resident pupils on the roll of its
maintained primary schools and academies who are eligible to transfer to
secondary school in the forthcoming academic year.

2.

Applications from Lewisham residents will be made on its Common
Application Form, which will be available and able to be submitted on-line.
This will include all the fields and information specified in Schedule 1 to this
Template LA Scheme. These will be supplemented by any additional fields
and information which are deemed necessary by Lewisham LA to enable
the admission authorities in the area to apply their published
oversubscription criteria.

3.

Lewisham LA will take all reasonable steps to ensure that every
parent/carer who is resident in the borough and has a child in their last year
of primary education within a maintained school or academy, either in
Lewisham or any other maintaining LA, is informed how they can access
this LA’s composite prospectus and apply online. Parents/carers who do
not live in this LA will have access to this LAs composite prospectus, which
will advise parents/carers to contact their home LA if they are unable to
apply online.

4.

The admission authorities within Lewisham will not use supplementary
information forms except where the information available through the
Common Application Form is insufficient for consideration of the application
against the published oversubscription criteria. Where supplementary
information forms are used by the admissions authorities within Lewisham,
the LA will seek to ensure that these only collect information which is
required by the published oversubscription criteria, in accordance with
paragraph 2.4 of the School Admissions Code 2014.

5.

Where supplementary information forms are used by admission authorities
in Lewisham LA, they will be available via their website. Such forms will
advise parents that they must also complete their home LA’s Common
Application Form. Lewisham LA’s composite prospectus and website, will
indicate which schools in the borough require supplementary forms to be
completed and where they can be obtained.

6.

Where an admission authority in Lewisham receives a supplementary
information form, Lewisham LA will not consider it to be a valid application
unless the parent/carer has also listed the school on their home LA's
Common Application Form, in accordance with paragraph 2.3 of the School
Admissions Code 2014.

7.

Applicants will be able to express a preference for six maintained secondary
schools or Academies within and/or outside the borough.

8.

The order of preference given on the Common Application Form will not be
revealed to a school within Lewisham LA. This is to comply with paragraph
1.9 of the School Admissions Code 2014 which states that admission
authorities must not give extra priority to children whose parents rank
preferred schools in a particular order, including ‘first preference first’
arrangements. However, where a parent resident in Lewisham LA

Page 99

expresses a preference for schools in the area of another LA, the order of
preference for that LA’s schools will be revealed to that LA in order that it
can determine the highest ranked preference in cases where an applicant is
eligible for a place at more than one school in that LA’s area.
9.

Lewisham LA undertakes to carry out the address verification process as set
out in its entry in LIAAG Address Verification Register. This will in all cases
include validation of resident applicants against Lewisham LA’s primary
school data and the further investigation of any discrepancy. Where
Lewisham LA is not satisfied as to the validity of an address of an applicant
whose preference has been sent to a maintaining LA, it will advise the
maintaining LA no later than 10 December 2021.

10. Lewisham LA will confirm the status of any resident child for whom it
receives a Common Application Form stating s/he is currently or previously
a 'Child Looked After' and will provide any additional evidence on receipt
of a reasonable request by the maintaining LA in respect of a preference
for a school in its area by 12 November 2021..
11. Lewisham LA will advise a maintaining LA of the reason for any preference
which is made, in respect of a child resident in the area of this LA to be
admitted outside their correct age cohort, and will forward any supporting
documentation to the maintaining LA by 12 November 2021.
Processing
12. Applicants resident within Lewisham LA must return the Common
Application Form, which will be available and able to be submitted on-line,
to this LA by 31 October 2021. However, Lewisham LA will publish
information which encourages applicants to submit their application by 22
October 2021 (i.e. the Friday before half term), to allow it sufficient time to
process and check all applications before the mandatory date when data
must be sent to the PLR.
13. Application data relating to all preferences for schools in the area of a
participating LA, which have been expressed within the terms of
Lewisham’s scheme, will be up-loaded to the PLR by 12 November 2021.
Supplementary information provided with the Common Application Form will
be sent to maintaining LAs by the same date.
14. Lewisham LA shall, in consultation with the admission authorities within its
area and within the framework of the Pan-London timetable in Schedule 3A,
determine and state its own timetable for the processing of preference data
and the application of published oversubscription criteria.
15. Lewisham LA will accept late applications only if they are late for a good
reason, deciding each case on its own merits.
16. Where such applications contain preferences for schools in other LAs,
Lewisham LA will forward the details to maintaining LAs via the PLR as they
are received. Lewisham LA will accept late applications which are
considered to be on time within the terms of the home LA’s scheme.
17. The latest date for the upload to the PLR of late applications which are
considered to be on-time within the terms of Lewisham LA’s scheme is 10
December 2021.

Page 100

18. Where an applicant moves from one participating home LA to Lewisham
after submitting an on-time application under the terms of the former home
LA's scheme, Lewisham LA will accept the application as on-time up to 9
December 2021, on the basis that an on-time application already exists
within the Pan-London system.
19. Lewisham LA will participate in the application data checking exercise
scheduled between 13 December 2021 and 4 January 2022 in the PanLondon timetable in Schedule 3A.
20. All preferences for schools within Lewisham LA will be considered by the
relevant admission authorities without reference to rank order in accordance
with paragraph 1.9 of the School Admissions Code 2014. When the
admission authorities within Lewisham LA have provided a list of applicants
in criteria order to Lewisham, this LA shall, for each applicant to its schools
for whom more than one potential offer is available, use the highest ranked
preference to decide which single potential offer to make. This is the
‘Equal Preference System’.
21. Lewisham LA will carry out all reasonable checks to ensure that pupil
rankings are correctly held in its LAS for all maintained schools and
academies in this LA’s area before uploading data to the PLR.
22. Lewisham LA will upload the highest potential offer available to an applicant
for a maintained school or academy in this LA to the PLR by 31 January
2022. The PLR will transmit the highest potential offer specified by the
Maintaining LA to the Home LA.
23. Lewisham’s LAS will eliminate, as a Home LA, all but the highest ranked
offer where an applicant has more than one potential offer across
Maintaining LAs submitting information within deadline to the PLR. This will
involve exchanges of preference outcomes between the LAS and the PLR
(in accordance with the iterative timetable published in the Business User
Guide) which will continue until notification that a steady state has been
achieved, or until 11 February 2022 if this is sooner.
24. Lewisham LA will not make an additional offer between the end of the
iterative process and 1 March 2022 which may impact on an offer being
made by another participating LA.
25. Notwithstanding paragraph 24, if an error is identified within the allocation of
places at a maintained school or academy in Lewisham, this LA will attempt
to manually resolve the allocation to correct the error. Where this impacts
on another LA (either as a home or maintaining LA) Lewisham LA will liaise
with that LA to attempt to resolve the correct offer and any multiple offers
which might occur. However, if another LA is unable to resolve a multiple
offer, or if the impact is too far reaching, Lewisham LA will accept that the
applicant(s) affected might receive a multiple offer.
26. Lewisham LA will participate in the offer data checking exercise scheduled
between 14 and 22 February 2022 in the Pan-London timetable in
Schedule 3A.

Page 101

27. Lewisham LA will send a file to the E-Admissions portal with outcomes for all
resident applicants who have applied online no later than 23 February
2022.
Offers
28. Lewisham LA will ensure that, if there are places available, each resident
applicant who cannot be offered a preference expressed on the Common
Application Form, receives the offer of an alternative school place in
accordance with paragraph 2.11 of the School Admissions Code 2014.
Usually this will be the closest school to the applicant’s home address which
has a vacancy after the allocation of school places.
29. Lewisham LA will inform all resident applicants of their highest offer of a
school place and, where relevant, the reasons why higher preferences were
not offered, whether they were for schools in Lewisham or in other
participating LAs.
30. Lewisham LA’s outcome letter will include the information set out in
Schedule 2.
31. On 1 March 2022, Lewisham LA will send by first class post notification of
the outcome to resident applicants who made a paper application. Those
who made an online application will be notified of their outcome
electronically.
32. Lewisham LA will provide its primary schools with destination data of its
resident applicants via the School Administration Module (SAM) which will
be available from 2 March 2022.
Post Offer
33. Lewisham LA will request that resident applicants accept or decline the offer
of a place by 15 March 2022, or within two weeks of the date of any
subsequent offer.
34. Where an applicant resident in Lewisham LA accepts or declines a place in
a school maintained by another LA by 15 March 2022, Lewisham LA will
forward the information to the maintaining LA by 22 March 2022. Where
such information is received from applicants after 15 March 2022,
Lewisham LA will pass it to the maintaining LA as it is received.
35. Where a place becomes available in an oversubscribed maintained school
or academy in Lewisham’s area, it will be offered from a waiting list ordered
in accordance with paragraph 2.14 of the School Admissions Code 2014.
36. When acting as a maintaining LA, Lewisham will place an applicant resident
in the area of another LA on a waiting list of any higher preference school in
Lewisham’s area. Where this process is not automatic, it will be done
immediately following a request from the home LA.
37. Where a waiting list is maintained by an admission authority of a maintained
school or academy in Lewisham’s area, the admissions authority will inform
this LA of a potential offer, in order that the offer may be made by the home
LA.

Page 102

38. When acting as a maintaining LA, Lewisham LA will inform the home LA,
where different, of an offer for a maintained school or Academy in this LA’s
area which can be made to an applicant resident in the home LA’s area, in
order that the home LA can offer the place.
39. When acting as a maintaining LA, Lewisham LA and the admission
authorities within it, will not inform an applicant resident in another LA that a
place can be offered.
40. When acting as a home LA, Lewisham LA will offer a place at a maintained
school or Academy in the area of another LA to an applicant resident in its
area, provided that the school is ranked higher on the Common Application
Form than any school already offered.
41. When acting as a home LA, when Lewisham LA is informed by a maintaining
LA of an offer which can be made to an applicant resident in Lewisham’s
area which is ranked lower on the Common Application Form than any
school already offered, it will inform the maintaining LA that the offer will not
be made.
42. When acting as a home LA, when Lewisham LA has agreed to a change of
preferences or preference order for good reason, it will inform any
maintaining LA affected by the change. In such cases, paragraphs 40 and
41 shall apply to the revised order of preferences.
43. When acting as a maintaining LA, Lewisham LA will inform the home LA,
where different, of any change to an applicant's offer status as soon as it
occurs.
44. When acting as a maintaining LA, Lewisham LA will accept a change of
preferences or preference order (including reinstated or additional
preferences) from home LAs for maintained schools and academies in its
area.
45.

Waiting lists - Requests to be placed on a waiting list for a school within
Lewisham must be made via the home LA. In accordance with the pan
London agreement, and to ensure Lewisham meets its duty to continue to
co-ordinate admissions beyond offer date and comply with the parents’
highest possible preference, Lewisham will ensure that waiting lists do not
contain lower ranked preferences except where it (or the home LA) has
agreed to a parental request to change the order of preferences.
Waiting lists for community schools in Lewisham will be held for the first term
of the academic year (Year 7) of admission only. Those wishing to be
considered for a place beyond the first term of Year 7 will be required to make
an in year application.
Secondary Transfer waiting lists for Lewisham’s community schools will
include those who have moved to the area and were unable to make an
‘ontime’ application.
Parental enquiries about waiting list positions or appeal procedures for
community schools should be made to Lewisham’s Admissions Team.

Page 103

46.

Lewisham LA, when acting as a home LA will make initial offer of places
which become available after National Offer Day within a maximum of four
weeks from National Offer Day.

47.

Lewisham LA, when acting as a home LA, will, after preferences expressed
in accordance with paragraph 7 above have been determined, will accept
one further application enabling a further six preferences to be expressed.
The pan London secondary transfer scheme continues until the end of June
2022. Applications received for Year 7 from 1 July 2022 will be considered as
In Year applications.

Page 104

PAN- LONDON CO-ORDINATED ADMISSIONS SYSTEM
Template LA Scheme for Co-ordination of Admissions to Reception/Junior in
2022/23
Applications
1.

Applications from residents of Lewisham LA will be made on Lewisham LA’s
Common Application Form, which will be available and able to be submitted online. This will include all the fields and information specified in Schedule 1 to this
Template LA Scheme. These will be supplemented by any additional fields and
information which are deemed necessary by Lewisham LA to enable the
admission authorities in Lewisham to apply their published oversubscription
criteria.

2.

Lewisham LA will take all reasonable steps to ensure that every parent/carer
who is resident in Lewisham and has a child in a nursery class within a
maintained school or academy, either in this LA or any other maintaining LA, is
informed how they can access this LA’s composite prospectus and apply online.
Parents/carers who do not live in this LA will have access to this LA’s composite
prospectus, which will advise parents/carers to contact their home LA if they are
unable to apply online.

3.

The admission authorities within Lewisham will not use supplementary
information forms except where the information available through the Common
Application Form is insufficient for consideration of the application against the
published oversubscription criteria. Where supplementary information forms are
used by the admissions authorities within Lewisham, the LA will seek to ensure
that these only collect information which is required by the published
oversubscription criteria, in accordance with paragraph 2.4 of the School
Admissions Code 2014.

4.

Where supplementary information forms are used by admission authorities in
Lewisham, they will be available via their website. Such forms will advise
parents that they must also complete their home LA’s Common Application
Form. Lewisham’s composite prospectus and website will indicate which schools
in this LA require supplementary forms to be completed and where they can be
obtained.

5.

Where a school in Lewisham LA receives a supplementary information form,
Lewisham will not consider it to be a valid application unless the parent/carer
has also listed the school on their home LA's Common Application Form, in
accordance with paragraph 2.3 of the School Admissions Code 2014.

6.

Applicants will be able to express a preference for up to six maintained primary
schools or academies within and/or outside the borough.

7.

The order of preference given on the Common Application Form will not be
revealed to a school within Lewisham to comply with paragraph 1.9 of the
School Admissions Code 2014. However, where a parent resident in Lewisham
LA expresses a preference for schools in the area of another LA, the order of
preference for that LA’s schools will be revealed to that LA in order that it can
determine the highest ranked preference in cases where an applicant is eligible
for a place at more than one school in that LA’s area.

Page 105

8.

Lewisham LA undertakes to carry out the address verification process set out in
its entry in the LIAAG Address Verification Register. This will in all cases include
validation of resident applicants against Lewisham LA’s maintained nursery and
primary school data and the further investigation of any discrepancy. Where
Lewisham LA is not satisfied as to the validity of an address of an applicant
whose preference has been sent to a maintaining LA, it will advise the
maintaining LA no later than 11 February 2022.

9.

Lewisham LA will confirm the status of any resident child for whom it receives a
Common Application Form stating s/he is currently or previously a 'Child Looked
After' and will provide any additional evidence on receipt of a reasonable

request by the maintaining LA in respect of a preference for a school in its
area by 4 February 2022.
10.

Lewisham LA will advise a maintaining LA of the reason for any application
which is made in respect of a child resident in the area of this LA to be admitted
outside their correct age cohort, and will forward any supporting documentation
to the maintaining LA by 4 February 2022.

Processing
11.

Applicants resident within Lewisham LA must return the Common Application
Form, which will be available and able to be submitted on-line, to Lewisham LA
by 15 January 2022.

12.

Application data relating to all preferences for schools in the area of a
participating LA, which have been expressed within the terms of Lewisham’s
scheme, will be up-loaded to the PLR by 4 February 2022. Supplementary
information provided with the Common Application Form will be sent to
maintaining LAs by the same date.

13.

Lewisham LA shall, in consultation with the admission authorities within this LA’s
area and within the framework of the Pan-London timetable in Schedule 3B,
determine its own timetable for the processing of preference data and the
application of published oversubscription criteria.

14.

Lewisham LA will accept late applications only if they are late for a good reason,
deciding each case on its own merits.

15.

Where such applications contain preferences for schools in other LAs,
Lewisham LA will forward the details to maintaining LAs via the PLR as they are
received. Lewisham LA will accept late applications which are considered to be
on time within the terms of the home LA’s scheme.

16.

The latest date for the upload to the PLR of late applications which are
considered to be on-time within the terms of Lewisham’s scheme is 11 February
2022.

17.

Where an applicant moves from one participating home LA to Lewisham LA
after submitting an on-time application under the terms of the former home LA's
scheme, Lewisham LA will accept the application as on-time up to 10 February
2022, on the basis that an on-time application already exists within the PanLondon system.

Page 106

18.

Lewisham LA will participate in the application data checking exercise scheduled
between 10 February and 24 February 2021 in the Pan-London timetable in
Schedule 3B.

19.

All preferences for schools within Lewisham LA will be considered by the
relevant admission authorities without reference to rank order to comply with
paragraph 1.9 of the School Admissions Code 2014. When the admission
authorities within Lewisham LA have provided a list of applicants in criteria order
to this LA, Lewisham shall, for each applicant to its schools for whom more than
one potential offer is available, use the highest ranked preference to decide
which single potential offer to make. This is the ‘Equal Preference System’.

20.

Lewisham LA will carry out all reasonable checks to ensure that pupil rankings
are correctly held in its LAS before uploading data to the PLR.

21.

Lewisham LA will upload the highest potential offer available to an applicant for
a maintained school or academy in this LA to the PLR by 17 March 2022. The
PLR will transmit the highest potential offer specified by the Maintaining LA to
the Home LA.

22.

Lewisham’s LAS will eliminate, as a Home LA, all but the highest ranked offer
where an applicant has more than one potential offer across Maintaining LAs
submitting information within deadline to the PLR. This will involve exchanges
of preference outcomes between the LAS and the PLR (in accordance with the
iterative timetable published in the Business User Guide) which will continue
until notification that a steady state has been achieved or until 24 March 2022 if
this is sooner.

23.

Lewisham LA will not make an additional offer between the end of the iterative
process and the 19 April 2022 which may impact on an offer being made by
another participating LA.

24.

Notwithstanding paragraph 23, if an error is identified within the allocation of
places at a maintained school or academy in Lewisham, this LA will attempt to
manually resolve the allocation to correct the error. Where this impacts on
another LA (either as a home or maintaining LA) Lewisham LA will liaise with
that LA to attempt to resolve the correct offer and any multiple offers which
might occur. However, if another LA is unable to resolve a multiple offer, or if the
impact is too far reaching, this LA will accept that the applicant(s) affected might
receive a multiple offer.

25.

Lewisham LA will participate in the offer data checking exercise scheduled
between 25 March and 6 April 2022 in the Pan-London timetable in Schedule
3B.

26.

Lewisham LA will send a file to the E-Admissions portal with outcomes for all
resident applicants who have applied online no later than 11 April 2022.

Offers
27.

Lewisham LA will ensure that, if there are places available, each resident
applicant who cannot be offered a preference expressed on the Common
Application Form, receives the offer of an alternative school place in accordance
with paragraph 2.11 of the Schools Admissions Code 2014. Usually this will be
the closest school to the home address where there is still a vacancy after the
allocation of places.

Page 107

28.

Lewisham LA will inform all resident applicants of their highest offer of a school
place and, where relevant, the reasons why higher preferences were not
offered, whether they were for schools in Lewisham LA or in other participating
LAs.

29.

Lewisham LA’s outcome letter will include the information set out in Schedule 2.

30.

Lewisham LA will, on 19 April 2022, send by first class post notification of the
outcome to resident applicants who made a paper application. Those who made
an online application will be notified electronically.

31.

Lewisham LA will provide its maintained nursery and primary schools with
destination data of its resident applicants via the School Administration Module
(SAM) which will be available after 20 April 2022.

Post Offer
32.

Lewisham LA will request that resident applicants accept or decline the offer of a
place by 4 May 2022 or within two weeks of the date of any subsequent offer.

33.

Where an applicant resident in Lewisham LA accepts or declines a place in a
school maintained by another LA by 4 May 2022, Lewisham LA will forward the
information to the maintaining LA by 11 May 2022. Where such information is
received from applicants after 4 May 2022, Lewisham LA will pass it to the
maintaining LA as it is received.

34.

Where a place becomes available in an oversubscribed maintained school or
academy in Lewisham’s area, it will be offered from a waiting list ordered in
accordance with paragraph 2.14 of the School Admissions Code 2014.

35.

When acting as a maintaining LA, Lewisham will place an applicant resident in
the area of another LA on a waiting list of any higher preference school. Where
this is not done automatically, it will be done immediately following a request
from the home LA.

36.

Where a waiting list is maintained by an admission authority of a maintained
school or academy in this LA’s area, the admission authority will inform this LA
of a potential offer, in order that the offer may be made by the home LA.

37.

When acting as a maintaining LA, Lewisham LA will inform the home LA, where
different, of an offer for a maintained school or academy in Lewisham LA’s area
which can be made to an applicant resident in the home LA’s area, in order that
the home LA can offer the place.

38.

When acting as a maintaining LA, Lewisham LA and the admission authorities
within it, will not inform an applicant resident in another LA that a place can be
offered.

39.

When acting as a home LA, Lewisham LA will offer a place at a maintained
school or academy in the area of another LA to an applicant resident in its area,
provided that the school is ranked higher on the Common Application Form than
any school already offered.

40.

When acting as a home LA, when Lewisham LA is informed by a maintaining LA
of an offer which can be made to an applicant resident in this LA’s area which is

Page 108

ranked lower on the Common Application Form than any school already offered,
it will inform the maintaining LA that the offer will not be made.
41.

When acting as a home LA, when Lewisham LA has agreed to a change of
preference order for good reason, it will inform any maintaining LA affected by
the change. In such cases, paragraphs 39 and 40 shall apply to the revised
order of preferences.

42.

When acting as a maintaining LA, Lewisham LA will inform the home LA, where
different, of any change to an applicant's offer status as soon as it occurs.

43.

When acting as a maintaining LA, Lewisham LA will accept a change of
preference or preference order (including reinstated or additional preferences)
from home LAs for maintained schools and academies in its area.

44.

Waiting lists - Requests to be placed on a waiting list for a school in Lewisham
must be made via the home LA. In accordance with the pan London agreement,
and to ensure Lewisham meets its duty to continue to co-ordinate admissions
beyond offer date and comply with the parents’ highest possible preference,
Lewisham will ensure that waiting lists do not contain lower ranked preferences
except where it (or the home LA) has agreed to a parental request to change the
order of preferences. In such cases, where there is a parental request to change
the order of preferences, the original application, including any offer made under
co-ordination, will be withdrawn and the applicant will be required to re-apply.
The reception co-ordinated scheme continues until the end of June 2022.
Applications received for reception class beyond 1 July 2022 will be considered
as In Year applications.
Waiting lists for community schools in Lewisham will be held for the first term of
the reception year only. Those wishing to apply for a place beyond the first term
of the reception year will be required to make an in year application.
Waiting lists for Lewisham’s community schools will include those who have
moved to the area and were unable to make an ‘ontime’ application.
Enquiries about waiting list positions or appeal procedures for community
schools in the borough should contact Lewisham’s Admissions Team.

45. Lewisham LA, when acting as a home LA will make initial offer of places which
become available after National Offer Day within a maximum of four weeks from
National Offer Day.
46. Lewisham LA, when acting as a home LA, will, after preferences expressed in
accordance with paragraph 7 above have been determined, will accept one
further application enabling a further six preferences to be expressed.

Page 109

PAN-LONDON CO-ORDINATED ADMISSIONS SCHEME
SCHEDULE 1
Minimum Content of Common Application Form for Admissions to Year 7 and
Reception in 2022/23
Child’s details:
Surname
Forename(s)
Middle name(s)
Date of Birth
Gender
Home address
Name of current school
Address of current school (if outside home LA)
Parent’s details:
Title
Surname
Forename
Address (if different to child’s address)
Telephone Number (Home, Daytime, Mobile)
Email address
Relationship to child
Preference details (x 6):
Name of school
Address of school
Preference ranking
Local authority in which the school is based
Additional information:
Reasons for Preferences (including any medical or social reasons)
Is the child a ‘Child Looked After’ (CLA)? Y/N
Is the child formally CLA but now adopted or subject to a Child Arrangements Order or
Special Guardianship Order? Y/N
If yes, name of responsible local authority
Surname of sibling
Forename of sibling
DOB of sibling
Gender of sibling
Name of school sibling attends
Other:
Signature of parent or guardian
Date of signature
* Lewisham will take steps to ensure that no application for a child with an Educational
Health Care plan (EHCp) or a statement of special educational needs will be sent via
the PLR.

Page 110

PAN-LONDON CO-ORDINATED ADMISSIONS SCHEME- SCHEDULE 2
Template Outcome Letter for Admissions to Year 7 and Reception in 2022/23 –
those who made a paper application.
From: Home LA
Date: 1 March 2022 (sec)
19 April 2022 (prim)
Dear Parent,
Application for a Secondary / Primary School
I am writing to let you know the outcome of your application for a secondary/primary
school. Your child has been offered a place at X School. The school will write to you
with further details.
I am sorry that it was not possible for your child to be offered a place at any of the
schools which you listed as a higher preference on your application form. For each of
these schools there were more applications than places, and other applicants had a
higher priority than your child under the school’s published admission criteria.
Offers which could have been made for any schools which you placed lower in your
preference list, were automatically withdrawn under the co-ordinated admission
arrangements, as a higher preference has been offered.
If you would like more information about the reason that your child was not offered a
place at any higher preference school, you should contact the admission authority that
is responsible for admissions to the school within the next few days. Details of the
different admission authorities for schools in the borough of Lewisham are attached to
this letter. If the school is outside the borough of Lewisham, the admission authority
will either be the borough in which the school is situated, or the school itself.
You have the right of appeal under the School Standards & Framework Act 1998
against the refusal of a place at any of the schools for which you have applied. If you
wish to appeal, you must contact the admission authority for the school within the next
few days to obtain the procedure and the date by which an appeal must be received
by them.
Please would you confirm that you wish to accept the place at X School by completing
the reply slip below. If you do not wish to accept the place, you will need to let me
know what alternative arrangements you are making for your child’s education.
You must contact this office if you wish to apply for any other school, either in this
borough or elsewhere.
Your child’s name has been placed on the waiting list for any school which was a
higher preference on your application than the school you have been offered. If you
need to find out your child’s position on the waiting list please contact the admissions
authority or the borough in which the school is situated.
If you have any questions about this letter, please contact the Admissions Team on
020 8314 8282
Please return the reply slip by 15 March 2022 (secondary) /4 May 2022(primary).
(First preference offer letters will include the paragraphs in italics only)

Page 111

PAN-LONDON CO-ORDINATED ADMISSIONS SCHEME
SCHEDULE 3A

Timetable for Admissions to Year 7/Year 10 in 2022/23
Date
Sun 31 Oct 2021

Process

Paragraph

Tues 14 Dec 2021

Statutory deadline for receipt of
applications
Deadline for the transfer of
application information by the Home
LA to the PLR (ADT file).
Deadline for the upload of late
applications to the PLR.
Checking of application data

Mon 20 Dec 2021

Ranking applications

Mon 31 Jan 2022

Deadline for the transfer of potential
offer information from Maintaining
LAs to the PLR (ALT file)
Final ALT file to PLR

22

Mon 14 – Tues 22
Feb 2022
Wed 23 Feb 2022

Checking of offer data

26

Deadline for on-line ALT file to portal

27

Tues 1 Mar 2022

Offer letters posted.

24, 31

Tues 15 Mar 2022

Deadline for return of acceptances

33, 34

Tues 22 Mar 2022

Deadline for transfer of acceptances
to maintaining LAs

Fri 12 Nov 2021

Fri 10 Dec 2021

Fri 11 Feb 2022

Page 112

12
10, 11, 13

9, 17
19
19, 20, 21

23

34

PAN-LONDON CO-ORDINATED ADMISSIONS SCHEME
SCHEDULE 3B

Timetable for Admissions to Reception/Junior in 2022/23
Date
Sat 15 Jan 2022
Fri 4 Feb 2022

Fri 11 Feb 2022

Process

Paragrap
h

Statutory deadline for receipt of
applications
Deadline for the transfer of application
information by the Home LA to the PLR
(ADT file)
Deadline for the upload of late
applications to the PLR.

11
9, 10, 12

8, 16

Mon 14 Feb 2022

Checking of application data

Mon 18 Feb 2022

Ranking applications

Thurs 17 Mar
2022

Deadline for the transfer of potential
offer information from the Maintaining
LAs to the PLR (ALT file).
Final ALT file to PLR

21

Fri 25 Mar – Wed
6 Apr 2022
Mon 11 Apr 2022

Checking of offer data

25

Deadline for on-line ALT file to portal

26

Tues 19 Apr 2022

Offer letters posted.

23, 30

Wed 4 May 2022

Deadline for receipt of acceptances

32, 33

Wed 11 May 2022

Deadline for transfer of acceptances to
maintaining LAs

Thurs 24 Mar
2022

Page 113

18
19, 20,

22

33

LEWISHAM’S SCHEME FOR THE CO-ORDINATION OF IN-YEAR
ADMISSIONS FOR MAINTAINED SCHOOLS AND ACADEMIES IN
LEWISHAM 2022/23

Section 1: Applications
1. Applications from Lewisham and non-Lewisham residents for all
maintained schools, including academies who participate in the
Lewisham’s centralised coordinated scheme will be made directly to
Lewisham’s admission team. The on line in-year application form is
available from Lewisham’s website at www.lewisham.gov.uk
2. Lewisham residents applying for places at maintained schools and
academies outside Lewisham will need to apply directly to the LA in
whose area the school is situated.
3. The admission authorities in Lewisham will not use supplementary
forms except where the information available through the Common
Application Form is insufficient for consideration of the application
against the published oversubscription criteria. Where supplementary
forms are used by the admissions authorities within Lewisham,
Lewisham’s Admissions and Appeals Team will seek to ensure that
these only collect information which is required by the published
oversubscription criteria, in accordance with the School Admissions
Code.
4. Where supplementary forms are used, they will be available from the
school concerned and available on the school’s website. Any
supplementary forms must advise parents that they must also complete
Lewisham’s in-year application form. Lewisham’s admission booklet
and website will indicate which schools in Lewisham require
supplementary forms to be completed and where they can be obtained.
Parents will be advised that they should complete the supplementary
form so that the school’s Governing Body can fully consider their
application.
5. Where an admission authority school in Lewisham receives a
supplementary form, it will not consider it to be a valid application until
the parent has also listed the school on Lewisham’s In-Year Application
Form.
6. Applicants will be able to express a preference for up to three
maintained primary/secondary schools or academies in Lewisham.
7. The order of preference given on the In-Year Application Form will not
be revealed to the schools listed on the In-Year application form.
8. Lewisham undertakes to carry out address verification for each
application made to a participating maintained school or academy in
Lewisham. Where Lewisham is not satisfied as to the validity of an
address of an applicant it will advise the admission authority schools.

Page 114

9. Lewisham will satisfy itself that each applicant’s date of birth is correct.
10. Lewisham will check the status of any applicant who is a 'Looked After’
or was previously looked after but immediately after being looked after
became subject to an adoption, subject to a Child Arrangements
Order, or special guardianship order.
Section 2: Processing
11. Lewisham will enter each pupil’s preferences onto the admissions data
base. This information will be available to admission authority schools
participating in the scheme via the School Admissions Module (SAM) to
enable them to consider the application in accordance with their
published oversubscription criteria. Admissions authority schools
should respond to an application within 10* school days.
12. For all applicants, Lewisham will provide schools with the information
contained in the In-Year Application Form (see Schedule 1 below).
13. Where an application is not fully completed, including address
verification, Lewisham will not treat the application as valid until all
information is received.
14. If a pupil is currently on roll at a school in Lewisham or a school in a
neighbouring borough, the parent will be advised to discuss the transfer
with the Headteacher or senior Teacher at the school.
15. Lewisham’s in year iCAF, will request background information from the
current/previous school to support the enrolment meeting or to
determine whether the application qualifies as a Fair Access admission.
Section 3: Offers
16. If a school has a vacancy/vacancies, Lewisham will be expected to offer
the place(s) within 10* school days of the vacancy arising to the next
child entitled to a place in accordance with the published
oversubscription criteria. The school must make reasonable attempts to
contact the parent. If a school receives fewer applications than places
available, places must be offered to all applicants unless the pupil has
had a permanent exclusion from two or more schools in the previous
two years.
17. Lewisham’s Admissions and Appeals Team will write to parents who
have not been offered places at their preference schools giving reasons
and informing them of their right of appeal to an independent appeal in
accordance with the School Standards and Framework Act 1988.
18. Lewisham will notify the Home LA of the outcome of applications for
their residents

Page 115

18. When Lewisham is notified that a pupil has been offered a place at a
higher preference school, the lower ranking preferences will be
withdrawn and the schools concerned notified.
19. Schools must place the child on roll by the date agreed with the School
Admissions and Appeals Team.
20. Children transferring from one local school to another may not transfer
to the new school until the start of the following half term unless both the
home school and receiving school agrees an earlier admissions date.
21. Federations will have an important role in apportioning admissions
among the schools in the federation.
22. If an admission is disputed by a school, the case must be referred to the
Admissions and Appeals Team giving detailed written reasons within 5
school days. The school will also be required to refer the child’s
placement to the Fair Access Panel (FAP). Lewisham reserves the right
to direct admission if necessary.
23. When Lewisham is notified that a pupil has been offered a place at a
lower preference school, the higher preferences will also be withdrawn
unless the parent indicates otherwise.
24. Acting as Home LA, where an applicant who is out of school cannot be
offered a place at one of their named preferences, Lewisham will offer
an alternative school place.
25. It will be assumed that parents will accept the offer of a school place
unless they formally decline the offer of a place and confirm what
alternative arrangements they are making for their child’s education.
26. Where Lewisham is informed that another LA is able to offer a place
from the waiting list to one of its residents, Lewisham’s database will be
updated accordingly.
27. Waiting lists for schools in Lewisham will be held for the academic year
in which the application was made. Waiting lists will not be carried over
from one academic year to the next and parents will be required to
reapply for subsequent academic years.
*deadline may change and will depend on the revision of the
School Admissions Code.

Page 116

SCHEDULE 1
Lewisham’s In-Year Common Application Form (iCAF) will contain the
following fields.
Child’s details:












Surname
Forename(s)
Middle Name(s)
Home Address
Date of Birth
Gender
Name, address and dates of attendance of current/previous school(s)
If currently in school, reason for transfer
Date place is required
Permanent exclusions
Is the child Looked After?

Parent’s/Carer’s details:









Title
Initials
Forename
Surname
Address (if different to child’s address)
Telephone Number(s)
Relationship to Child
Parental Responsibility?

Preference details (maximum of 3):





Full Name of school
Preference ranking
Sibling Details
Reasons for Preference (including any medical or social needs)

Other:






Declaration including consequences of providing false information
Signature of parent or carer
Date of signature
Data Protection notice
Checklist including advice about completing supplementary forms

Page 117

Appendix A
Lewisham’s determined admissions criteria for nursery schools and nursery classes in
community primary schools (children starting nursery during the academic year 2022/23)
Where there is over-subscription, places will be offered to:
1.

A looked after child’ or a child who was previously looked after but immediately after being
looked after became subject to an adoption, child arrangements, or special guardianship
order. A looked after child is a child who is a) in the care of a local authority, or b) being
provided with accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social services
functions (see definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989). Details must be
supplied by the allocated social worker or foster carer.
* it is expected that a revised School Admissions Code, expected early in 2021, will revise
the definition of a looked after child to include children who have been adopted from care
from outside of England.

2

In exceptional circumstances there is discretion to admit vulnerable children, as proposed
by Lewisham’s Children Centre Criteria for Priority or Excluded (POE), on the grounds of
their or their family’s severe medical or social need for that particular school and who would
not otherwise qualify for admission. The application must be supported by a letter from a
hospital consultant, social worker or similar professional, setting out the reasons why the
nursery is the only one able to meet the child’s needs, before an admission decision is
made. The admission decision will be made by the headteacher who may consult with the
Executive Director for Children and Young People. Supporting documentary evidence must
be provided with the application;

3

Children whose brother or sister is on the roll of the main school when the application is
made and is expected to be on the roll of the school, or of the junior school in the case of
separate infant and junior schools, at the intended date of admission. If the school is oversubscribed entirely with siblings, priority will be given to those
i)
with exceptional social or medical need (as defined in paragraph 2 above) and
then to those
ii)
permanently living closest to the school (as defined in paragraph 4 below)
Children applying for a place at Clyde or Chelwood Nurseries will only qualify for a
place under the sibling criteria if their older sibling is on the roll of the nursery when
the application is made and is expected to be on the roll of the nursery at the
intended date of admission.
Children in Year 6 of a mainstream primary school and who will have transferred to
secondary school by the time the younger child is admitted to the nursery do not confer
sibling priority.
Siblings include all blood or adoptive siblings, half-siblings, foster siblings of Looked After
Children and step siblings. Siblings must all live at the same address as the child applying.
Proof of the sibling relationship may be required.

4.

Children whose permanent home address is closest to the school.
All distances will be measured in a straight line, using digitised mapping software of the
area, from the home to the nearest gate nominated by the school. If more than one

Page 118

1

applicant lives in multi-occupancy building (e.g. flats) priority will be given to the applicant
whose door number is the lowest numerically and/or alphabetically.
Waiting lists will be held in the same order as the admission criteria.
Tie break - on the rare occasion where two or more children tie for the last available place,
lots will be drawn to decide which child is offered the place.
To meet the needs of the age group Head teachers will have discretion over the balance of
eligible* two year olds, and three- and four-year olds in their nurseries, and the ratio of parttime and any full-time places offered.
Priority will be given to Lewisham residents.
An existing childminder’s address, instead of the permanent address, may only be used to
determine “nearness” if the child has an exceptional medical or social need for that
particular school. The permanent home address must also be in Lewisham.
Three terms is regarded as the minimum time that children should spend in a nursery
school or nursery class before transferring to a reception class.
Applications to nursery schools or classes are not dealt with through a coordinated scheme
and there is no set closing or decision date. Applications are made direct to the nursery.
If a child cannot be offered a place, a request can be made for the child’s name to be
placed on the waiting list; however there is no formal appeal process *please refer to
the Early Education and Childcare Guidance 2014 for further information about eligibility.

Page 119

2

Appendix B
Lewisham’s determined admissions criteria for community primary school reception
classes (children born between 1 September 2017 and 31 August 2018) and who will start
school in September 2022
When there is over-subscription, places are offered to:
1

A looked after child’ or a child who was previously looked after but immediately after being
looked after became subject to an adoption, child arrangements, or special guardianship
order. A looked after child is a child who is a) in the care of a local authority, or b) being
provided with accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social services
functions (see definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989). Details must be
supplied by the allocated social worker or foster carer.
* it is expected that a revised School Admissions Code, expected early in 2021, will revise
the definition of a looked after child to include children who have been adopted from care
from outside of England.

2

In exceptional circumstances there is discretion to admit children on the grounds of their or
their family’s severe medical or social need for that particular school and who would not
otherwise qualify for admission. The application must be supported by a letter from a
hospital consultant, social worker or similar professional, setting out the reasons why the
school is the only one to meet the child’s needs, before an admission decision is made.
The admission decision will be considered in consultation with a panel of teaching and
medical professionals. Medical professionals provide advice on applications made under
medical conditions and teaching professionals advise on applications made for social or
special reasons. Supporting evidence must be provided before the closing date for
applications.

3

Children whose brother or sister is on roll of the school on the closing date for applications
and is expected to be on the roll of the school (or of the junior school in the case of
separate infant and junior schools*), at the intended date of admission.
Children in Year 6 who will have transferred to secondary school by the time the younger
child is admitted do not confer sibling priority.
If the school is over-subscribed entirely with siblings, priority will be given to:
i)
those with an exceptional social or medical need (see 2 above) and then to
ii)
those who are permanently living nearest to the school (see 4 below).
* this applies to children attending Stillness Infant and Junior Schools.
Siblings include all blood or adoptive siblings, half-siblings, foster siblings of Looked After
Children and step siblings. Siblings must all live at the same address as the child applying.
Proof of the sibling relationship may be required.

4

Children living nearest to the school.

Page 120

3

All distances will be measured to a central nodal point in the school premises, using
digitised mapping software of the area, from a nodal point in the applicant’s permanent
home address. If more than one applicant lives in a multi-occupancy building (e.g. flats)
priority will be given to the applicant whose door number is the lowest numerically and/or
alphabetically.
Twins, triplets and other multiple births– where twins, triplets or children from other
multiple births qualify for the last school place to be allocated Lewisham will admit all of the
qualifying siblings in excess of the published admissions limit and they will be considered
as ‘excepted pupils’.
Tie break - on the rare occasion where two or more identical applications qualify for the last
available place, lots will be drawn to decide which qualifying child is offered the place.
Waiting lists - In accordance with the pan London agreement, and to ensure Lewisham
meets its duty to continue to co-ordinate admissions beyond offer date and comply with the
parents’ highest possible preference, Lewisham will ensure that waiting lists do not contain
lower ranked preferences except where it (or the home LA) has agreed to a parental
request to change the order of preferences. In such cases, where there is a parental
request to change the order of preferences, the original application, including any offer
made under co-ordination, will be withdrawn and the applicant will be required to re-apply.
Waiting lists for Lewisham’s community schools will include those who have moved to the
area and were unable to make an ‘ontime’ application.
The reception coordinated scheme continues until the end of the summer term 2022.
Applications received for reception class beyond the end of the summer term 2022 will be
considered as an In Year applicant. Waiting lists will be held for the first term of the
reception year only. Those with a continuing interest in a place at a school beyond this time
will be required to make an in year application.

Page 121

4

Appendix C
Lewisham’s determined admissions criteria for community secondary schools for pupils
transferring from primary to secondary school in September 2022 (children born between 1
September 2010 and 31 August 2011)
Where there is oversubscription places will be offered to:
1

A looked after child’ or a child who was previously looked after but immediately after being
looked after became subject to an adoption, child arrangements, or special guardianship
order. A looked after child is a child who is a) in the care of a local authority, or b) being
provided with accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social services
functions (see definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989). Details must be
supplied by the allocated social worker or foster carer.
* it is expected that a revised School Admissions Code, expected early in 2021, will revise
the definition of a looked after child to include children who have been adopted from care
from outside of England.

2

In exceptional circumstances there is discretion to admit children on the grounds of their or
their family’s severe medical or social need for that particular school and who would not
otherwise qualify for admission. The application must be supported by a letter from a
hospital consultant, social worker or similar professional, setting out the reasons why the
school is the only one to meet the child’s needs before an admission decision is made. The
admission decision will be considered in consultation with a panel of teaching and medical
professionals. Medical professionals provide advice on applications made under medical
conditions and teaching professionals advise on applications made for social or special
reasons. Supporting evidence must be provided before the closing date for applications.

3a

11 – 16 Community Schools - Children whose older brother or sister is on roll of the school
on the closing date for applications as well as those whose sibling was a former pupil of the
school and who transferred to a 16-18 education provision at the end of the previous
academic year. If the school is over-subscribed entirely with siblings, priority will be given
(i) to those with exceptional social and medical need and
(ii) to those living nearest the school.
Or

3b

11-18 Community Schools - Children whose brother or sister is on roll of the school on the
closing date for applications and will still be on the roll of the school at the intended date of
admission. If the school is over-subscribed entirely with siblings, priority will be given
(i)
to those with exceptional social and medical need and
(ii)
to those living nearest the school.
In all cases siblings include all blood and adoptive siblings, half-siblings, foster siblings of
Looked After Children and step siblings. Siblings must all live at the same address as the
child. Proof of the sibling relationship may be required.

4

Children who live nearest to the school.

Page 122

5

All distances will be measured to a central nodal point in the school premises, using
digitised mapping software of the area, from a nodal point in the applicant’s permanent
home address. If more than one applicant lives in a multi-occupancy building (e.g. flats)
priority will be given to the applicant whose door number is the lowest numerically and/or
alphabetically.
Twins, triplets and other multiple births– where twins, triplets or children from other
multiple births qualify for the last school place to be allocated Lewisham will admit all of the
qualifying siblings in excess of the published admissions limit.
Tie break - on the rare occasion where two or more identical applications qualify for the last
available place lots will be drawn to decide which qualifying child is offered the place.
When a school is over-subscribed, any vacancy which arises as a result of the withdrawal
of a successful application will be offered to the next child on the waiting list
Waiting lists - In accordance with the secondary transfer coordinated scheme t, and to
ensure Lewisham meets its duty to continue to co-ordinate admissions beyond offer date
and comply with the parents’ highest possible preference, Lewisham will ensure that waiting
lists do not contain lower ranked preferences except where it (or the home LA) has agreed
to a parental request to change the order of preferences. In such cases, where there is a
parental request to change the order of preferences, the original application, including any
offer made under co-ordination, will be withdrawn and the applicant will be required to reapply.
The pan London secondary transfer scheme continues until the end of the summer term
2022. Applications received for Year 7 beyond the end of the summer term 2022 will be
considered as In Year applications.
Waiting lists will be held for the first term of Year 7 only. Those with a continuing interest in
a place at a school beyond this time will be required to make an in year application.

Page 123

6

Appendix D
Lewisham’s determined admissions arrangements for community school’s sixth form
In the event of the school’s sixth form being over-subscribed (having more applications than
places available) places will be offered to the following:
1. A looked after child’ or a child who was previously looked after but immediately after being
looked after became subject to an adoption, child arrangements, or special guardianship order.
A looked after child is a child who is a) in the care of a local authority, or b) being provided with
accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see
definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989). Details must be supplied by the allocated
social worker or foster carer. .* it is expected that a revised School Admissions Code, expected
early in 2021, will revise the definition of a looked after child to include children who have been
adopted from care from outside of England.

2. Applicants who have an exceptional social or medical need for a place at the school,
supported by professional documentation from a hospital consultant, social worker or similar.
Decisions on these cases will be taken in consultation with the Executive Director for Children
and Young People or her delegated representative.
3. Applicants who at the time of application are on roll of Forest Hill or Sydenham schools will be
given priority at Sydenham and Forest Hill Sixth Form (SFH6).
4. Applicants who can best demonstrate their suitability for the course involved (factors taken
into account will be attendance and previous academic performance).
5. If the school is over-subscribed with applicants from the feeder schools only, priority will first
go to applicants from those schools with professionally-supported social or medical cases
(see above), and then to those who can best demonstrate their suitability for the course
involved.
6. If two identical applicants qualify for the last available place, home to school distance will be
used as a tie break. If the applicants live the exact distance from the school lots will be
taken to determine which applicant is offered the remaining place.
Any minimum standards required for entry will be published in the school’s prospectus.
Lewisham is required to publish the number of places (if any) expected to be available to students
not on roll of the feeder schools. For SFH6 it is expected that a maximum of 10 places per school
(20 in total) will be available to children attending other schools.
There will be the right of appeal against any refusal of a place at the school’s sixth form, and the
appeal will be heard in line with the provisions of the Education Act 2002.
The sixth forms will publish a closing date for receipt of applications and the date of notification of
the outcome of their applications. Late applicants will only be considered if there are places
unallocated at the time of application.

Page 124

7

Appendix E
Lewisham’s determined arrangements for In Year Admissions to Lewisham community
schools
Applications for places at a community school in a year group other than the normal year of entry
to primary (ie Class R to Year 6) and secondary school (ie Year 7 to Year 11), will be treated as an
In Year admission. Places for all year groups to a Lewisham community primary or secondary
school will be offered to children in the following order:
a)

A ‘looked after child’ or a child who was previously looked after but immediately after being
looked after became subject to an adoption, child arrangements, or special guardianship
order. A looked after child is a child who is a) in the care of a local authority, or b) being
provided with accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social services
functions (see definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989). Details must be supplied
by the allocated social worker or foster carer. .* it is expected that a revised School
Admissions Code, expected early in 2021, will revise the definition of a looked after child to
include children who have been adopted from care from outside of England.

b)

Children with severe social and medical need for that particular school and who would not
otherwise qualify for admission. The application must be supported by a letter from a
hospital consultant, social worker or similar professional setting out the reasons why the
school is the only one to meet the child’s needs.
Siblings of children already on the roll of the school.
Children who live nearest the school, the distance being measured in a straight line using
digitized mapping software to a central nodal point in the school premises.

c)
d)

All distances will be measured to a central nodal point in the school premises, using digitised
mapping software of the area, from a nodal point in the applicant’s permanent home address. If
more than one applicant lives in a multi-occupancy building (e.g. flats) priority will be given to the
applicant whose door number is the lowest numerically and/or alphabetically.
Siblings include all blood or adoptive siblings, half-siblings, foster siblings of Looked After Children
and step siblings. Siblings must all live at the same address as the child applying. Proof of the
sibling relationship may be required.

Page 125

8

Appendix F
Determined generic protocols for admitting children under the In Year Admissions
Arrangements















Parents wishing to make an In Year application to any maintained school including faith,
foundation and free schools and Academies in Lewisham that participate in the centralised
scheme should do so by completing a Lewisham iCAF. Community schools will not hold
separate waiting lists.
All schools, regardless of whether they participate in the scheme are required to inform
Lewisham of their current vacancies.
As the co-ordinating authority for in year admissions across both primary and secondary
phases Lewisham LA will decide which school or federation of schools to approach about an
individual admission. In most cases this will be at one of the schools named by the parent on
their iCAF. Where it is not possible to offer a Lewisham resident a place at the school named
and where the child is not on roll of a local school Lewisham will offer the next nearest school
to the family home with a vacancy. The parent will also be notified of their statutory right of
appeal if the preferred school(s) is (are) full.
Where the application is for a community school Lewisham will inform the parent of the school
to be offered and will determine the date the child will be added to the school’s roll. In turn
schools must arrange the admission by the date specified in the offer letter.
Where an application is made for a voluntary aided, foundation or free school or an Academy
Lewisham will refer the applicant’s details to the school who will be required to confirm within
10 school days* whether a place can be offered or not. Once a decision has been taken the
school will inform Lewisham’s Admissions and Appeals Team of the outcome and, where a
place can be offered, the Team will contact the applicant direct to inform them of this. The
Admissions Authority must inform unsuccessful applicants of their right of appeal. * It is
expected that this deadline is likely to change once the revised School Admissions Code is
issued early in 2021.
Schools must place the child on roll by the date proposed by the School Admissions and
Appeals Team.
Children transferring from one local school to another may not transfer to the new school until
the start of the following half term unless both the home school and receiving school agrees an
earlier admission date.
Federations will have an important role in apportioning admissions among the schools in their
federation.
If an admission is disputed by a school, the case must be referred to the Fair Access Panel
completing the appropriate referral form giving detailed reasons why the school should not
admit the child within 5 school days. The child’s placement will be discussed at the next Fair
Access Panel. Lewisham reserves the right to direct admission if necessary.
Details will be shared with schools termly about the numbers of admissions taking place.
There should not be a disproportionate impact on any school.

Transfers between schools
Children who request a transfer from their current school do not take priority over those who
qualify under the Fair Access or In Year Admissions arrangements as detailed above. Applicants

Page 126

9

will be referred to their home school and the parent asked to discuss their reasons for transfer with
the Headteacher. Children who are requesting a transfer due to their challenging behaviour may
require a managed move. Please refer to the Managed Moves Policy.

Page 127

10

Appendix G
Generic admissions arrangements
Lewisham local authority will continue to participate in the pan London admissions scheme
(known as The Scheme) for reception and secondary transfer admissions. Please refer to
the scheme for details of how this operates.
Reception
Timing of Admission – Lewisham will operate one point of entry for reception class. Children born
between 1 September 2017 and 31 August 2018 will be expected to accept a full time reception
place starting in September 2022.
Parents of children who permanently live in Lewisham must apply for a reception class place
(Year R) by participating in the coordinated reception scheme by making an online application by
15 January 2022.
The application period for the reception co–ordinated scheme will commence on 1 September
2021 and close on 15 January 2022.
Deferred admission to primary school - Lewisham offers early admission in reception class to
children before they reach statutory school age. Parents/carers have the option of deferring their
child’s admission to reception class to a later term eg the start of the spring or summer term.
However the child must be admitted to school during the reception year and not beyond it.
Alternatively the parent may arrange for their child to be admitted on a part time basis up to the
point they reach statutory school age. Parents may not defer their child’s admission beyond
reception year or after the beginning of the term after their child’s fifth birthday.
Children who attend a nursery class in a primary school frequently transfer to the main school;
however there is no automatic transfer and children attending the nursery are not given priority.
Parents of nursery children who permanently live in Lewisham must apply for a reception place by
participating in the coordinated reception scheme by making an online application. Applications
from parents of children on the roll of the nursery will be considered with other applicants at the
appropriate time.

Secondary Transfer
Children born between 1 September 2010 and 31 August 2011 will be expected to transfer to
secondary school in September 2022.
Parents of children who permanently live in Lewisham must apply for a secondary school place
(Year 7) by participating in the coordinated secondary transfer scheme by making an online
application by 31 October 2021.
The application period for the secondary transfer co–ordinated scheme will commence on 1
September 20210 and close on 31 October 2021.

Page 128

11

Earlier Admission: In very exceptional circumstances Lewisham will consider a request for
admission out of cohort for a younger child (ie for reception children this will be those born after 31
August 2018 and for Year 7 those born after 31 August 2011).
 The application may be supported by the child’s nursery/primary headteacher and/or an
educational psychologist confirming that the child is academically outstanding and
sufficiently physically and emotionally mature to cope with the demands of
primary/secondary school.
 The parent agrees that their child will transfer to primary/secondary school with the earlier
cohort regardless of the outcome of their applications and will not qualify to participate in
the transfer scheme the following year.
Later admission: In very exceptional circumstances Lewisham will consider a request for a
delayed admission for an older child (ie for reception this will be those born before 1 September
2017 and for Year 7 those born before 1 September 2009).



The application may be supported by the child’s nursery/primary headteacher and/or an
educational psychologist confirming that the child has learning delay or difficulty and their
social maturity is well below that of their peers.
The parent agrees that their child will transfer to primary/secondary school with the later
cohort regardless of the outcome of their applications and had not participated in the
transfer scheme the year before.

In cases described above parents must consider the implications of an earlier or later transfer as
headteachers of primary/secondary schools are not required to continue to keep the child out of
year group and may decide to later educate the child in the correct year*.
*further guidance on the admission of summer born children is expected and Lewisham will
amend its current arrangements on ‘delayed entry into primary school for summer born
children’ where necessary.
The Education and Skills Act 2008 increased the minimum age at which young people in England
can leave learning which requires them to continue in education, employment or training to the
age of 18. Children who have transferred to secondary school a year earlier than their peers will
be required to stay in full-time education, undertake work-based learning such as an
Apprenticeship, or part-time education or training if they are employed, self-employed or
volunteering for more than 20 hours per week until they are 18.

Page 129

12

Making an Application – Primary and Secondary
All applicants will be required to demonstrate that the address they are applying from is their
permanent home address and that they have parental responsibility and therefore eligible to apply
for a school place for the child. Applications from children who are transferring to reception class
or secondary school and not already on the roll of a Lewisham primary school and whose
documentation has not been previously verified must be accompanied with:


two documents confirming their address



one document confirming their child's address



one document confirming their child's date of birth.

Confirming the permanent home address
Applicants must provide one document from Section A and one document from Section B:
Section A (all documents must be current)


Council Tax statement or letter



Tenancy agreement or solicitors letter



Letter from the National Asylum Support Service (NASS) or UK Border Authority (UKBA)

Section B (all documents must be current)


TV licence



Utility bill (no more than three months old, mobile phone bills will not be accepted)



Driving licence



NHS registration card (must show the applicant's name and address)

Confirming the child's address
one of the following documents to confirm the child's name and address:


Child’s NHS registration card (must show the child's name and address)



Medical letter or prescription (no more than 12 months old)



Immigration documents (must show address)



Letter signed by 'No recourse to public fund' team (must state child and parent's name and
address)

Page 130

13



If the child is looked after, a letter signed by social services (must state the child and carer's
name and address)

Confirming the child's date of birth
one of the following documents to confirm the child's date of birth:


Identity page from a current Passport



EU national identity card



Prescription or medical letter (must have child's name and DOB printed on it)

Parents may state the reasons why they wish their child to attend a particular school, including
whether there is a sibling already attending the school.
Shared care arrangements: Lewisham is aware that some parents share the care of their child.
Lewisham will normally accept that the child lives with the parent who has parental responsibility
and where the child resides for the majority of time during term time Documentary evidence, for
example a residence order or other court order, may be required.
Permanent home address: Proof of permanent home address will be required and will include
the current Council Tax statement. In addition Lewisham may require copies of utility bills.
Lewisham is aware that some parents rent a property close to a popular school to increase the
likelihood of their child gaining admission. To establish an applicant’s permanent rather than
temporary home address the following will be required;
1
2
3a

3b

closing accounts for the last known address,
official confirmation of the end of tenancy or house sale for the last known address,
a tenancy agreement via a commercial letting agency for a period of 12 months or more.
The period of the tenancy must extend beyond the start of the academic year in which the
child is due to be admitted or
solicitor’s confirmation of the completion of the purchase of the new property.

Where the tenancy or ownership of the last known address has not been surrendered, Lewisham
will accept this last known address as the permanent home address.
In establishing permanent home address Lewisham may also check records held within the
Council as well as other external agencies. If a false address has been given and an offer made
on the basis of that information, the offer of a place may be withdrawn.
Appeals: Appeals for statutory school phases will be heard in accordance with the provisions of
the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 and the Education Act 2002, together with the
School Admissions Appeals Code. Parents will have the right of appeal to any school that has
refused their child a place. On time appeals for reception and secondary transfer phases for
community schools will be heard during the summer term prior to the child’s admission to school.
Parents who have appealed unsuccessfully for a school will not be able to apply and subsequently
appeal again for a place at the same school in the same academic year unless there are
significant and material changes to the child or family’s circumstances. Documentary proof of
such changes will be required from the appropriate professional(s) working with the family.

Page 131

14

Appendix H
DETERMINED ADMISSIONS LIMITS 2022/23 FOR MAINSTREAM COMMUNITY SCHOOLS IN
LEWISHAM
Primary Schools
Adamsrill Primary School
Ashmead Primary School
Athelney Primary School
Baring Primary School
Beecroft Gardens Primary School
Brindishe Green Primary School
Brindishe Lee Primary School
Brindishe Manor Primary School
Coopers Lane Primary School
Dalmain Primary School
Deptford Park Primary School
Downderry Primary School
Edmund Waller Primary School
Elfrida Primary School
Eliot Bank Primary School
Fairlawn Primary School
Forster Park Primary School
Gordonbrock Primary School
Grinling Gibbons Primary School
Haseltine Primary School
Holbeach Primary School
Horniman Primary School
John Ball Primary School
John Stainer Primary School
Kelvin Grove Primary School
Kender Primary School
Kilmorie Primary School
Launcelot Primary School
Lucas Vale Primary School
Marvels Lane Primary School
Myatt Garden Primary School
Perrymount Primary School
Rangefield Primary School
Rathfern Primary School
Rushey Green Primary School
Sandhurst Primary School
Sir Francis Drake Primary School
Stillness Junior School (children automatically
transfer from the Infant School)
Stillness Infant School
Torridon Primary School

Admissions Number
60
60
60
30
60
90
30
60
90
60
90
60
60
60
60
60
60
90
30
60
60
30
90
60
90
60
90
60
30
60
60
30
60
60
90
90
30
90

Page 132

90
90

15

Secondary Schools
Conisborough College

Admissions Number
180

Deptford Green School

180

Forest Hill School

180

Sydenham School

240

Page 133

16

Agenda Item 7
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for:
Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 X Part 2
Key Decision

X

X

Date of Meeting
Title of Report

10 February 2021
Highways and Traffic Works Partnering Contract

Originator of Report

Director of Public Realm

Ext. 2228

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm
that the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

X
X

No

X
X
X
X

Signed:
Cllr Sophie McGeevor, Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport
Date: 28 January 2021

Signed:
Kevin Sheehan, Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public
Realm
Date: 28 January 2021
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 134

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\0\5\7\ai00026750\$s5yc42nk.doc

Date

KEY DECISION

Mayor and Cabinet

Report title: Highways and Traffic Works Partnering Contract
Date: 10 February 2021
Key decision: Yes.
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm; Head of
Highways and Transport, Senior Lawyer, Procurement and Contracts Manager

Outline and recommendations
The report reviews the recent and ongoing Highways Maintenance & Planned Works
procurement exercise, assesses future strategic need and recommends a procurement
route to benefit the council.
The recommendations are:





To agree the strategy for highway service delivery via works contracts as set out
in this report;
To agree to cease the current Highways Maintenance & Planned Works
procurement exercise;
To agree to a one year extension of the current Highways Maintenance & Planned
Works, to March 2022, to align the end date with the Footway Maintenance Contract
and the Resurfacing Contract; and
To agree to a new procurement of a new consolidated Highways Works Partnering
Contract, for a period of 8 years, with the option to extend for a further 2 years.

Page 135

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
Formal decision on the Contract Strategy was approved by the Mayor and Cabinet in
February 2020

1.
1.1.

Summary
This report reviews the recent and ongoing Highways Maintenance & Planned Works
procurement exercise, considers the strategic needs for the council in its delivery of
highways projects and improvements with a view to other existing highways contracts.

1.2.

Consideration is given to an alternate route, halting the present exercise, extending the
present contract by one year and combining all highways contracts, for the benefit of
the council.

2.
2.1.

Recommendations
It is receommended that Mayor and Cabinet agree:
a.

To the strategy for highway service delivery via works contracts as set out in this
report;

b.

To cease the current Highways Maintenance & Planned Works procurement
exercise;

c.

To a one year extension of the current Highways Maintenance & Planned Works,
to March 2022, to align the end date with the Highways Footway works Contract
(Footway works) and the Highways Resurfacing Works Contract (Carriageway
Works) ) at a cost of £2.8 million; and

d.

To a new procurement of a new consolidated Highways Works Partnering
Contract, for a period of 8 years, with the option to extend for a further 2 years.

3.
3.1.

Policy Context
The Council, as Highway Authority, has a duty under Section 41 of the Highways Act
1980, to maintain the highway in a safe condition. The Contractor is required to assist
the Council (where applicable) to discharge its duty where possible.

3.2.

Capital and revenue investment on the public highway network is required to ensure
the Council discharges its legal duties, and traditionally external contractors assist the
Council by carrying out highway construction and repair works.

3.3.

The Council Corporate Plan (2018-22) sets out how the Council’s corporate strategy,
values, priorities and budget. The contents of this report are consistent with the
Council’s policy framework with particular relevance to the many economic,

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 136
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

environmental and social improvement that rely on a modern transport system. The
goal, objectives and outcomes for the intelligent management and delivery of the
highways’ service are aligned with the Council’s Corporate Priorities. In particular
highways services impacts on the following Priorities:




open Lewisham
making Lewisham greener building
safer communities

3.4.

Lewisham is committed to managing and maintaining its highway assets to ensure that
they are fit for purpose and able to fulfil their functions in an efficient and sustainable
manner.

3.5.

To meet its priority to secure “best value” public services the Council is required to
make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way it exercises its
functions, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

3.6.

The value of the Highways and Traffic Works Partnering Contract will be over the
threshold set out in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as amended) and therefore
is required to be openly advertised.

4.
4.1.

Background
Historically, in order to fulfil Council’s statutory duties as a highways authority, three
contracts were procured to carry out maintenance and construction works on the
boroughs highways network. Currently all the highways’ streetworks inspections are
carried out by internal staff and major highways projects are designed with the support
of an external consultant (eg Deptford Park Liveable Neighbourhoods and Sydenham
Park Footbridge span replacement).

4.2.

Highways’ maintenance and works are a critical service for the London Borough of
Lewisham, which has a direct influence on residents’ quality of life and all road users
within the borough. The three highways contracts are :




the Highways Maintenance & Planned Works (HMPW) Contract
the Footway Maintenance Contract
the Resurfacing Contract

4.3.

The end of all these contracts are March 2021, however, options to extend both the
Footway and Resurfacing contracts by a year, to March 2022, were considered and
approved by Mayor and Cabinet in January 2021.

4.4.

With no contracted extension period for the HMPW Contract, Mayor and Cabinet
agreed to re-procure this contract in February 2020, following consideration of five
service delivery options, as set out below, with an options appraisal. These were:






External Service Provision;
In-House Service Provision;
Use of TfL’s Contract;
Shared Service with other Borough; and
Wholly owned contractor.

4.5.

In summary, it was agreed that the Council continues to tender out its main highways
contractor, through a new contract via an open tender though the Official Journal of the
European Union (OJEU) process.

4.6.

This contract would cover responsive and emergency maintenance, gully cleansing,
drainage, winter service to grit roads, nonilluminated traffic signs, planned reconstruction of substantial areas of defective footways and footpaths, traffic

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 137
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

management, major highway works, resurfacing works where part of an overall
scheme and public realm highway projects. The schedule of rates can be used, if
required by the Council, for works outside of the public highway e.g. parks, car parks
and housing estates.
4.7.

The tender process was commenced and although the procurement exercise has not
been concluded, further consideration has been given to the strategic direction of the
council’s highway and traffic needs and the benefits of consolidating all three contracts,
to achieve best value.

5.
5.1.

Revised Contract Approach
Lewisham Council is a best value authority for the purposes of the Local Government
Act 1999 and as such the Council is required to make arrangements to secure
continuous improvement in the way it exercises its functions, having regard to a
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

5.2.

Since the decision in February and the commencement of the tendering exercise,
further consideration has been given to a single, combined and larger contract valuing
in the region of £6.2m per anum, which will allow for less management intervention of
smaller individual contracts and may attract keener prices.

5.3.

The annual works value for the current HMPW contract is around £2.8m a year, which
is made up approximately from £1.7m Council Revenue and the balance from TfL and
new development funded schemes. This is complemented with two separate highways
contracts; carriageway resurfacing contract and the footway works contract. Table 1
below shows the historic costs of each separate contract.
Table 1: Current Contracts
Highways Contract

Description

Historic
annual value

Highways Maintenance & Planned
Works (HMPW)

Responsive Maintenance
and Planned Works

£2.8m

Footway Works

Footway Masonry works

£750k

Resurfacing

Carriageway Works

£2.7m

5.4.

Multiple contracts covering highways maintenance and works is not a common
approach and is not typical practice across London local authorities. A single
consolidated contract will attract a wider range of interest, ensuring the council can
evaluate the best partner to engage with for these services, whilst reducing the cost of
management, though a single contractor, whilst also reducing the Council’s cost in
future when re-procuring, with only one contract instead of three. This approach will
also allow the review of the performance regime required to attain the best results,
placing the experiences of residents at its centre.

5.5.

Although the HMPW is expected to end in March 2021, officers are recommending that
this contract is extended by a further year, to March 2022. The incumbent contractor,

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 138
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

F M Conway Ltd, has been formally contacted to ascertain if this approach would be
acceptable, should the council wish to explore this approach and they have responded
favourably, under the same terms and price. The contract commenced on 1st April
2019 for 2 years with no option to extend.
5.6.

The extension of one year allows all three contracts to be co-terminus in March 2022,
and will allow a revised procurement exercise for a combined contract to be completed
in the interim.

5.7.

The newly appointed management has made an assessment into the needs of the
Council going forward, taking into condsideration a new approach to improve the
outcome and accountability of all highway projects through a single and larger
combined contract. Procuring a combined contract would make the opportunity more
attractive to the market, increasing the number of bids and competition and potentially
keener prices.

5.8.

This approach will allow a fresh review of the terms and conditions of the contract and
introduce a new partnering approach, to further strengthen collaboration, openness
and trust between the council and the contractor. Experience has shown longer term
contracts with partnering principals, of 8 years plus an option to extend for a further 2
years, improves working relationships and delivery. Certainty in work benefits te
contractor and also benefits the local authrotiy with strong and more accountable
relationships which based on mutual beneficial long term goals, using the revised Key
Performance Indicators (KPI) highlighted below. The approach encourages flexibility, in
this critical area.

5.9.

Furthermore, Lewisham will continue to take ownership and the lead in transforming its
highways, through develping a close relationship with a partner that has aligned itself
with the Council’s values. It is felt this approach is advantageous for Lewisham than
considering alternative routes, such as seeking to use external frameworks.

5.10.

As mentioned, revised KPIs will be introduced to exceed demanding standard targets,
focusing on the experiences of residents and will measure the following areas:







Customer satisfaction
Environmental performance
Health and safety records
Starting and completing works to programme
Lack of defects
Submission of invoices

5.11.

These KPIs will be monitored monthly and are designed to meet public expectations
and allow residents an ability to influence the service directly and ensures key
environmental factors are considered in the implementation of works. In addition, to
keep our promises and to start and finish on time; and to ensure highways works are
completed correctly, whilst managing council finances. The KPIs will be designed for
year on year improvement and achieve high standards and will aim to improve the
reputation of the council.

5.12.

As such, a new consolidated, combined Highways and Traffic Works Partnering
Contract, will allow the council to meet its obligations whilst improving performance and
outcomes for the residents and businesses of Lewisham and potentially reduce costs.

5.13.

It is therefore recommended to cease the current procurement exercise, extend the
HPMW contract to March 2022, and initiate a new procurement of a combined contract
as set out above, to commence April 2022.

6.
6.1.

Financial implications
The current Highways Maintenance & Planned Works contract has an annual value of
approximately £2.8m, which is currently funded through £1.7m council revenue budget

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 139
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

and the balance from TfL and new development funded schemes.
6.2.

In relation to funding for 2021/22, TfL is yet to notify the council of its funding allocation.
This is subject to the funding agreement between TfL and the Government. It is
anticipated that TfL funding will return to a more ‘business as usual’ scenario in
2021/22, with LIP funding reinstated to previous levels, but it is yet to be confirmed.

6.3.

The council revenue funding of £1.7m will be available in 2021/22 for the one year
extension. Any contract spend will be contained within available funding. There will be
no additional pressure on Council resources.

7.
7.1.

Legal implications
The Council has a statutory duty to maintain the highwways under the Higways Act
1980. The works to be carried out under this contract will provide short and long term
repairs along with any improvements that are required to maintain the borough’s
highway infrastructure.

7.2.

The report seeks approval to future delivery of Highways Works by an external
provider. Given the potential spend on this contract (at a length of 8 + 2 years) this
contract would be categorised by Contract Procedure Rules as a Category A contract.
The report sets out the options considered and explains why this is the recommended
option.

7.3.

Assuming that Mayor and Cabinet accepts the recommendation for future delivery by
an external provider, Contract Procedure Rules place requirements on how that should
happen. The Rules require that when letting contracts steps must be taken to secure
value for money through a combination of cost, quality and competition, and that
competitive tenders or quotations must be sought depending on the size and nature of
the contract (Rule 5). Given the potential spend on this contract the Public Contracts
Regulations 2015, as amended (“the Regulations”) will also apply. The requirements
of both Contract Procedure Rules and the Regulations would be satisfied by an open
tender procedure. The process for procurement and the award of the contract would
have to be in accordance with the Contract Procedure Rules. As a Category A
contract, it would be for Mayor and Cabinet to take a decision on the award of any
contract.

7.4.

The report also seeks approval to extend the current Highways and Maintenance and
Planned Works contract for 1 year without carrying out a competitive process, at a cost
of £2.8 million. The report notes that this organisation has been providing this service
since April 2019 on terms which will continue until March 2021. The proposal is to
make a change to the current contract, by extending it for a further year.

7.5.

When varying a contract the Council is obliged to comply with the Regulations. Some
variations to existing contracts may trigger a requirement to undertake a new
competitive tender process. The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules set out which
variations can be made without a new competitive process (Constitution Part IV I,
paragraph 17 of Contract Procedure Rules). This report explains why this extension to
the contract for a further year is proposed.

7.6.

Contract Procedure Rules say that where a contract variation is ‘not substantial’, the
variation can be made (paragraph 17.5). The definition of ‘substantial’ takes into
account matters including the nature and size of the proposed change relative to the
original contract, and the likely market effect of the change (including the change to the
scope and economic balance of the contract). There is a reasonable argument that the
proposed extension is not substantial. As such, the variation does not trigger a
requirement to undertake a new procurement. On that basis, therefore, the proposed
changes are allowable under the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules paragraph 17.

7.7.

Officers are recommending that the current procurement for HMPW is abandoned in

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 140
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

order to carry out a new procurement which would bring all 3 highways contracts into
one. The Invitation to Tender (ITT) that was included as part of the tneder pack for the
HMPW procurement clearly set out that the Council has the right to withdraw the ITT at
any time and to re-invite tenders on the same or an alternative basis. Further the ITT
states that the Council will not be liable for any bid costs, expenditure, work or effort
incurred by a Tenderer in proceeding with or participating in the procurement, including
if the procurement process is terminated or amended by the Council.
7.8.

The Council has a public sector equality duty (under the Equality Act 2010 (the Act)). It
covers nine protected characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage
and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual
orientation.

7.9.

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:




eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act.
advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.
foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.

7.10.

The duty is a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a matter for the
decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. It is not an
absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of
opportunity or foster good relations.

7.11.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical Guidance on the
Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes
steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does
not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so
without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the
technical guidance can be found at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-andpolicy/equality-act/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/.

7.12.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has issued guides for public
authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty. The ‘Essential’ guide provides
an overview of the equality duty requirements including the general equality duty, the
specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public authorities should do to
meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as recommended
actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on key areas and
advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available at:
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/ ]

8.
8.1.

Equalities implications
As part any tender evaluation process, tenderers will be asked to address equal
opportunities in the Method Statements which will be assessed as part of the nonfinancial criteria.

8.2.

Pedestrian and public transport users, particularly vulnerable users and people with

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 141
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

mobility impairments are affected by poorly maintained surfaces. Continuous
investment and maintenance of the highway infrastructure will improve access and
ensure residents and visitors to Lewisham can move around safely and easily.
9.
9.1.

Climate change and environmental implications
Highways’ contracts include for environmental quality assessments where contractors
need to show evidence of; recycling, minimising the environmental impact of
construction works, environmental management systems, plant and vehicles
standards. These will form part of the criteria in any tender evaluation for new
highways contracts.

9.2.

The contracts will have a range of Environmental Management requirements that
include; reduction of carbon emissions, innovative sustainable design and construction
solutions that have the potential to lower whole life carbon and whole-life cost.

9.3.

In terms of vehicles, in line with Mayoral transport and environmental strategies and
TfL’s commitments to reduce pollutant and carbon dioxide emissions, any contractor
will be required to increasingly use zero and ultra low emission vehicles in their fleet
where and when feasible.

9.4.

Contractors will be required to mirror the GLA group, London boroughs and wider
public sector support fleet aims, to achieve: i) All cars to be zero emission capable by
2025; ii) All new cars and vans (not exceeding 3,500 kg kerb weight) to be zero
emission capable from 2025; iii) All new and replacement commercial vehicles
exceeding 3,500 kg kerb weight to be fossil fuel-free from 2030.

9.5.

The use of recycled materials on the highway is extensive particularly in fill materials to
excavations and in the road structure. Many contractors recycles the vast majority of
their waste from their construction works i.e., asphalt, concrete paviours, kerbs, gully
sludge and soil. This is used to manufacture new materials i.e. asphalt, sand, granular
based fill.

9.6.

For works that are let through the HMPW contract existing materials are used or left
insitu, where possible, especially natural stone e.g. granite or yorkstone. In addition
there are contract rates for; repair systems, recycling asphalt insitu by using infrared
heaters, cycle infrastructure provision, non- illuminated and solar powered bollards.
Warm mix asphalts are included for resurfacing, and are used where viable, because
these can be laid at up to 40 degrees centigrade lower than traditional road surfacing
materials.

10.
Crime and disorder implications
10.1. There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting from this contract
strategy report.
11.
Health and wellbeing implications
11.1. Investment and maintenance of the highway infrastructure will have an indirect impact
on health as a result of the positive impact on the economic and environmental living
conditions of the borough. Providing high quality public realm, improving access for all
and delivering infrastructure for sustainable and active modes of travel will contribute to
encouraging people to walk and cycle more and will contribute to providing the positive
conditions for growth.
12.
Social Value implications
12.1. The Council has a legal requirement to consider social value when services are
commssioned and social value considerations will be a part of the future tender
evaluation process. The tenderers will be encouraged to locally employ.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 142
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

12.2.

The recommnedations included in this report will contribute to making Lewisham
greener.

13.
Background papers
13.1. Reports:
Title
Highways Contract Strategy (2021 onwards)
14.

Date
February 2020

Glossary
Term

Definition

HMPW

Highways Maintenance and Planned Works Contract

KPI’s

Key Performance Indicators

15.
Report author and contact
15.1. Zahur Khan
Director of Public Realm
zahur.khan@lewisham.gov.uk
16.
Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for Corporate Resources
16.1. Shola Ojo, Principal Accountant, Financial Services (shola.ojo@lewisham.gov.uk).
17.
Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law, Governance and HR
17.1. Mia Agnew, Senior Lawyer, Legal Services (mia.agnew@lewisham.gov.uk).

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 143
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

